6_’0\08 [e C lty City Recorder’s Office

| PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice is hereby given that the Tooele City Council will meet in a Business Meeting on Wednesday, November
1, 2023, at 7:00 p.m. The meeting will be held in the Tooele City Hall Council Chambers, located at 90 North
Main Street, Tooele, Utah. The complete public notice is posted on the Utah Public Notice Website
www.utah.gov, the Tooele City Website www.tooelecity.org, and at Tooele City Hall. To request a copy of the
public notice or for additional inquiries please contact Michelle Pitt, City Recorder at (435)843-2111 or
michellep@tooelecity.org

We encourage you to join the City Council meeting electronically by visiting the Tooele City YouTube
Channel, at https://www.youtube.com/@tooelecity or by going to YouTube.com and searching “Tooele City
Channel”. If you are attending electronically and would like to submit a comment for the public comment
period or for a public hearing item, please email cmpubliccomment@tooelecity.org anytime up until the start of
the meeting. Emails will be read at the designated points in the meeting.

AGENDA

=

Pledge of Allegiance

2. Roll Call

3. Mayor’s Youth Recognition Awards
4. Public Comment Period

5. Resolution 2023-92 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Making Technical Amendments to the
Policy Allowing Payment of a Fee in Lieu of Water Rights Conveyance
Presented by Roger Baker, City Attorney

6. Resolution 2023-93 A Resolution of the City Council of Tooele City, Utah (the “City”)
Authorizing and Approving the Execution and Delivery of a Master Lease Agreement, By
and Between the City and the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the
“Authority”); Authorizing the Issuance and Sale By the Authority of Not More Than
$8,500,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series
2023 Bonds”); Authorizing the Execution By the Authority of a Master Resolution, Ground
Lease, Security Documents, and Other Documents Necessary for the Issuance of the Bonds;
Authorizing the Taking of All Other Actions Necessary for the Consummation of the
Transactions  Contemplated By This Resolution; and Related Matters

Presented by Shannon Wimmer, Finance Director

7. Resolution 2023-94 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Approving an Agreement with
Broken Arrow Construction for Fire Suppression System Work at the Parks and Cemetery
Building

Presented by Darwin Cook, Parks and Recreation Director

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
435-843-2113 | 435-843-2119 (fax) | www.tooelecity.org


http://www.tooelecity.org/
http://www.utah.gov/
http://www.tooelecity.org/
https://www.youtube.com/@tooelecity
mailto:cmpubliccomment@tooelecity.org

@)e [e C lty City Recorder’s Office

8. Resolution 2023-95 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Approving an Agreement with SKM
for SCADA System Installation at the Water Reclamation Facility Headworks Building
Presented by Paul Hansen, City Engineer

9. Invoices & Purchase Orders
Presented by Michelle Pitt, City Recorder

10. Minutes

11. Adjourn

Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder

Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals needing special accommodations should notify
Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder, at 435-843-2111 or michellep@tooelecity.org, prior to the meeting.

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
435-843-2113 | 435-843-2119 (fax) | www.tooelecity.org


http://www.tooelecity.org/
mailto:michellep@tooelecity.org

TOOELE CITY CORPORATION
RESOLUTION 2023-92

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL MAKING TECHNICAL
AMENDMENTS TO THE POLICY ALLOWING PAYMENT OF A FEE IN LIEU OF
WATER RIGHTS CONVEYANCE.

WHEREAS, Tooele City Code Chapter 7-26 governs the exaction by Tooele City
of water rights as a condition of land use approval (see also UCA 10-9a-508); and,

WHEREAS, TCC Section 7-26-2(2) empowers the City Council to adopt a
legislative policy allowing for the payment of a fee in lieu of water rights conveyance:
“Fee-in-lieu. Pursuant to established City Council policy, in lieu of actual conveyance of
water rights pursuant to this Chapter, certain development applicants may pay to the City
an amount per acre-foot for access to water rights controlled by the City in a quantity
necessary to satisfy the anticipated future water needs of the proposed development to
be served and supplied by the City water system”; and,

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted the referenced fee-in-lieu policy in 2007, and
revised the policy in 2008; and,

WHEREAS, on April 1, 2015, the City Council passed Resolution 2015-17,
adopting an amended fee-in-lieu policy; and,

WHEREAS, on May 18, 2022, the City Council approved Resolution 2022-29,
amending the fee-in-lieu policy and establishing the price per municipal acre-foot at
$35,000; and,

WHEREAS, on May 17, 2023, the City Council approved Resolution 2023-23,
substantially amending the fee-in-lieu policy; and,

WHEREAS, the City Administration recommends additional minor amendments for
clarification regarding application of the Policy to parcels of record:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL that
the 2023 Policy is hereby amended as shown in Exhibit A, attached hereto and
incorporated herein.

This Resolution is necessary for the immediate preservation of the peace, health,
safety, and welfare of Tooele City and shall become effective upon passage, without
further publication, by authority of the Tooele City Charter.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution is passed by the Tooele City Council this
day of , 2023.




TOOELE CITY COUNCIL

(For) (Against)
ABSTAINING:

TOOELE CITY MAYOR
(Approved) (Disapproved)
ATTEST:

Michelle Y. Pitt, City Recorder

SEAL

Approved as to Form:

Roger Evans Baker, Tooele City Attorney



Exhibit A

Amended 2023 Policy



T ooe[e City P i

Est. 1853

City Council Policy
RE: Payment of a Fee In Lieu Of Water Rights Conveyance under Tooele City Code 87-26-3(2).
| Effective Date: November 1, May-17/-2023

Tooele City Code Chapter 7-26 requires the conveyance of water rights as a condition of approval
of all land use applications. Section 7-26-3(2) states the following:

Fee-in-lieu. Pursuant to established City Council policy, in lieu of actual
conveyance of water rights pursuant to this Chapter, certain development
applicants may pay to the City an amount per acre-foot for access to water rights
controlled by the City in a quantity necessary to satisfy the anticipated future
water needs of the proposed development to be served and supplied by the City
water system.

This City Council Policy is established pursuant to the legislative authority embodied in §7-26-
3(2).

Residential Development. Beginning on the Effective Date, Tooele City will allow the owner(s) of
an_existing single-family parcels of record that, as of the Effective Date, is are-not part of a
recorded subdivision, and the owner(s) of a single-family lots subdivided from-these—existing
pareels-through a two-lot subdivisions (e.g., a lot split), to pay a fee (the “Fee”) perfor the parcel
or lot in lieu of the residential water right requirement established in TCC §7-26-2(1). The
administrative departments are authorized to determine eligibility and to approve payment of

| the Fee for a single-parcel/single-lot residential development. The item for which the Fee is paid
shall be known for purposes of this Policy as a Water Rights Credit or Credit.

Persons who are eligible under this Policy may purchase Credits by paying the Fee. Credits will
be purchased on a first-come first-served basis. The Fee shall be paid in full prior to building
permit issuance. Should a building permit for which the Fee was paid expire under the terms of
the permit, the City will refund the Fee, minus a $100 administrative service charge. A person
who previously paid the Fee and received a Fee refund due to an expired building permit may
submit a new building permit application and may again request to pay the Fee on a first-come
first-served basis behind others who paid the Fee and whose building permits remain valid.

Non-residential Development. Beginning on the Effective Date, Tooele City will allow owners of
a non-residential development project (“Project”) to request to pay the Fee if the Project is
determined by the City to need less than 20 acre-feet of municipal water rights. Additional
Credits may be made available, upon recommendation of the Public Works Director and
Economic Development Director, and with written approval of the Mayor. A Request shall be in

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
Ph: 435-843-2104 | Fax: 435-843-2109 | www.tooelecity.org



http://www.tooelecity.org/

\ ’ City C il
TO 0 e [‘e Cl ty Justin IB.l;avdy, gwl:i?nf;n

Est. 1853

writing from the property owner or agent and addressed to the City Council or Mayor. Approval
of a request may be granted only after full consideration of the following criteria in relation to
the amount of water used for the Project:

. The number of jobs the Project is anticipated to create, together with the nature of the
jobs (e.g., full-time) and job compensation (e.g., wage levels, benefits).

. The amount of sales tax the Project is anticipated to generate.

. The amount of property tax the Project is anticipated to generate.

. The anticipated environmental and social benefits and impacts of the Project.

The Council may consider additional criteria as it thinks appropriate. Persons who are eligible
under this Policy and approved by the City Council may purchase Credits by paying the Fee.
Credits will be purchased on a first-come first-served basis. The Fee shall be paid in full prior to
building permit issuance. Should a building permit for which the Fee was paid expire under the
terms of the permit, the City will refund the Fee, minus a $100 administrative service charge. A
person who previously paid the Fee and received a Fee refund due to an expired building permit,
or due to the approval sunsetting, may submit a new building permit application and may again
request to pay the Fee. If authorized by the City Council, the Credits may be purchased on a first-
come first-served basis behind others who paid the Fee and whose building permits remain valid.
The City Council may partially approve a request, for example, by authorizing 10 Credits out of
20 Credits requested.

Sunset for Non-residential Projects.

The City Council’s authorization to pay the Fee for one or more buildings in a non-residential
development Project containing more than one primary structure (e.g., more than one restaurant
or store) is conditioned upon the Project obtaining City approval of a building permit for a first
primary structure in the Project, and commencing vertical construction of the permitted
structure, within two years of the date of approval of the Resolution authorizing payment of the
Fee. Thereafter, the Project shall obtain a building permit for at least one additional primary
structure, and commence vertical construction, within each successive twelve months following
the commencement of construction of the prior building. By way of example, if a Resolution is
approved on January 1, 2024, a first building permit must be obtained, and vertical construction
commenced, prior to December 31, 2025; the next building must be permitted and construction
commenced prior to December 31, 2026; and so on. Should any of these events not occur before
the applicable sunset date, the City Council approval shall lapse and the remaining Credits shall
revert to the City. The City Council, in its sole discretion, may extend these sunset deadlines or
modify these conditions in a public meeting.

General.

1. Fee Cost. The Fee shall be established at $35,000 per 1.0 acre-foot of depletion of municipal
water rights. This Fee amount is not intended or calculated to reflect market value. The Fee
applicable to any Request shall be the Fee in effect on the date of the Request, provided the

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
Ph: 435-843-2104 | Fax: 435-843-2109 | www.tooelecity.org



http://www.tooelecity.org/

\ ’ City C il
TO 0 e [‘e Cl ty Justin IB.l;avdy, gwl:i?nf;n

Est. 1853

building permit application for which the Fee is paid is filed with the City within one year of
the Request, and otherwise shall be the Fee in effect on the date of the building permit
application.

2. Annual Limit. The number of Credits purchased pursuant to this Policy shall not exceed a
total of 50 in any calendar year or in any period of 12 consecutive months without the
approval of the City Council, in its discretion.

3. Acceptance of Credits. Upon payment of the Fee, the City will indicate the payment on the
approved building permit. Payment of the Fee to the City constitutes surrender of the Credits
to the City. No Credit certificate is required.

4. Integration. This Policy shall supersede any prior oral or written policies, practices, and
understandings on the subject of this Policy.

5. Use of Revenues. Revenues derived from payment of the Fee shall be utilized for the
protection of existing water rights and/or the acquisition of additional water rights, except
that the City Council may authorize the use of the revenues for other Tooele City water-
related projects and needs upon a finding of good cause. The water rights revenue fund is a
fund in the City’s General Fund and is not an enterprise fund.

6. Limited Availability. The payment of the Fee under this Policy is subject to the availability of
corresponding water rights, in the sole discretion of Tooele City.

7. Resolution Required. The City Council’s authorization to pay the Fee for a non-residential
Project shall be pursuant to approved City Council Resolution.

8. No Entitlement or Security. Approval of a Resolution for a Project containing multiple lots or
buildings (e.g., subdivision, site plan) shall be a temporary reservation of Credits for the
Project’s building permit applicants. Approval of a Resolution shall not constitute a vested
development right or a land use entitlement, or the creation of a marketable security. The
City will accept the Fee only from building owners, the authorized agents of building owners,
or building permit applicants for buildings in a Project.

9. No Assignment or Transfer. Credits shall not be assignable or transferrable but are reserved
by the City in the City’s sole discretion for specific Projects and sold for specific buildings.

10. No Pre-payment. Project owners may not pre-purchase Credits for their Project or any
Project building in advance of building permit application.

11. No Precedent. City Council authorization to pay the Fee for one Project, at whatever Fee
amount per Credit, shall not be considered a precedent in any way in reference to any other
Project.

12. Refunds. If water usage projection for a building are reduced by the City after payment of
the Fee for that building, the City will reimburse the difference between the Fee paid and the
Fee that would have been paid under the reduced usage projection. If a Fee payor withdraws
a building permit application prior to its approval, the City will reimburse the Fee, with a $100
administrative charge.

City Council Chair

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
Ph: 435-843-2104 | Fax: 435-843-2109 | www.tooelecity.org



http://www.tooelecity.org/

Tooele City, Utah
November 1, 2023
The City Council (“City Council”) of Tooele City, Utah (the “City”), met in regular

public session on November 1, 2023, at City Hall, 90 North Main Street, Tooele City, Utah
at 7:00 p.m. with the following members of the Council present:

Justin Brady Chair

Ed Hansen Vice Chair
Tony Graf Councilmember
Maresa Manzione Councilmember
Dave McCall Councilmember

Also present:

Michelle Pitt City Recorder
Shannon Wimmer City Finance Director
Debbie Winn Mayor

Absent:

After the meeting had been duly called to order and after other matters not pertinent
to this Resolution had been discussed, a Certificate of Compliance with Open Meeting Law
with respect to this November 1, 2023, meeting was presented to the Council, a copy of
which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

The following resolution was then introduced in writing, was fully discussed, and

pursuant to a motion duly made by Councilmember and seconded by
Councilmember adopted by the following vote:

AYE:

NAY:

The resolution was then signed by the Mayor in open meeting and recorded by the
City Recorder in the official records of Tooele City, Utah. The resolution is as follows:



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-93

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH
(THE “CITY”) AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE EXECUTION
AND DELIVERY OF A MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT, BY AND
BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING
AUTHORITY OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH (THE “AUTHORITY™);
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE BY THE AUTHORITY
OF NOT MORE THAN $8,500,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT OF LEASE REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023 (THE “SERIES
2023 BONDS”), AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION BY THE
AUTHORITY OF A MASTER RESOLUTION, GROUND LEASE,
SECURITY DOCUMENTS, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS NECESSARY
FOR THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS; AUTHORIZING THE TAKING
OF ALL OTHER ACTIONS NECESSARY FOR THE
CONSUMMATION OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY
THIS RESOLUTION; AND RELATED MATTERS.

WHEREAS, Tooele City, Utah (the “City™) is a political subdivision and body
politic duly organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah;
and

WHEREAS, the City Council (the “Council”) of the City has previously authorized
and directed the creation of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the
“Authority™); and

WHEREAS, under the Articles of Incorporation of the Authority (the “Articles™),
the objects and purposes for which the Authority has been founded and incorporated
include to acquire, improve or extend one or more projects and to finance their costs on
behalf of the City in accordance with the procedures and subject to the limitations of the
Act (defined below) in order to accomplish the public purposes for which the City exists;
and

WHEREAS. pursuant to the provisions of the Local Building Authority Act, Title
17D, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1959, as amended, and the Local Government
Bonding Act, Title 11, Chapter 14, Utah Code Annotated, as amended (collectively, the
“Act”), the Board of Trustees (the “Governing Board™) of the Authority has the power to
issue its Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series 2023 Bonds™) (to be issued in one
or more series and with such other series or title designation(s) as may be determined by
the Authority) for the purpose of (a) financing the construction of a fire station and all
related improvements (the “Series 2023 Project™) and (b) paying costs of issuance of the
Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS. there has been presented to the Council at this meeting the form of (a)
a Master Resolution (the “Master Resolution™), (b) a Master Lease Agreement (the “Master
Lease™) (¢) a Ground Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease™), (d) a Leasehold Deed of
Trust and Assignment of Rents (the “Deed of Trust™) and (e¢) an Assignment of Ground

4894-9385-2552, v. 3



Lease Agreement (the “Assignment” and together with the Deed of Trust, the “Security
Documents™); and

WHEREAS, the Authority by its Resolution dated the date hereof (the “Authority
Resolution”) has or is expected to authorize, approve and direct the execution of the Master
Resolution, Master Lease, Ground Lease and Security Documents and to authorize the
issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the financing of the Series 2023 Project; and

WHEREAS, under the Articles, the Authority may not exercise any of its powers
without prior authorization by the Council and, therefore, it is necessary that the Council
authorize certain actions by the Authority in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby in connection with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Council the Master Lease, the Master
Resolution, the Ground Lease, and the Security Documents for the purpose of obtaining
the approval and authorization of the Council of the terms and provisions thereof and for
the purpose of confirming the execution thereof (where required) as the official act of the
Council.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved by the City Council of Tooele City,
Utah, as follows:

Section 1. The Council hereby finds and determines that it is in the best
interests of the City and its residents to authorize the issuance by the Authority of not more
than Eight Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($8,500,000) aggregate principal
amount of the Authority’s Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (to be issued in one or more
series and with such other series or title designation(s) as may be determined by the
Authority), to bear interest at a rate of not to exceed four percent (4.00%) per annum, to
mature in not more than thirty-two (32) years from their date or dates, and to be sold at a
price not less than oner-hundred percent (100%) of the total principal amount thereof for
the purpose of (a) financing the Series 2023 Project and (b) paying costs of issuance, all
pursuant to this resolution (this “Resolution™), the Master Resolution to be entered into at
the time of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit B, the Master Lease substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, the
Security Documents substantially in the forms attached hereto as Exhibit D, and the
Ground Lease substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.

Section 2. The Council hereby authorizes the financing of the Series 2023
Project and the delegation by the Authority to certain officers of the Authority the ability
to set the final terms of the Series 2023 Bonds within the parameters established by the
Authority in the Authority Resolution.

Section 3. The Council hereby authorizes and approves the leasing of the
Series 2023 Project by the Authority to the City in the manner provided in the Master
Lease.

Section 4. The Master Resolution, the Master Lease, the Security Documents
and the Ground Lease are hereby authorized, approved, and confirmed. The Mayor or

4894-9385-2552, v. 3



Mayor pro tem and the City Recorder of the City are hereby authorized to execute and
deliver the Master Lease, Ground Lease and Security Documents, in substantially the same
forms and with substantially the same content as the forms presented at this meeting and
attached hereto as exhibits for and on behalf of the City with final terms as may be
established for the Series 2023 Bonds by the Authority and with such alterations, changes
or additions as may be necessary or as may be authorized by Section 5 hereof. When
authorized by the Governing Body of the Authority, the City hereby approves and
authorizes the execution and delivery by the Authority of the Master Resolution, the Master
Lease, the Security Documents and the Ground Lease, in substantially the same form and
with substantially the same content as the forms presented at this meeting for and on behalf
of the Authority with final terms as may be established for the Series 2023 Bonds by the
Authority and with such alterations, changes or additions as may be necessary or as may
be authorized by Section 6 hereof.

Section 5. The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem, City Finance Director, or other
appropriate officials of the City are hereby authorized to make any alterations, changes or
additions to the Master Lease or any other document herein authorized and approved which
may be necessary to conform the same to the final terms of the Series 2023 Bonds (within
the parameters set by this Resolution), to correct errors or omissions therein, to complete
the same, to remove ambiguities therefrom, or to conform the same to other provisions of
said instruments, to the provisions of this Resolution or any resolution adopted by the
Council or to the provisions of the laws of the State of Utah or the United States.

Section 6. The Chair or Vice Chair, City Finance Director or other appropriate
officials of the Authority are hereby authorized to make any alterations, changes or
additions to the Master Resolution, the Master Lease, the Security Documents, the Ground
Lease, the Series 2023 Bonds, or any other document herein authorized and approved
which may be necessary to conform the same to the final terms of the Series 2023 Bonds
(within the parameters set by this Resolution), to correct errors or omissions therein, to
complete the same, to remove ambiguities therefrom, or to conform the same to other
provisions of said instruments, to the provisions of this Resolution, the Authority
Resolution or any resolution adopted by the Authority or to the provisions of the laws of
the State of Utah or the United States.

Section 7. The form, terms, and provisions of the Series 2023 Bonds and the
provisions for the signatures, authentication, payment, registration, transfer, exchange,
redemption, and number shall be as set forth in the Master Resolution. The Chair or Vice
Chair and Secretary of the Authority are hereby authorized to execute and seal the Series
2023 Bonds and to deliver said Series 2023 Bonds to the State of Utah Permanent
Community Impact Fund Board, as purchaser of the Series 2023 Bonds (the “Purchaser”).
The signatures of the Chair or Vice Chair and the Secretary may be by facsimile or manual
execution.

Section 8. Upon their issuance, the Series 2023 Bonds will constitute special
limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from and to the extent of the sources set
forth in the Series 2023 Bonds and the Master Resolution. No provision of this Resolution,
the Master Resolution, the Master Lease, the Security Documents, the Ground Lease, the

4894-9385-2552, v. 3



Series 2023 Bonds, or any other instrument, shall be construed as creating a general
obligation of the Authority, or of creating a general obligation of the City, the State of Utah
or any political subdivision thereof, or as incurring or creating a charge upon the general
credit of the City or its taxing powers. The obligation of the City to pay any rentals and
the obligation of the Authority to pay the Series 2023 Bonds will not constitute a general
obligation or a debt of the City, the State of Utah or any political subdivision of the State
of Utah. The Series 2023 Bonds are not an indebtedness or a liability of the City or the
State of Utah. The Authority has no taxing power.

Section 9. The Chair or Vice Chair or other appropriate officials of the
Authority and the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem or other appropriate officials of the City, and
each of them, are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver for and on behalf
of the Authority and the City, respectively, any or all additional certificates, documents
and other papers (including, but not limited to, a subleases, tax compliance procedures and
security documents related to the Series 2023 Project) and to perform all other acts they
may deem necessary or appropriate in order to implement and carry out the matters
authorized in this Resolution and the documents authorized and approved herein.

Section 10.  After the Series 2023 Bonds are delivered to the Purchaser, and upon
receipt of payment therefor, this Resolution shall be and remain irrepealable until the Series
2023 Bonds are deemed to have been duly discharged in accordance with the terms and
provisions of the Master Resolution.

Section 11.  The Council hereby expresses its intent that funds of the City or the
Authority may be advanced for Series 2023 Project costs and that the Council intends to
reimburse such costs from proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds.

Section 12.  All resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent
of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect
immediately upon its approval and adoption.

4894-9385-2552, v. 3



PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH, THIS
NOVEMBER 1, 2023.

(SEAL)

Mayor

ATTEST AND COUNTERSIGN:

By:

City Recorder

4894-0385-2552, v. 3



(Other business not pertinent to the foregoing appears in the minutes of the
meeting.)

Upon the conclusion of all business on the Agenda, the meeting was adjourned.

(SEAL)

Mayor

ATTEST:

City Recorder

4894-9385-2552, v. 3



STATE OF UTAH )
. SS.
COUNTY OF TOOELE )

[, Michelle Pitt, the duly appointed and qualified City Recorder of Tooele City,
Utah (the “City™) do hereby certify according to the records of the City Council of the City
in my official possession that a resolution (the “Resolution™) adopted at said meeting and
the Resolution is officially of record in my possession. [ further certify that the Resolution
was deposited in my office on November 1, 2023.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my signature and impressed
hereon the official seal of said City, this November 1, 2023.

City Recorder

(SEAL)

4894-9385-2552, v. 3



EXHIBIT A

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH
OPEN MEETING LAW

I, Michelle Pitt, the undersigned City Recorder of Tooele City, Utah (the “City™)
do hereby certify, according to the records of the City in my official possession, and upon
my own knowledge and belief, that in accordance with the requirements of Section 52-4-
202, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, I gave not less than twenty-four (24) hours
public notice of the agenda, date, time and place of the November 1, 2023, public meeting
held by the City Council as follows:

(a) By causing a Notice, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 1, to be posted
at the meeting location at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the convening of the meeting,
said Notice having continuously remained so posted and available for public inspection
until the completion of the meeting;

(b) By causing a Notice, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 1, to be posted
to the Utah Public Notice Website (http://pmn.utah.gov) at least twenty-four (24) hours
prior to the convening of the meeting; and

(c) By causing a Notice, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 1, to be posted
on the City’s official website at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the convening of the
meeting.

In addition, the Notice of 2023 Annual Meeting Schedule for the City Council
(attached hereto as Schedule 2) was given specifying the date, time and place of the regular
meetings of the City Council to be held during the year, by causing said Notice to be (i)
posted on , 2023, at the principal office of the City, (ii) posted on the Utah
Public Notice Website (http://pmn.utah.gov) during the current calendar year and (ii)
posted in a public location within the City that is reasonably likely to be seen by residents
of the City.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my official signature this
November 1, 2023.

City Recorder

(SEAL)



SCHEDULE 1

NOTICE OF MEETING

A-2
4894-9385-2552, v. 3



TOOQ [e @ City Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice is hereby given that the Tooele City Council will meet in a Business Meeting on Wednesday, November
1, 2023, at 7:00 p.m. The meeting will be held in the Tooele City Hall Council Chambers, located at 90 North
Main Street, Tooele, Utah. The complete public notice is posted on the Utah Public Notice Website
www.utah.gov, the Tooele City Website www.tooelecity.org, and at Tooele City Hall. To request a copy of the
public notice or for additional inquiries please contact Michelle Pitt, City Recorder at (435)843-2111 or
michellep@tooelecity.org

We encourage you to join the City Council meeting electronically by visiting the Tooele City YouTube
Channel, at https://www.youtube.com/@tooelecity or by going to YouTube.com and searching “Tooele City
Channel”. If you are attending electronically and would like to submit a comment for the public comment
period or for a public hearing item, please email cmpubliccomment@tooelecity.org anytime up until the start of
the meeting. Emails will be read at the designated points in the meeting.

AGENDA
1. Pledge of Allegiance
2. Roll Call
3. Mayor’s Youth Recognition Awards
4. Public Comment Period

5. Resolution 2023-92 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Making Technical Amendments to the
Policy Allowing Payment of a Fee in Lieu of Water Rights Conveyance
Presented by Roger Baker, City Attorney

6. Resolution 2023-93 A Resolution of the City Council of Tooele City, Utah (the “City”)
Authorizing and Approving the Execution and Delivery of a Master Lease Agreement, By
and Between the City and the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the
“Authority”); Authorizing the Issuance and Sale By the Authority of Not More Than
$8,500,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series
2023 Bonds”); Authorizing the Execution By the Authority of a Master Resolution, Ground
Lease, Security Documents, and Other Documents Necessary for the Issuance of the Bonds;
Authorizing the Taking of All Other Actions Necessary for the Consummation of the
Transactions  Contemplated By  This Resolution; and  Related Matters

Presented by Shannon Wimmer, Finance Director

7. Resolution 2023-94 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Approving an Agreement with
Broken Arrow Construction for Fire Suppression System Work at the Parks and Cemetery
Building

Presented by Darwin Cook, Parks and Recreation Director

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
435-843-2113 | 435-843-2119 (fax) | www.tooelecity.org



TOOB [e C?\ City Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853 y

8. Resolution 2023-95 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Approving an Agreement with SKM
for SCADA System Installation at the Water Reclamation Facility Headworks Building
Presented by Paul Hansen, City Engineer

9. Invoices & Purchase Orders
Presented by Michelle Pitt, City Recorder

10. Minutes

11. Adjourn

Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder

Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act, individuals needing special accommodations should notify
Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder, at 435-843-2111 or michellep(@tooelecity.org, prior to the meeting.

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
435-843-2113 | 435-843-2119 (fax) | www.tooelecity.org



SCHEDULE 2

ANNUAL MEETING SCHEDULE

A-3
4894-9385-2552, v. 3



TOOELE CITY CORPORATION
ORDINANCE 2022-45

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL ESTABLISHING THE DATES,
TIMES, AND PLACES OF ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS IN 2023

WHEREAS, Tooele City Charter Section 2-04 and Tooele City Code Section 1-5-
3 require the City Council to prescribe by ordinance the date, time, and place of its public
meetings, and provide for at least one public meeting to be held each month;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL that
the Tooele City Council's regular public meetings for calendar year 2023 shall be held at
Tooele City Hall, 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah as follows:

o Work Meetings: at 5:30 p.m. on the first and third Wednesdays of every month, as
follows, except as otherwise noticed by the City Recorder's Office;

e Business Meetings: at 7:00 p.m., on the first and third Wednesdays of every month,
as follows, except as otherwise noticed by the City Recorder’s Office:

January 4 and 18
February 1 and 15
March 1 and 15
April 5 and 19

May 3 and 17

June 7 and 21

July 5 and 19
August 2 and 16
September 6 and 20
October 4 and 18
November 1 and 15
December 6 and 20

This Ordinance is necessary for the immediate preservation of the peace, health
and safety of Tooele City and shall take effect immediately upon publication.

_ IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Ordinance is passed by the Tooele City Council this
l\sk day ofg),;; a LU , 2027,
u/



TOOELE CITY COUNCIL
(For) (Against)

NE

Nelle B
//%z Gl

Ex o

ABSTAINING:
MAYOR OF TOOELE CITY
(Approved)
(Disapproved)
Debra E. Winn | Debra E. Winn
ATTEST:

km,i(‘l\ Lo :%m
&/ ichelle Y. Pitt, Cft ecorder

S E N
Tooe

Approved as to Form:

fei-t\y

51, 1853

Roge aker, Tooele City Attorney



EXHIBIT B

FORM OF MASTER RESOLUTION

B-1
4894-9385-2552, v. 3



MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

MASTER RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE
ISSUANCE AND SALE OF
$8,500,000
LEASE REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023

Dated as of December 1, 2023



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITTIONS ..ottt eeeeee et e e e st s e e esesssssesessssnsessessssnnesesssaas 3
ARTICLE II THE SERIES 2023 BONDIS ..o oo eieeeioeeeeee oo 6
Section 2.1.  Authorized Amount 0f BondS........vveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeiseeeesnens 6
Section 2.2.  Issuance of Series 2023 BONdS ..oeveevieeeeeeeeeeeeeesseseeeessessesseeeensions 6

Section 6.4.

ARTICLE III EXECUTION, AUTHENTICATION, DELIVERY, EXCHANGE AND

REGISTRATION OF SERIES 2023 BONDS .ovcceumsmmimsss 8
Section 3.1.  Execution; Limited Obligation .........ccc.cooeeeiieieciiecees e 8
Section 3.2.  AUthentiCation........cccveeeiiiiieciieiei e 9
Section 3.3.  Delivery of Series 2023 BONAS ......ceeuiveiueeeeieeeeiiieeeiceeeeee e 9
Section 3.4.  Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Bonds...........cccveeeerveuennee... 9
Section 3.5.  Exchange of State Bonds to Exchange Bonds ..........c.ccccoevvene... 10
Section 3.6.  Registration ProviSions ......c.ccceeeiueeeiiiiiciiecs e 10
Section 3.7.  Destruction of Bond.........ccoecieviiiiiiiiiiccccecceees e 11
Section 3.8.  Temporary Bonds..........ccocvovvueiveeeiiceeieiie s 11
Section 3.9.  Issuance of Refunding Bonds .........c.ccoeevveveeeieviceiiciicciciecenn 12
Sechion 3.10.. Additiond] Bonuds,.wsmmssssrsivensmmmsiss s oasissi s 12
ARTICLE IV REDEMPTION OF BOND BEFORE MATURITY .....cocooveiiiivnicrernenenn. 15
Section 4.1. Redemption Dates and Prices ........ccocooveeeeiiieeiieieecs e, 15
Section 4.2.  Notice of Redemption .........cccecveeiiciiciiiieciceceece e 16
Section 4.3.  Redemption Payments ...........cccoeevivieeiviiicciees e 17
Sectiondd. Cancellation w....isnsnmssrmmammm s anassssisesssssasansss L7
Section4.5. Partial Redemption of Bond....cassmasmmnsnmnsmansiss 17
ARTICLE V' GENERAL COVENANTS .....commssmmmammervnssmm s 18
Section 5.1.  Payment of Principal and Tnterest............cccvveevevreveeeervcveieieeenane. 18
Section 5.2.  Performance of Covenants; the Authority ............ccevvieveeieennnnn. 18
Section 5.3.  Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance.............ccccceveueuee... 18
Section 5.4.  Perfection of Security INterest .........cooecevvvveeieieeeieiieceeeceeenenn 19
Section' 8.5, Inspection of Project Books wuswsssamwanmmnssss s 19
Sechon g6, Lt BabdhGlders. unmmmmmmasssmmoum TS 19
Section 5.7.  Rights under Master Lease and the Security Documents............... 19
Section 5.8.  Designation of the Secretary as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent
and Designation of Any Additional Paying Agents...................... 19
Seetion 5.9  Filing of Reoorts vk s i it s 20
ARTICLE VI REVENUBS AN FUNDIS i b s b st mmssnssans 21
Section 6.1. Source ofPayment 6f Bond .........awammmmsmsmsmsmain 21
Section 6.2.  Creation of Bond Fund.........ccooooiiiiiiiiiiiie e, 21
Section 6.3.  Payments into Bond Fund...............cccocoovieiiiiiiiicncccecceeceee, 21

Use of Moneys in Bond Fund............ccooveoeiiieiieeciicece e, 22



Section 6.5.  Custody of Bond Fund. ..........ccoooviiiiioiiiieiceccece e 22
Section 6.6, Creation of Reserve FUnd, s 22
Section 6.7.  Deposit to and Use of Moneys in the Reserve Fund...................... 22
Section 6.8.  Deposit of Series 2023 Bonds Proceeds; Disbursements. ............. 23
Section 6.9.  Non-presentment of Series 2023 Bond. ......cccecevvevevivvevevereeenane. 23
Section 6.10. Repayment to the City from Bond Fund or Reserve Fund. ........... 23
Section 6.11. Custody of Separate Trust Fund. ........cccocevveieeciiieceiiicreeccve, 23
ARTICLE V1L INVESTMENT OF MONEY Buusususcsmnsnnnassminseissesmenss 24
Section 7.1. Authority to Tnvest FUnds. .o 24
Section 7.2.  Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation. ....................... 24
ARTICLE VIII RIGHTS OF THE CITY oottt e e 24
Section 8.1.  Subordination of Rights to City. ......ccceoeeiiiiiiiieeee e, 24
Section 8.2.  Granting of Rights in and to the Project. .......cccvvvvvvevvivieviiricennen, 24
Section 8.3.  Release of Equipment Forming a Part of the Project..................... 24
ARTICGEE DXDISCHARGE OF LIEN wonsmamammnmmsasniss s 25
ARTICLE X DEFAULT PROVIBIONS AND REMEDIES .:iuissisissssnsissuiscinsssasssissasosos 27
Bection:10.1.. "Ewents ef Default, «.orwamimamammssmsmmpmsemenmavesim 27
Section 10.2. Acceleration, Limitation on Remedies. ......cccccoveeeviereeeeereieeenennn. 28
Section 10.3. Surrender of Possession of Project; Rights and Duties of Authority
111, POBBESBION L vi saiisissinssmssssmunmamamnmansasssnsassssnteamtassas pamossssssnasmemmmsmsnns 28
Section 10.4. Other Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. .........ccccovceiiieieneisiinnenne. 29
Section 10.5. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. ........ccccveeveveureveennne. 29
Section 10.6. Appointment of RECEIVELS. ...oovviiviiiiiciiiicceececie e 30
Section 10.7. WEaLVET.....cocecieriiirieieeie ettt eaeens 30
Section 10.8. Application of MONEYS. ....ccccoveeiiiiiieierecece e 30
Seetion 109: Bemedion VoSt smimsimmmmeissis st i s svons 3]
Section 10.10. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders............ccocvvvrmrrrvnrcsiinnennes 31
- Section 10.11. Termination of Proceedings.........ccooeveeeiiiireciiieeiiecieiceeeeeens 32
Section 10.12. Waivers of Events of Default.............cccccooivvivieieccececeeeeee 32
Section 10.13. Notice of Events of Default under Section 10.1(b); Opportunity of
the Authority and the City to Cure Such Events of Default. ......... 32
ARTICLE XI SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS.......cooeeeieteeeeeeceees e esese s 33
Section 11.1.  Supplemental Resolutions Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders.33
Section 11.2. Supplemental Resolutions Requiring Consent of Bondholders.....33
ARTICLE XTI AMBNOMENT OF MASTER LEASE ..iuivasssmssmumpisms s 34
Section 12.1. Amendments, etc. to Master Lease Not Requiring Consent of
Bondholders. ....cvoveiiiiiieieecceeesee e 34
Section 12.2. Amendments, etc. to the Master Lease Requiring Consent of
Bondholders. ... coussmmnnsummanmssmnsisinimsismmamm 35
ARTICLE XTI MISCELLANBEOUS i i minass i ssiio i bmssssesmenma 36

i
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 13.1.

Consents, etc. of Bondholders. ..........cooeeeeeeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee, 36

Section 13.2. Limitation of RIhtS............coveieieeireeeiee oo, 36
Section 13.3. SeVerability. .....ooeuevivieiececeieeeeee et 36
SeCtON 13.4. INOHCES: usuasrsussrsisisississmsernmsnsssonssssnsnonsuesnassess sransorsmsrssoasaveetsasossiresse 36
Section 13.5. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays.................... 37
Section 13.6.  Applicable Provisions 0f LaW..........ccecuoeeeeereeeeresseseersseseserennn 37
Section 13.7. Rules of INterpretation. ...........ccoceeveveeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeee 37
Section 13.8.  CaPtiONS. ...c.cveeiiiereeseeeeeeee ettt et e e, 37
EXHIBIT A FORM OF STATE BOND .......cooitiitiuieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e eeeeee e eeeee oo A-1
EXHIBIT B FORM OF EXCHANGE BOND .......ooecireeteireerereseeeeeseessenssssesesesesssene B-1
EXHIBIT C DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT AND PROJECT SITE w.vvovvvoen C-1
iii

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



MASTER RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, Tooele City, Utah (the “City”), has previously authorized and directed the
creation of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”), pursuant to
the provisions of a resolution (the “Creating Resolution”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the direction of the City Council (the “City Council”) contained
in the Creating Resolution, the Authority has been duly and regularly created, established and is
organized and existing as a nonprofit corporation under and by virtue of the provisions of the
constitution and laws of the State of Utah, including, in particular, the provisions of the Utah
Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, Title 16, Chapter 6a, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended
(the “Nonprofit Corporation Act”) and the Local Building Authority Act, Title 17D, Chapter 2,
Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, (the “Local Building Authority Act,” and together with
the Nonprofit Corporation Act, the “Acts”); and

WHEREAS, under the Articles of Incorporation of the Authority (the “Articles”), the
objects and purposes for which the Authority has been founded and incorporated are to acquire,
improve, or extend one or more projects and to finance their cost on behalf of the City in
accordance with the procedures and subject to the limitations of the Local Building Authority Act
in order to accomplish the public purposes for which the City exists; and

WHEREAS, the Authority is possessed under the Articles of all powers set forth in the
Acts and the Constitution and other laws of the State of Utah, including, without limitation, the
power to acquire, own, hold, lease, and improve real and personal property, and to enter into
agreements providing for a lease, mortgage, or other conveyance of real and personal property and
to issue its notes, bonds, or other obligations; and

WHEREAS, the Authority and the City desire to (a) finance the construction of a fire
station and all related improvements (collectively, the “Project”) and (b) pay costs associated with
the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Authority now desires to finance such Project through the issuance of its
Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series 2023 Bonds™); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Master Lease Agreement dated as of even date herewith between
the Authority and the City (the “Master Lease”), the City will lease, as lessee, the Project from the
Authority on an annually renewable basis; and

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to lease, as lessee, the real property upon which the
Project is to be constructed from the City, as lessor, pursuant to the terms and provisions of that
certain Ground Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease”) dated as of even date herewith; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of a Resolution adopted on November 1, 2023 (the
“Authority Resolution”), the Governing Board of the Authority (the “Governing Board”) has
authorized, approved, and directed the execution of the Master Lease and has authorized and
approved certain actions to be taken by the Authority in connection with the financing of the
Project, including the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds hereunder; and



WHEREAS, it has been determined by the City and the Authority that the estimated
amount necessary to finance the Project, including necessary expenses incidental thereto, will
require the issuance, sale, and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds in the total principal amount of
$8,500,000 as hereinafter provided; and

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined that the Series 2023 Bonds shall be secured as
provided herein and has ascertained and determined that the provisions herein contained for
protecting and enforcing the rights and remedies of the registered owners of such Series 2023
Bonds are reasonable, proper, and in accordance with law, and that this Master Resolution is
necessary to the performance of its duties and the execution of its powers under law, and does
deem and determine all of the provisions herein contained to be reasonable and proper for the
security of the registered owners of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, all acts and things required by law and by the Articles and Bylaws of the
Authority necessary to make this Master Resolution a valid and binding instrument for the security
of all Bonds duly issued hereunder have been done and performed, and the execution and delivery
of this Master Resolution have been in all respects duly authorized; and

WHEREAS, the Series 2023 Bonds in registered form and the certificate of authentication
to be endorsed on the Series 2023 Bonds if issued as State Bonds are to be in substantially the
appropriate form set forth in Exhibit A, and if issued as Exchange Bonds are to be in substantially
the appropriate form set forth in Exhibit B hereto, with appropriate variations, omissions, and
insertions as permitted or required by this Master Resolution; and

WHEREAS, all things necessary to make the Series 2023 Bonds when authenticated by
the Authority and issued as in this Master Resolution provided, the valid, binding, and legal
obligations of the Authority according to the import thereof, and to constitute this Master
Resolution a valid assignment and pledge of the amounts pledged to the payment of the principal
of and premium, if any, on the Series 2023 Bonds, and to constitute this Master Resolution a valid
assignment of (a) the rights of the Authority with respect to the Project under the Master Lease
(except the rights of the Authority under Sections 6.3(d), 13.3 and 14.5 of the Master Lease) and
(b) the rights of the City with respect to the Project have been done and performed and the creation,
execution, and delivery of this Master Resolution, and the creation, execution, and issuance of the
Series 2023 Bonds, subject to the terms hereof, have in all respects been duly authorized:

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Governing Board of the Municipal Building
Authority of Tooele City, Utah, as follows:

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

All terms defined in Article I of the Master Lease shall have the same meaning in this
Master Resolution unless otherwise indicated. In addition, unless the context otherwise requires,
the terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Master Resolution and the Master
Lease, have the meaning herein specified.

“Authority” means the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah.

“Bond Documents” means the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Security Documents,
and this Master Resolution.

“Bond Fund” means the bond fund established under Section 6.2 herein.

“Bondholder” or “Registered Owner” means the person or persons in whose name or names
a Bond shall be registered on the books of the Authority kept for that purpose in accordance with
provisions of this Master Resolution.

“CIB” means the State of Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board, or any
successor agency.

“City” means Tooele City, Utah, and its successors and assigns.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Escrow Account” means the escrow account created and administered under the Escrow
Agreement by the Escrow Agent.

“Escrow Agent” means the Treasurer for the State of Utah, or its successors and assigns.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement by and among the Authority, the City,
the CIB, and the Escrow Agent.

“Event of Default” means any occurrence or event specified in and defined by Section 10.1
hereof.

“Exchange Bonds” means the fully registered Series 2023 Bonds issued in substantially
the appropriate form set forth in Exhibit B, in exchange for the State Bond representing the Series
2023 Bonds, or in exchange for other Exchange Bonds, in the denomination of $1,000 or any
integral multiple thereof.

“Government Obligations™ means solely one or more of the following:

(a) State and Local Government Series issued by the United States Treasury
(“SLGS”);

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



(b) United States Treasury bills, notes, and bonds, as traded on the open market;
and

(c) Zero Coupon United States Treasury Bonds.

“Investment Obligations” shall mean any investment permitted for investment of public
funds under the State Money Management Act, Title 51, Chapter 7, Utah Code Annotated 1953,
as amended, with an appropriate market value and of an appropriate maturity.

“Master Lease” means the Master Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2023,
between the City and the Authority, and any amendments and supplements thereto.

“Original Issue Date” means the initial delivery date of the Series 2023 Bonds.

“Outstanding” or “Bonds Outstanding” means all Bonds which have been authenticated
and delivered by the Authority under this Master Resolution, except:

(a) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or
redemption prior to maturity;

(b) Bonds for the payment or redemption of which cash funds shall have been
theretofore deposited with a trustee (whether upon or prior to the maturity or redemption
date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the
maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given;

(c) Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 3.4,
Section 3.8, Section 3.9, Section 3.10 and Section 4.5 hereof; and

(d) Bonds deemed paid under Article IX of this Master Resolution.

“Paying Agent” with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds means the Secretary of the
Authority, and his/her successors.

“Principal Payment Date” means each October 1, commencing October 1, 2025.

“Project” means the construction of a fire station and all related improvements, as more
fully described in Exhibit C hereto.

“Project Site” means real property, as more fully described in Exhibit C hereof, upon which
the Project is located.

“Registrar” with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds means the Secretary of the Authority,
and his/her successors.

“Reserve Fund Requirement” means, with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, $492,960,
which amount shall be built up pursuant to the terms of the Master Lease and this Master
Resolution, in six (6) annual installments of approximately $82,160, beginning on October 1, 2025.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



“Security Documents” means the Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents and
Security Agreement (the “Deed of Trust”) and an Assignment of Ground Lease with respect to the
Project.

“Series 2023 Bonds” or “Bond” means the Authority’s Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023
1ssued in the aggregate principal amount of $8,500,000.

“State Bond or Bonds” means the single fully registered Series 2023 Bond issued in
substantially the appropriate forms set forth in Exhibit A.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE II
THE SERIES 2023 BONDS

Section 2.1.  Authorized Amount of Bonds. No Series 2023 Bonds may be issued under
the provisions of this Master Resolution except in accordance with this Article. The total principal
amount of Series 2023 Bonds that may be issued is hereby expressly limited to $8,500,000 except
as provided in Section 3.4, Section 3.5, Section 3.8, Section 3.9, Section 3.10, and Section 4.5
hereof.

Section 2.2.  Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds. For purposes of (a) financing the cost of
constructing the Project and (b) paying costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority
hereby authorizes the issuance of its Series 2023 Bonds in the principal amount of $8,500,000.
The Series 2023 Bonds shall be issued (i) if issued as State Bonds, in substantially the form set
forth in Exhibit A, and (ii) if issued as Exchange Bonds, in substantially the form set forth in
Exhibit B; in fully registered form, shall bear interest at the rate of four percent (4.00%) per annum.
Ifissued as Exchange Bonds, the Series 2023 Bonds shall be in the denomination of $1,000 or any
integral multiple thereof. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be numbered from one (1) consecutively
upward in order of delivery by the Registrar. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be designated as, and
shall be distinguished from Bonds of all other Series by the title, “Municipal Building Authority
of Tooele City, Utah Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023.”

The Series 2023 Bonds shall bear interest at the rate of four percent (4.00%) per annum
and shall accrue on the unpaid principal balance of the Series 2023 Bonds from October 1, 2024
and shall be payable annually beginning October 1, 2025 and on each October 1 thereafter until
the Series 2023 Bonds are paid in full. Principal on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be paid in
installments beginning October 1, 2025, and continuing on each October 1 thereafter until the
Series 2023 Bonds are paid in full, as follows:

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Payment Date Amount of Payment Date Amount of

(October 1) Principal Payment (October 1) Principal Payment
2025 $152,000 2040 $273,000
2026 158,000 2041 284,000
2027 164,000 2042 295,000
2028 171,000 2043 307,000
2029 177,000 2044 319,000
2030 184,000 2045 332,000
2031 192,000 2046 345,000
2032 199,000 2047 359,000
2033 207,000 2048 373,000
2034 216,000 2049 388,000
2035 224,000 2050 404,000
2036 233,000 2051 420,000
2037 - 243,000 2052 438,000
2038 252,000 2053 455,000
2039 262,000 2054 474,000

If any annual installment of principal and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is not paid
when due and payable, the Authority shall pay interest on the delinquent installment at the rate of
eighteen percent (18%) per annum from said due date until paid.

Except as provided in the next succeeding paragraph, payments, whether at maturity or by
redemption shall be payable upon presentation and surrender for payment of the Series 2023 Bonds
by check in any currency which on the date of payment is legal tender for the payment of debts
due the United States of America, to the Registered Owner thereof and shall be paid by check or
draft mailed to the Registered Owner thereof at its address as it appears on the registration books
of the Authority maintained by the Registrar or at such other address as is furnished to the Registrar
in writing by such Registered Owner.

So long as the CIB is the Registered Owner of the State Bonds, payments of principal and
interest shall be made by check or draft and mailed to the CIB as the Registered Owner at the
address shown on the registration books maintained by the Registrar.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE IlI

EXECUTION, AUTHENTICATION, DELIVERY, EXCHANGE AND
REGISTRATION OF SERIES 2023 BONDS

Section 3.1.  Execution; Limited Obligation. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be executed
on behalf of the Authority with the facsimile or manual signature of the Chair of its Governing
Board and shall have impressed or imprinted thereon the official seal of the Authority and be
attested with the facsimile or manual signature of the Secretary of the Governing Board of the
Authority. All authorized facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as if manually
signed.

The Series 2023 Bonds shall not be a general obligation but shall be special, limited
obligations of the Authority payable solely out of and to the extent available from the Base Rentals,
and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price and other amounts derived from the leasing of
the Project (except to the extent paid out of moneys attributable to the proceeds derived from the
sale of the Series 2023 Bonds or to income from the temporary investment thereof and, under
certain circumstances, to moneys held in funds or accounts by the Authority to proceeds from
insurance policies, performance bonds, condemnation awards, and liquidation proceeds with
respect to the Project) and shall be a valid claim of the respective Bondholders thereof only against
the Bond Fund, the Reserve Fund and other moneys held by the Authority and the Base Rentals,
and other amounts derived from the leasing of the Project under the Master Lease, which Base
Rentals and other amounts are hereby pledged, assigned, and otherwise secured for the equal and
ratable payment of the Series 2023 Bonds and shall be used for no other purpose than to pay the
principal of the Series 2023 Bonds, except as may be otherwise expressly authorized in this Master
Resolution or in the Master Lease. The Authority shall not be obligated to pay the principal of and
interest on such Series 2023 Bonds, or other costs incident thereto except from the moneys pledged
therefor under this Master Resolution. The Series 2023 Bonds shall never constitute an
indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional limitation or statutory provision
and shall not constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the City or a charge against the
general credit or taxing power of the City. Neither the City, nor the Authority on its behalf, has
pledged the credit of the City to the payment of the Series 2023 Bonds, interest or amounts due or
to become due under the Master Lease. The City shall not be obligated to appropriate City Funds
for the purpose of paying Base Rentals, Additional Rentals, or the Purchase Option Price under
the Master Lease, and no judgment may be entered against the City in the event of an insufficiency
of moneys to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds. The payment obligations
of the City under the Master Lease are subject to annual renewal and will be terminated upon the
occurrence of an Event of Non-appropriation. In such event, all payments from the City under the
Master Lease will terminate, and the Series 2023 Bonds and interest thereon will be payable solely
from and to the extent of such moneys, if any, as may be held by the Authority under this Master
Resolution (except amounts held for the payment of Bonds not deemed Outstanding) and any
moneys made available from a liquidation of the Project subsequent to foreclosure of the lien of
this Master Resolution and the Security Documents. No deficiency judgment subsequent to
foreclosure of the lien of this Master Resolution and the Security Documents may be entered
against the City or the Authority, and no breach of any provision of the Master Lease, the Security
Documents, or this Master Resolution shall impose any general obligation or liability upon or a
charge against the City or the Authority or upon the general credit or taxing powers of the City.

8
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



No judgment requiring a payment of money may be entered against the City under the Master
Lease.

Section 3.2.  Authentication. No Series 2023 Bonds shall be valid or obligatory for any
purpose or entitled to any security or benefit under this Master Resolution unless and until a
certificate of authentication on such Series 2023 Bonds substantially in the form herein below set
forth shall have been duly executed by the Secretary of the Authority, and such executed certificate
upon any such Series 2023 Bonds shall be conclusive evidence that such Series 2023 Bond has
been authenticated and delivered under this Master Resolution. The certificate of authentication
on any Series 2023 Bonds shall be deemed to have been executed by an authorized officer of the
Authority if executed by the Secretary of the Authority, but it shall not be necessary that the same
person acting as Secretary sign the certificate of authentication on all of the Series 2023 Bonds.

Section 3.3.  Delivery of Series 2023 Bonds. Upon the execution and delivery of this
Master Resolution, the Authority shall execute and deliver and the Secretary of the Authority shall
authenticate the Series 2023 Bonds and deliver them to the CIB as directed by the Authority as
hereinafter in this Section 3.3 provided.

Prior to the delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, there shall be filed with the Authority:

(a) A copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Authority of a resolution
adopted by the Governing Board of the Authority, and a copy, duly certified by the City
Recorder of the City, of a resolution of the City Council of the City, authorizing the
issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Master Resolution,
the Master Lease, the Ground Lease and the Security Documents;

(b) Original executed counterparts of the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the
Security Documents, and this Master Resolution;

() An ALTA mortgagee’s policy, or commitment therefor, of mortgage title
insurance in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds, issued by
a title insurance company satisfactory to the Authority insuring that (i) the Authority has a
valid leasehold interest in the Project Site, (ii) the City has the valid interest described in
the Ground Lease, (iii) the Project is subject only to Permitted Encumbrances, and (iv) the
Security Documents constitute a first lien on the Project Site subject only to Permitted
Encumbrances. The policy shall also provide protection against any mechanic’s or
materialman’s liens. In the event that title insurance on any portion of the property interests
described above cannot be provided at the time of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds,
delivery of such title insurance shall be provided prior to disbursement of amounts to pay
costs of such portion of the Project; and

(d) A certificate or other documentation evidencing that the City has insured
the Project as required by Article IX of the Master Lease.

Section 3.4. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Bonds. In the event any Bond is
mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority may execute and authenticate a new Bond of
like date, maturity, and denomination to that mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed; provided that, in
the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Authority,

9
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



and in the case of any lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Authority
evidence of such loss, theft, or destruction satisfactory to the Authority, together with an indemnity
satisfactory to them. In the event any such Bond shall have matured or is about to mature, instead
of issuing a duplicate Bond, the Authority may pay the same without surrender thereof making
such requirements as it deems fit for its protection, including a lost instrument bond or other
satisfactory indemnity. The Authority may charge the Bondholder of such Bond with its
reasonable fees and expenses in this connection.

Section 3.5.  Exchange of State Bonds to Exchange Bonds. As long as the CIB is the
sole Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Series 2023 Bonds shall be issued only as
the State Bond in the form prescribed in Exhibit A. Tt is recognized that the CIB may sell or
otherwise transfer the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to the provisions of the State Financing
Consolidation Act, Title 63B, Chapter 1b, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, or otherwise.
In the event the CIB determines to sell or otherwise transfer all or a portion of the Series 2023
Bonds pursuant to the State Financing Consolidation Act, or otherwise, the State Bonds may be
exchanged at the office of the Paying Agent for a like aggregate principal amount of Exchange
Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5 hereof. Exchange Bonds may
thereafter be exchanged from time to time for other Exchange Bonds in accordance with Section
3.6 hereof. Any Series 2023 Bonds, or any portion thereof, which is sold or otherwise transferred
or liquidated by the CIB pursuant to the State Financing Consolidation Act, or otherwise, shall be
in the form of an Exchange Bond prescribed in Exhibit B, and shall be executed pursuant to an
authorization contained in Section 3.6 hereof. Each payment on the State Bond not previously
paid or canceled shall be represented by an equivalent principal amount of Exchange Bond, in
authorized denominations, and of like maturity. The Authority and its officers shall execute and
deliver such documents and perform such acts as may reasonably be required by the Authority to
accomplish the exchange of the State Bond for Exchange Bond, provided that the CIB shall pay
or cause to be paid all costs and other charges incident to such exchange and the Authority shall
have no obligation to pay any such costs or charges. The Secretary is hereby authorized to sign
the authentication certificate on the Exchange Bond when issued. The Exchange Bond shall not
be valid or become obligatory for any purpose nor be entitled to any security or benefit until the
Secretary has signed such authentication certificate on the Bond.

Section 3.6. Registration Provisions. The Authority shall cause books for the
registration and for the transfer of the Series 2023 Bonds to be kept by the Secretary who is hereby
appointed the Registrar of the Issuer with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. Any Series 2023
Bonds may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred only upon the registration books kept by
the Registrar, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his/her duly authorized
attorney, upon surrender of such Series 2023 Bonds for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of
a written instrument of transfer in a form approved by the Registrar, duly executed. No transfer
shall be effective until entered on the registration books kept by the Registrar. Upon surrender for
transfer of any Series 2023 Bonds duly endorsed by or accompanied by a written instrument or
instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar and duly executed by, the Registered
Owner or his/her attorney duly authorized in writing, the Authority shall execute and deliver in the
name of the transferee or transferees, a new bond or bond of the same maturity for a like aggregate
principal amount as the Series 2023 Bonds surrendered for transfer. The Series 2023 Bonds may
be exchanged at the office of the Registrar for a like aggregate principal amount of Series 2023
Bonds of other authorized denominations and the same series and maturity. The execution by the

10
4855-4387-1368, V. 2



Authority of any Series 2023 Bonds of any authorized denomination shall constitute full and due
authorization of such denomination, and the Registrar shall thereby be authorized to deliver such
Series 2023 Bonds. The Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Exchange
Bond at any time following the mailing of notice calling such Series 2023 Bonds for redemption.

The Series 2023 Bonds surrendered for final payment, redemption, or exchange, shall be
promptly canceled and destroyed by the Authority.

The Authority, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may treat and consider the person in
whose name each Series 2023 Bonds is registered on the registration books kept by the Registrar
as the holder and absolute owner thereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account
of, the principal or redemption price thereof and for all other purposes whatsoever, and neither the
Authority, nor the Registrar nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.
Payment of any Series 2023 Bond shall be made only to or upon order of the Registered Owner
thereof or his/her legal representative, but such registration may be changed as hereinabove
provided. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon
such Series 2023 Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

The Authority may require the payment by the Registered Owner requesting exchange or
transfer of Series 2023 Bonds of any tax or other governmental charge and any service charge
which are required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer and such charges shall be
paid before such new Bond shall be delivered.

Section 3.7.  Destruction of Bond. Whenever any Outstanding Bond shall be delivered
to the Authority for cancellation pursuant to this Master Resolution, upon final payment of the
principal amount represented thereby, or for replacement or exchange, transfer or partial
redemption pursuant to Section 3.4, Section 3.5, Section 3.8, or Section 4.5 hereof, such Bond
shall be promptly canceled and cremated or otherwise destroyed by the Authority and counterparts
of a certificate of destruction evidencing such cremation or other destruction shall be furnished by
the Authority to the City.

Section 3.8. Temporary Bonds. Bonds may be initially issued in temporary form
exchangeable for definitive Bond when ready for delivery. The temporary Bond shall be of such
denomination or denominations as may be determined by the Authority and may contain such
reference to any of the provisions of this Master Resolution as may be appropriate. Every
temporary Bond shall be executed and authenticated by the Authority upon the same conditions
and in substantially the same manner as the definitive Bond. If the Authority issues temporary
Bonds, it will execute and furnish definitive Bonds at the Authority’s expense (and without cost
to the Bondholders of such temporary Bond) without unreasonable delay and thereupon the
temporary Bond may be surrendered for cancellation and exchange therefor at the principal office
of the Authority, and the Authority shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for such temporary
Bond an equal aggregate principal amount of definitive registered Bond of authorized
denominations of the same series and the same maturity. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bond
shall be entitled to the same benefits under this Master Resolution as a definitive Bond
authenticated and delivered hereunder.

11
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 3.9.  Issuance of Refunding Bonds. To the extent permitted by law, the Authority
may, at the request of the City, authorize the issuance of Refunding Bonds upon the terms and
conditions provided herein and in Section 11.7 of the Master Lease. Refunding Bonds may be
issued to provide funds to refund the Series 2023 Bond then Outstanding, in whole or in part, and
to pay the costs of the issuance and sale of the Refunding Bonds and other costs reasonably related
to the financing as shall be agreed upon by the City and the Authority; provided, however, that (a)
the Authority shall not be in default under this Master Resolution, the Ground Lease, the Security
Documents, or the Master Lease or any provision thereof or hereof, and the issuance of Refunding
Bonds shall not constitute a default under the Master Lease or cause any violation of the covenants
or representations of the City or the Authority in the Master Lease, the Security Documents, or in
this Master Resolution; (b) no Event of Default or Event of Non-appropriation shall have occurred
under the Master Lease; (c) the Authority shall have otherwise complied with the provisions of
this Section 3.9 with respect to the issuance of such Refunding Bonds; and (d) if the CIB is the
present owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority shall have obtained the prior written
approval of the CIB for the Authority to issue the Refunding Bonds for the Series Bonds owned
by the CIB.

Section 3.10. Additional Bonds. So long as the Master Lease is in effect and no Event of
Default under this Master Resolution, the Ground Lease the Security Documents, or the Master
Lease has occurred and is continuing and so long as no Event of Non-appropriation has occurred
and is continuing, one or more series of Additional Bonds may be issued, authenticated, and
delivered for the purpose of financing (a) costs to complete construction of the Project (except to
the extent paid out of moneys attributable to the proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2023
Bonds, or to income from the temporary investment thereof and, under certain circumstances, to
moneys held in funds or accounts by the Authority, to proceeds from insurance policies,
performance bonds, condemnation awards, and liquidation proceeds with respect to the Project),
(b) costs of additions or improvements to the Project, or (c) the cost of acquiring, constructing,
equipping, and furnishing of any sites, buildings, or equipment or continuation thereof, for the use
and benefit of the City, but only to the extent that (d) such additional sites, buildings, and
equipment, or any combination thereof, constitute a “project” within the meaning of the Local
Building Authority Act, and (e) the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, if applicable and the Security
Documents are amended as herein provided to include such sites, buildings, and equipment as part
of the Project thereunder. Such Additional Bonds shall be payable solely from the Base Rentals
and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price and other amounts derived from the leasing of
the Project. The Additional Bonds may be issued in one or more series, shall be authenticated by
the Authority and, upon payment to the Authority of the proceeds of said sale of Additional Bonds,
they shall be delivered by the Authority to or upon the order of the purchasers thereof, but only
upon there being filed with the Authority:

(a) Evidence of the authorization of the Authority for such issuance, and an
approval by the City of the terms of the Additional Bonds, the purchase price to be paid
therefor and the manner in which the proceeds therefrom are to be disbursed as required
under the Master Lease;

(b) Original executed counterparts of a supplemental resolution, a supplement
(if necessary) to the Security Documents, the Ground Lease and an amendment of the
Master Lease expressly providing that, for all purposes of this Master Resolution and the

12
4855-4387-1368, V. 2



Master Lease the “Project” shall include any facilities being financed by the Additional
Bonds and that the Bond shall mean and include the Additional Bond being issued as well
as any Bond and Additional Bond theretofore issued, and further providing for an increase
in the Base Rentals to be paid by the City under the Master Lease in such amount as shall
be necessary to pay, assuming that no Event of Default or Event of Non-appropriation shall
occur, the principal of and interest, if any, on the Bond and the Additional Bonds being
issued and any Additional Bonds theretofore issued, and to extend the Lease Term if the
maturity of any of the Additional Bonds would otherwise occur after the expiration of the
then current Lease Term. The date or dates of the Additional Bonds, the rate or rates of
interest on the Additional Bonds, and the redemption provisions (if any) with respect
thereto all shall be as provided in the supplemental resolution rather than as provided in
this Master Resolution, and may differ from the provisions with respect to the Series 2023
Bond set forth in this Master Resolution, except that interest, if any, on such Additional
Bonds shall be payable on October 1 of each year during the term thereof and principal of
the Additional Bond shall, in each year in which principal and interest falls due, be payable
on October 1;

(c) A written opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, to the effect that
the issuance of the Additional Bonds and the execution thereof have been duly authorized,
all conditions precedent to the delivery thereof have been fulfilled;

(d) A date-down endorsement to the ALTA mortgagee title insurance policy
issued in connection with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, which endorsement shall
insure to the date of issuance of such Additional Bonds and the recording of any
supplement to the Security Documents the continuing validity of the lien thereof, as
modified by any supplement to the Security Documents, as a first and prior lien on the
premises thereby secured, subject only to Permitted Encumbrances, and which
endorsement shall increase the amount of title insurance coverage thereunder to an amount
at least equal to the principal amount of the Additional Bonds plus the amount of coverage
originally provided in such policy and naming the Authority and the Registered Owner of
the Bond as an insured or, in the alternative, such policy shall be delivered prior to any
disbursements being made for such portion of the Project for which a policy cannot be
delivered at closing;

(e) A copy, duly certified by the City Recorder of the City, of the resolution
adopted and approved by the City Council of the City approving the issuance of such
Additional Bonds and the terms thereof;

) If such series of Additional Bonds is being issued in whole or in part for
construction purposes, (i) a copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Authority, of the
project contract and architect’s agreement with respect to such construction and the
performance and payment bond covering such project contract, or a requirement to deliver
the same prior to disbursements being made with respect to such portion of the Project, and
(ii) a certificate of the architect or engineer responsible for planning and designing any
such construction which sets forth the estimated useful life of the project, as so improved
and extended, in compliance with Section 17D-2-302 of the Local Building Authority Act;

13
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



(2) A written opinion of counsel to the City as to the legal, valid, and binding
nature of the amendment to the Master Lease as against the City and such other matters as
may be reasonably required by the purchasers of such Additional Bonds;

(h) A written opinion of counsel to the Authority as to the legal, valid, and
binding nature of the amendment to the Master Lease, and the supplement to this Master
Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Security Documents as against the Authority and
such other matters as may be reasonably required by the purchasers of such Additional
Bonds;

(i) A certificate of the Authority, stating that as of the date of such delivery no
event or condition has happened or exists and is continuing, or is happening or existing,
which constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute, an Event
of Default under this Master Resolution, the Security Documents, or the Master Lease and
there has not occurred and is then continuing an Event of Non-appropriation;

) If the CIB is the present owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the written
approval of the CIB for the Authority to issue the Additional Bonds; and

(k) Such other agreements, certificates, documents, and opinions as are
required to be delivered to the purchasers of such Additional Bonds, each in form and
substance satisfactory to the Authority and, as to opinions, addressed to the Authority if
the Authority so directs.

Each series of Additional Bonds issued pursuant to this Master Resolution shall be equally
and ratably secured under this Master Resolution and the Security Documents with the Series 2023
Bond and all other series of Additional Bonds, if any, theretofore issued pursuant to this Master
Resolution, without preference, priority, or distinction of any Bond over any other thereof,

14
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE 1V
REDEMPTION OF BOND BEFORE MATURITY

Section4.1. Redemption Dates and Prices. (a) The Series 2023 Bonds are subject to
prepayment and redemption at any time, in whole or in part (if in part, in integral multiples of
$1,000), at the election of the Authority in inverse order of the due date of the principal installments
thereof, upon notice given as hereinafter set forth, at a redemption price equal to the principal
amount to be so prepaid, plus accrued interest on delinquent payments, if any, to the date of
prepayment or redemption.

(b) The Series 2023 Bonds are also subject to prepayment and redemption in whole on
any date, if (i) the Project or a material portion thereof is damaged or destroyed or taken in
a condemnation proceeding, or a material defect in the construction of the Project shall
become apparent, or title to or the use of all or any material portion of the Project shall be
lost by reason of a defect in title thereto, (ii) the Net Proceeds (as defined in the Master
Lease) of any insurance policy, performance bond, or condemnation award made available
by reason of one or more such occurrences shall be insufficient to pay in full the cost of
repairing and replacing the Project, and (iii) the City elects to discharge its obligation to
repair and replace the Project by depositing such Net Proceeds into the Bond Fund. Upon
the deposit of such Net Proceeds into the Bond Fund, payment obligations of the City with
respect to the Project under the Master Lease shall terminate and the City shall have no
further obligation for the payment of Base Rentals and Additional Rentals with respect to
the Project thereunder, and possession of the Project shall be surrendered to the Authority
for the Bondholders. All right, title, and interest of the City and the Authority in any funds
or accounts created under the Master Resolution (other than amounts held for the payment
of principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bond not then deemed Outstanding) shall be
held by the Authority and applied to the prepayment or redemption of the Series 2023 Bond
at the earliest date practicable. Thereafter, the Security Documents may be foreclosed and
the Project liquidated and the Net Proceeds of such liquidation and of any insurance policy,
performance bond, or condemnation award so deposited in the Bond Fund, as well as all
other moneys on deposit in any fund created under the Master Resolution (except moneys
held for the payment of principal of the Series 2023 Bond, plus accrued interest, if any, not
then deemed Outstanding), shall be applied to the prepayment or redemption of the Series
2023 Bond as the Authority may determine at the earliest date practicable. Such
prepayment or redemption of the Series 2023 Bond shall be made upon payment of the
principal amount of the Series 2023 Bond then Outstanding, all in accordance with the
Master Resolution. IN THE EVENT THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE TO BE PREPAID
SUBSEQUENT TO THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT DESCRIBED IN THIS
PARAGRAPH BY PAYMENT OF AN AMOUNT LESS THAN THE OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT THEREOF AND ACCRUED INTEREST, IF ANY, TO THE
PREPAYMENT DATE, NO FURTHER CLAIM FOR PAYMENT MAY BE HAD BY
THE HOLDERS OF THE SERIES 2023 BOND AGAINST THE AUTHORITY OR THE
CITY.

If called for prepayment at any time pursuant to the provisions above, the Series 2023
Bonds shall be subject to prepayment by the Authority in whole or in part except that in the event

15
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



that the amount available to prepay such Series 2023 Bonds under paragraph (i) above, following
a liquidation of all of the Project, is less than the amount required to pay the principal of the Series
2023 Bonds to the prepayment date, the Series 2023 Bonds shall be redeemed in whole and the
amount available therefor applied as provided in Section 10.8(b) hereof. Except as otherwise
provided above, in the event that the Series 2023 Bonds are prepaid, such prepayment will be made
at a price (expressed as a percentage of principal amount) of 100% plus accrued interest on
delinquent payments to the prepayment date.

Section 4.2.  Notice of Redemption.

(a) In the event any Series 2023 Bonds are to be redeemed, the Registrar shall
cause notice to be given as provided in this Section 4.2. Notice of such redemption shall
be mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, to all registered owners of Series 2023 Bonds
to be redeemed at their addresses as they appear on the registration books of the Registrar
at least thirty (30) days but not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the date fixed for
redemption. Such notice shall state the following information:

(1) the complete official name of the Series 2023 Bond, including
series, to be redeemed, the identification numbers of the Series 2023 Bond being
redeemed;

(i1) any other descriptive information needed to identify accurately the
Series 2023 Bond being redeemed, including, but not limited to, the original issue
date of such Series 2023 Bond;

(iii)  in the case of partial redemption of any Series 2023 Bond, the
respective principal amounts thereof to be redeemed;

(iv)  the date of mailing of redemption notices and the redemption date;
(V) the redemption price;

(vi)  that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due
and payable upon each such Series 2023 Bond or portion thereof called for
redemption; and

(vii)) the place where such Series 2023 Bond is to be surrendered for
payment of the redemption price, designating the name and address of the
redemption agent with the name of a contact person and telephone number.

(b) Upon the payment of the redemption price of Series 2023 Bonds being
redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall identify the
Series 2023 Bond being redeemed with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

(c) The Registrar shall not give notice of such a redemption until there are on
deposit with the Paying Agent sufficient funds for the payment of the redemption price.

16
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



(d) Notice of redemption shall be given, not more than forty-five (45) nor less
than thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date, to registered owners of the Series 2023
Bond, or portions thereof, to be redeemed. A second notice of redemption shall be given,
not later than ninety (90) days subsequent to the redemption date, to registered owners of
Series 2023 Bonds or portions thereof redeemed but who failed to deliver Series 2023
Bonds for redemption prior to the 60th day following such redemption date. Any notice
mailed shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the
registered owner of such Series 2023 Bonds receives the notice. Receipt of such notice
shall not be a condition precedent to such redemption, and failure so to receive any such
notice by any of such registered owners shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for
the redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds.

(e) In case any Series 2023 Bond is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of
redemption which relates to such Series 2023 Bond shall state also that on or after the
redemption date, upon surrender of such Series 2023 Bonds, a new Series 2023 Bond in
principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of such Series 2023 Bonds will be
issued.

Section 4.3. Redemption Payments. Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.2 hereof,
no payment shall be made by the Authority upon any Bond or portion thereof called for prepayment
or redemption until such Bond or portion thereof shall have been delivered for payment or
cancellation or the Authority shall have received the items required by Section 3.4 hereof with
respect to any mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond.

Section 4.4. Cancellation. All Series 2023 Bonds which have been redeemed shall not
be reissued but shall be canceled and cremated or otherwise destroyed by the Authority in
accordance with Section 3.7 hereof.

Section 4.5.  Partial Redemption of Bond. Upon surrender of any Exchange Bond for
prepayment or redemption in part only, the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver to
the Bondholder thereof a new Exchange Bond or Bond of the same series and the same maturity,
of authorized denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of
the Exchange Bond surrendered, which new Exchange Bond or Bonds shall be a fully registered
Exchange Bond or Bonds.

17
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE V
GENERAL COVENANTS

Section 5.1.  Payment of Principal and Interest. The Authority covenants that it will
promptly pay the principal and interest, if any, of every Bond issued under this Master Resolution
at the place, on the dates, and in the manner provided herein and in the respective Bond according
to the true intent and meaning thereof, but solely from the Base Rentals and, if paid by the City
under the Master Lease, the Purchase Option Price with respect to the Project, the purchase option
price and other amounts pledged therefor which are from time to time held by the Authority in the
Bond Fund and the Reserve Fund. The principal and interest, if any, on the Bonds are payable
solely from the Base Rentals and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price with respect to the
Project, and other amounts derived from the leasing of the Project and otherwise as provided
herein, in the Deed of Trust, and in the Master Lease, which amounts are hereby specifically
pledged to the payment thereof in the manner and to the extent herein and in the Master Lease
specified, and nothing in the Series 2023 Bonds or in this Master Resolution shall be construed as
pledging any other funds or assets of the Authority or the City. The Authority shall in no event be
liable for the payment of the principal of and interest on any of the Series 2023 Bonds or for the
performance of any pledge, obligation, or agreement undertaken by the Authority except to the
extent that the moneys pledged herein, or assets granted herein or in the Security Documents as
security, are sufficient therefor.

Section 5.2.  Performance of Covenants; the Authority. The Authority covenants that it
will faithfully perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations, and provisions
contained in this Master Resolution, in the Master Lease, in the Ground Lease, in the Security
Documents, in any and every Bond executed, authenticated, and delivered hereunder and in all of
its proceedings pertaining hereto. The Authority covenants that it is duly authorized under its
Articles, the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah, including a resolution duly adopted by the
City Council of the City, to issue the Series 2023 Bonds authorized hereby and to execute this
Master Resolution, to assign the Master Lease and to pledge the Base Rentals, the Purchase Option
Price and other amounts hereby pledged in the manner and to the extent herein set forth, that all
action on its part for the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the execution and delivery of the
Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Security Documents, and this Master Resolution has been
duly and effectively taken, and that the Series 2023 Bonds in the hands of the Bondholders are and
will be valid and enforceable special, limited obligations of the Authority according to the terms
thereof and hereof.

Section 5.3.  Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance. The Authority covenants
that it will own the Project and any property becoming a part of the Project shall be acquired and
kept free of all liens and encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances. The Authority will
defend the title to and interest in the Project and each part thereof, for the benefit of the
Bondholders against the claims and demands of all persons whomsoever, except for claims and
demands arising from Permitted Encumbrances as provided in the Master Lease. To the extent
necessary and to the extent it may lawfully do so, the City will join with the Authority in any action
taken by the Authority pursuant to the provisions of the preceding sentence. The Authority will
do, execute, acknowledge, and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged, and delivered
such resolutions supplemental hereto and such further acts, instruments, and transfers as

18
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



reasonably required for the better assuring, transferring, conveying, pledging, assigning and
confirming all and singular the Project, the Base Rentals, Purchase Option Price, and other
amounts pledged hereby to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.
The Authority, except as herein and in the Master Lease provided, will not sell, convey, mortgage,
encumber, or otherwise dispose of any part of the Project or the Base Rentals, the Additional
Rentals, Purchase Option Price, revenues, and receipts therefrom or its rights under the Master
Lease, together with any additions thereto and substitutions therefor, subject to Permitted
Encumbrances.

Section 5.4.  Perfection of Security Interest.

(a) This Master Resolution creates a valid and binding pledge and assignment
of and security interest in all of the personal property pledged as part of the Project, Base
Rental, and Additional Rentals under this Master Resolution as security for payment of the
Series 2023 Bonds, enforceable by the Bondholder in accordance with the terms thereof.

(b) Under the laws of the State, such pledge and assignment and security
interest is automatically perfected by Section 11-14-501, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as
amended, and is and shall be prior to any judicial lien hereafter imposed on the personal
property pledged as part of the Project to enforce a judgment against the Authority on a
simple contract.

Section 5.5. Inspection of Project Books. All books and records of the Authority
wherever located relating to the Project and the Base Rentals, the Additional Rentals, Purchase
Option Price, and other amounts derived from the Project shall at all reasonable times be open to
inspection by such accountants or other agents as the Bondholders may from time to time
designate.

Section 5.6.  List of Bondholders. The Authority shall keep a list of names and addresses
of the Bondholders of all Series 2023 Bonds as from time to time registered on the registration
books of the Authority maintained by the Bond Registrar, together with the principal amount and
numbers of such Series 2023 Bonds. At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations, said
list may be inspected and copied by the City or by Bondholders (or a designated representative
thereof) of fifteen percent (15%) or more in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds
then Outstanding, such ownership and the authority of such designated representative to be
evidenced to the satisfaction of the Authority.

Section 5.7.  Rights under Master Lease and the Security Documents. The Master Lease
and the Security Documents set forth the covenants and obligations of the Authority and the City.
Reference is hereby made to the same for a detailed statement of said covenants and obligations
of the Authority and the City thereunder, and the Authority may enforce all rights of the Authority
and all obligations of the City under and pursuant to the Master Lease and the Security Documents
for and on behalf of the Bondholders, whether or not the Authority is in default hereunder.

Section 5.8. Designation of the Secretary as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent and
Designation of Any Additional Paying Agents. The Secretary is hereby designated and agrees to
act as Registrar and Paying Agent for and in respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. The Authority may

15
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



appoint additional paying agents from time to time by giving notice of such appointments to the
Bondholders. The Authority hereby covenants and agrees to cause the necessary arrangements to
be made for the making available of funds hereunder for the payment of such of the Series 2023
Bonds as shall be presented when due at the principal office of the Paying Agent.

Section 5.9.  Filing of Records. So long as any Series 2023 Bonds remain outstanding,
proper books of record and account will be kept by the Authority separate and apart from all other
records and accounts, showing complete and correct entries of all transactions relating to the
Project. Each Bondholder or any duly authorized agent or agents of such holder shall have the
right at all reasonable times to inspect all records, accounts, and data relating thereto and to mspect
the Project and all properties constituting the Project. Except as otherwise provided herein, the
Authority further agrees that it will within one hundred eighty (180) days following the close of
each fiscal year (the term “fiscal year” as used in this subsection meaning whatever twelve-month
period the Authority may from time to time be using for general financial accounting purposes)
cause an annual financial report of such books and accounts to be made by an independent firm of
certified public accountants, showing the receipts and disbursements for account of the Project,
and that such annual financial report will be available for inspection by each Bondholder; provided,
however, during such periods of time as the CIB is the registered owner of the State Bond, each
such annual financial report will be supplied to the CIB as soon as completed without prior request
therefor by the CIB. Each such annual financial report, in addition to whatever matters may be
thought proper by the accountant to be included therein, shall include the following:

(a) A statement in detail of the income and expenditures of the Project for such
fiscal year;

(b) A balance sheet as of the end of such fiscal year;

(©) The accountant’s comments regarding the manner in which the Authority
has carried out the requirements of this Master Resolution, and the accountant’s
recommendations for any change or improvement;

(d) A list of the insurance policies in force at the end of the fiscal year, setting
out as to each policy, the amount of the policy, the risks covered, the name of the insurer,
and the expiration date of the policy; and

(e) An analysis of all funds and accounts created in this Master Resolution,
setting out all deposits and disbursements made during the fiscal year and the amount in
each fund or account at the end of the fiscal year.

The CIB may, upon written request from the Authority setting forth the reasons why an
annual financial report is not necessary or is impractical, waive the annual financial report
requirements for any particular fiscal year set forth in this Section 5.9.

20
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE VI
REVENUES AND FUNDS

Section 6.1.  Source of Payment of Bond. The Series 2023 Bonds herein authorized and
all payments by the Authority hereunder are not general obligations of the Authority but are
special, limited obligations payable solely from the Base Rentals and the Purchase Option Price
and other amounts derived from the Project under the Master Lease and as provided herein.

The Project has been leased under the Master Lease and the Base Rentals and the Purchase
Option Price provided in Sections 6.2 and 12.1, respectively, of the Master Lease are to be remitted
directly to the Authority and deposited in the Bond Fund along with all other moneys authorized
or required to be deposited in the Bond Fund under the Master Lease. Such Base Rentals and
Purchase Option Price are hereby pledged to such payment.

Section 6.2.  Creation of Bond Fund. There is hereby created and held by the Authority
and ordered established a fund to be designated ‘“Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City,
Utah Bond Fund,” which shall be used to pay the principal of the Series 2023 Bonds.

Section 6.3.  Payments into Bond Fund. There shall be deposited into the Bond Fund, all
accrued interest received, if any, as and when received, (i) any amount in the Escrow Account
directed to be paid into the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 7.3 of the Master Lease or any amount
in the Reserve Fund directed to be paid into the Bond Fund in accordance with the provisions of
Section 6.7 hereof; (ii) any Net Proceeds of any insurance policy, performance bond, or
condemnation award to be deposited in the Bond Fund pursuant to Sections 10.2 and 10.3 of the
Master Lease; (ii1) all Base Rentals, and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price with respect
to the Project specified in Sections 6.2 and 12.1 of the Master Lease; and (iv) all other moneys
received by the Authority under and pursuant to any of the provisions of the Master Lease which
are required or which are accompanied by directions that such moneys are to be paid into the Bond
Fund. The Authority hereby covenants and agrees that so long as any of the Series 2023 Bonds
issued hereunder are Outstanding, it will deposit in the Bond Fund for its account, any moneys
which are pledged under this Master Resolution for the payment of the principal of and interest on
the Series 2023 Bonds and which are required to be deposited into the Bond Fund.

The Authority covenants and agrees that should there be an Event of Default or an Event
of Non-appropriation under the Master Lease with the result that the right of possession of the
Project is returned to the Authority, the Authority shall fully cooperate with the Bondholders to
fully protect the rights and security of the Bondholders and shall diligently proceed in good faith
and, if requested by any Bondholder, shall use its best efforts to secure a purchaser or another
lessee of the Project so that at all times sufficient rents and other amounts will be derived from the
Project promptly to meet and pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds as the
same become due and payable, as well as to cover the cost of all Additional Rentals with respect
to the Project required under the Master Lease. Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring the
Authority to operate the Project or to use any funds or revenues from any source other than the
rents and other amounts derived from the Project.

21
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 6.4.  Use of Moneys in Bond Fund. Except as provided herein, moneys in the
Bond Fund shall be used solely for the payment of the principal of the Series 2023 Bonds including
mandatory sinking fund payments, if any, of principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds,
and for the redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds prior to maturity, and the Bond Fund shall be
depleted for such purposes at least annually. The Authority shall maintain subaccounts within the
Bond Fund with respect to each series of Series 2023 Bonds in order to properly utilize all moneys
deposited therein for their intended purposes, it being the intent hereof that, except as otherwise
provided herein, all Series 2023 Bonds authorized hereunder will be equally secured by an equal
lien pledge of moneys deposited in the Bond Fund.

Section 6.5.  Custody of Bond Fund. The Bond Fund shall be in the custody of the
Authority, and the Authority shall withdraw sufficient funds from the Bond Fund to pay the
principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds as the same become due and payable, and to
utilize the moneys in the Bond Fund as provided in Section 6.4 hereof.

Section 6.6.  Creation of Reserve Fund. There is hereby created and established with the
Authority a trust fund in the name of the Authority to be designated “Municipal Building Authority
of Tooele City, Utah Reserve Fund” which shall be expended in accordance with the provisions
of Section 6.7 hereof.

Section 6.7.  Deposit to and Use of Moneys in the Reserve Fund. Beginning October 1,
2025, and thereafter on the first day of each October, the Authority will deposit the amount of
approximately $82,160), in six (6) annual installments until there is on deposit in the Reserve Fund,
the Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2023 Bonds in the amount of $492,960. The
Authority may maintain subaccounts within the Reserve Fund in order to properly utilize all
moneys deposited therein for their intended purposes. Any moneys held in the Reserve Fund shall
be invested and reinvested by the Authority in Investment Obligations. Moneys held in the
Reserve Fund shall be applied as follows:

(a) If within five (5) Business Days of any Principal Payment Date the moneys
held in the Bond Fund are insufficient to pay all interest and principal then becoming due,
the Authority shall transfer, on or before such date, moneys from the Reserve Fund to the
Bond Fund to the extent that the amount of money so transferred plus all moneys then held
in the Bond Fund shall be sufficient to pay all interest, if any and principal payments then
becoming due and payable on such date; and

(b) In the event that the City shall exercise its option to purchase the Project
and terminate its payment obligations under the Master Lease upon payment of the
Purchase Option Price, the Authority shall transfer all moneys held in the Reserve Fund to
the Bond Fund.

In the event moneys are drawn from the Reserve Fund to pay principal of and/or interest
on the Series 2023 Bonds such that there shall be remaining in said fund an amount less than the
Reserve Fund Requirement, the Authority shall replenish the Reserve Fund to the Reserve Fund
Requirement upon the deposit of Additional Rentals to be paid by the City pursuant to Section 6.2
of the Master Lease.

22
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



On each December 1, any moneys held in the Reserve Fund in excess of the Reserve Fund
Requirement shall be immediately transferred to the Bond Fund. To the extent so paid, such excess
shall reduce the amount of the succeeding Base Rental otherwise payable under the Master Lease.

Section 6.8.  Deposit of Series 2023 Bonds Proceeds: Disbursements. The proceeds from
the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds shall be deposited at the time of delivery in the Escrow Account
to be administered by the Escrow Agent as provided in the Escrow Agreement. All monies
deposited in the Escrow Account shall be used solely for the purpose of defraying all or a portion
of the costs of the Project including the payment of costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.
Any unexpended balance from proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds remaining in the Escrow
Account after completion of the Project shall be deposited in the Bond Fund and used to redeem
the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to Section 4.1 with such proceeds being applied to the Series 2023
Bonds. Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds on deposit in the Escrow Account may
be invested as provided in the Escrow Agreement. Following the transfer of unexpended funds
from the Escrow Account, the Escrow Account will be closed.

Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Series 2023 Bond. In the event that any Series 2023
Bonds shall not be presented for payment when the principal thereof becomes due, either at
maturity, or at the date fixed for prepayment or redemption thereof, or otherwise, if funds sufficient
to pay any such Series 2023 Bond are on deposit with the Authority for the benefit of the
Bondholder or Bondholders thereof, all liability of the Authority to the Bondholder thereof for the
payment of such Series 2023 Bond shall forthwith cease, terminate, and be completely discharged,
and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Paying Agent to hold such funds, without liability for
interest thereon, for the benefit of the Bondholder of such Series 2023 Bond who shall thereafter
be restricted exclusively to such funds, for any claim of whatever nature on its part under this
Master Resolution, the Security Documents or on, or with respect to, such Series 2023 Bond.

Section 6.10. Repayment to the City from Bond Fund or Reserve Fund. Any amounts
remaining in the Bond Fund or the Reserve Fund after payment in full of the principal of and
interest on the Series 2023 Bonds and all other amounts required to be paid hereunder shall be paid
immediately to the City as an overpayment of Base Rentals.

Section 6.11. Custody of Separate Trust Fund. The Authority shall hold all Net Proceeds
from any insurance policies, performance bond, or condemnation awards and disburse such
proceeds in accordance with Article X of the Master Lease. If the City directs that the Net Proceeds
be applied to redeem the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to Section 10.3 of the Master Lease, the
Authority covenants and agrees to transfer such funds to the Bond Fund and to redeem the Series
2023 Bonds as provided in Section 4.1 herein.

23
4855-4387-1368, V. 2



ARTICLE VII
INVESTMENT OF MONEYS

Section 7.1.  Authority to Invest Funds. Any moneys held as part of the Bond Fund, the
Reserve Fund, or any other fund shall be invested and reinvested by the Authority in Investment
Obligations in accordance with the provisions hereof and Section 7.5 of the Master Lease. The
Reserve Fund is to be invested in Investment Obligations with maturities of less than twelve
months. The Authority shall sell and reduce to cash a sufficient amount of such investments
whenever the cash balance in the Bond Fund is insufficient to pay the principal of and interest on
the Series 2023 Bonds when due.

Section 7.2.  Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation. In computing the amount
in any Fund or account, Investment Obligations shall be valued at the market value of such
Obligations, exclusive of accrued interest. All funds and accounts are to be marked to market
valuation conducted on an annual basis by the Authority.

ARTICLE VIII
RIGHTS OF THE CITY

Section 8.1.  Subordination of Rights to City. This Master Resolution and the rights and
privileges hereunder of the holders of the Series 2023 Bond are specifically made subject to and
subordinate to the rights and privileges of the City set forth in the Master Lease to exercise its
option to purchase the Project in the event of, and subsequent to, the occurrence of an Event of
Default, but prior to the liquidation of the Project; provided, however, that as a condition of the
exercise of such option, the City must pay, in addition to the Purchase Option Price, any interest
payment deficiencies accruing from the date of the Event of Default or Event of Non-
appropriation. The Authority agrees that it shall execute and deliver any instrument necessary or
appropriate at any time to confirm evidence or enable the City to enjoy such rights and privileges,
including without limitation, those referred to in Section 8.2 hereof,

Section 8.2.  Granting of Rightsin and to the Project. Reference is made to the provisions
of the Master Lease, including without limitation Section 11.6 of the Master Lease, whereby the
Authority and the City have reserved the right to grant rights in and to certain portions of the
Project upon compliance with the terms and conditions of the Master Lease.

Section 8.3.  Release of Equipment Forming a Part of the Project. Reference is made to
the provisions of the Master Lease, whereby the City may withdraw certain items of equipment
forming a part of the Project upon substitution of other property of comparable or greater value,
or upon deposit of sale proceeds in the Bond Fund, in conformity with the terms and conditions of
the Master Lease.

24
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE IX
DISCHARGE OF LIEN

If the Authority shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall be otherwise paid or provisions
for payment made to or for the Bondholders, the principal of and interest due or to become due on
the Series 2023 Bonds at the times and in the manner stipulated therein, and if the Authority shall
not then be in default in any of the other covenants and promises in the Series 2023 Bonds and the
Security Documents and in this Master Resolution expressed as to be kept, performed, and
observed by it or on its part, then these presents and the estate and rights hereby granted shall
cease, determine, and be void, whereupon the Authority shall cancel and discharge the lien of this
Master Resolution, and release, assign, and deliver unto the City any and all the estate, right, title,
and interest in and to any and all rights or otherwise subject to the lien of this Master Resolution,
including amounts in the Bond Fund and the Reserve Fund required to be paid to the City under
Section 6.10 of this Master Resolution and all rights granted under the Security Documents, except
moneys or securities held by the Authority for the payment of the principal of and interest on the
Series 2023 Bonds.

Any Series 2023 Bonds shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article and
for all purposes of this Master Resolution when payment of the principal of and the applicable
redemption premium, if any, on such Series 2023 Bond to the due date thereof (whether such due
date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption as provided in this Master Resolution, or
otherwise), either (i) shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms
thereof, or (ii) the Authority shall have irrevocably set aside in trust exclusively for such payment,
(1) moneys sufficient to make such payment, and/or (2) noncallable Government Obligations
maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such times as will ensure, without
reinvestment, the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment. At such time as a Series
2023 Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, it shall no longer be secured by or
entitled to the benefits of this Master Resolution or the Security Documents, except for the
purposes of any such payment from such moneys or Government Obligations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no deposit under clause (ii) of the immediately preceding
paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Series 2023 Bond as aforesaid until: (a) proper
notice of redemption of such Series 2023 Bond shall have been previously given in accordance
with Article IV of this Master Resolution, or in the event said Series 2023 Bond are not by their
terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, until the Authority shall
have given notice to the Bondholders of the Series 2023 Bond, in accordance with Article IV
hereof, that the deposit required by (ii) above has been made with the Authority and that said Series
2023 Bond are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Article IX, and stating such
maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal
or redemption price, if applicable, on said Series 2023 Bond and to call for redemption pursuant
to this Master Resolution any Series 2023 Bond to be redeemed prior to maturity; or (b) the
maturity of such Series 2023 Bond.

All moneys so deposited with the Authority as provided in this Article IX may at the
direction of the Authority also be invested and reinvested in Government Obligations, maturing in
the amounts and at times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all Government Obligations

25
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



in the hands of the Authority pursuant to this Article IX which is not required for the payment of
the Series 2023 Bonds and interest thereon with respect to which such moneys shall have been so
deposited, shall be deposited in the Bond Fund as and when realized and collected for use and
application as are other moneys deposited in that fund.

Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article of this Master Resolution which may
be contrary to the provisions of this Article, all moneys or Government Obligations set aside and
held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Article IX for the payment of Series 2023 Bond shall
be applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Series 2023 Bond (including interest
and premium thereof, if any) with respect to which such moneys and Government Obligations
have been so set aside in trust.

26
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE X
DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES

Section 10.1. Events of Default. If any of the following events occur, it is hereby declared
to constitute an “Event of Default” under this Master Resolution:

(a) Failure to pay when due the principal of and interest on any Series 2023
Bonds, whether at the stated maturity thereof, or upon proceedings for redemption thereof,
or upon the maturity thereof by declaration;

(b) Failure to perform or observe any other of the covenants, agreements, or
conditions on the part of the Authority in this Master Resolution or in the Series 2023
Bonds contained and failure to remedy the same after notice thereof pursuant to Section
10.13 hereof;

(c) The occurrence of an Event of Default under the terms of any of the Bond
Documents on the part of either the Authority or the City;

(d) The Authority shall for any reason be rendered incapable of fulfilling its
obligations hereunder;

(e) The Authority (i) is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction,
(i1) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, (iii) files a
petition in bankruptcy, (iv) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (v) consents
to the appointment of a receiver of itself or property with respect to the Project;

§3) An order, judgment, or decree shall be entered by any court of competent
jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of the Authority, a receiver of the Authority or
of the property with respect to the Project, and such order, judgment, or decree shall not be
vacated or set aside or stayed within sixty (60) days from the date of such appointment;

(g2) A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment, or decree
approving a petition filed against the Authority under the provisions of any bankruptcy act
and such order, judgment, or decree shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within sixty
(60) days from the date of entry of such order, judgment or decree;

(h) Under the provisions of any other law now or hereafter existing for the relief
or aid of debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of
the Authority or of the property with respect to the Project or any part thereof, and such
custody or control shall not be terminated within sixty (60) days from the date of
assumption of such custody or control, or

(1) Subject to the limitations contained in the Master Lease, the Authority shall
unreasonably delay or fail to carry on with reasonable dispatch, or shall discontinue
construction of any substantial part of the Project.

27
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 10.2.  Acceleration, Limitation on Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default, the Bondholders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount
of the Series 2023 Bonds Outstanding may, by notice in writing delivered to the Authority, declare
the principal of all Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding and the interest accrued thereon
immediately due and payable, and such principal and interest shall become and be immediately
due and payable. With respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, such amounts of principal and interest
payable thereon shall bear interest from the date of acceleration, as herein provided, until paid at
the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, unless otherwise waived in whole or in part by the
Bondholder.

Upon any sale made either under the power of sale given in this Article X or given in the
Security Documents or under a judgment, order, or decree made in any judicial proceedings for
the foreclosure or enforcement of this Master Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Security
Documents, the principal of all Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding, if not previously due, shall
at once become and be immediately due and payable without declaration or notice by the
Bondholders.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Master Resolution, no
deficiency judgment upon foreclosure of the lien of this Master Resolution or of the Security
Documents against the Project may be entered against the City or the Authority, and no breach of
any provision of the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Security Documents, or the Master
Resolution shall impose any general obligation or liability upon or a charge against the City or the
Authority or upon the general credit or taxing powers of the City. Additionally, no judgment
requiring a payment of money may be entered against the City by reason of an Event of Default
or an Event of Non-appropriation under the Master Lease.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the rights and privileges of the
Bondholders are subject to the right of the City to purchase the Project as set forth in the Master
Lease and the Bondholders shall make no final sale or other final disposition of any interest in the
Project pursuant to any available foreclosure remedy without notifying the City in writing of the
occurrence of an Event of Default, and allowing the City ninety (90) days from the mailing of such
notice to exercise its option to purchase the Project.

Section 10.3. Surrender of Possession of Project; Rights and Duties of Authority in
Possession. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this Master Resolution, the
Authority, upon demand of the Bondholders, shall forthwith surrender, and it shall be lawful for
the Bondholders, by such officer or agent as they may appoint, to take possession of all or any part
of the Project together with the books, papers, and accounts of the Authority pertaining thereto,
and including the rights and the possession of the Authority with respect to the Project under the
Master Lease and the Ground Lease to make all needful repairs and improvements as the
Bondholders shall deem wise. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Bondholders may
execute a written notice of default and an election to cause the Project or any portion thereof to be
sold (subject to the reversionary rights of the City retained in the Project Site under the Ground
Lease) to satisfy the obligations of the Authority under this Master Resolution in accordance with
the provisions of the Security Documents and/or may cause a sale of personal property as provided
by law. The Bondholders may also lease or otherwise dispose of the Project in the name and for
the account of the Authority and in such manner as the Bondholders, in their sole discretion, may

28
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



elect. In connection with any such sale or leasing of the Project, the Bondholders may collect,
receive, and sequester the rental payments, revenues, earnings, income, products, and profits
therefrom, and out of the same and any moneys received from any receiver pay, or set up the proper
reserve for the payment of, all proper costs and expenses of so taking, holding, leasing, selling,
and managing the same, including reasonable compensation to the Bondholders, its agents and
counsel, and any charges of the Bondholders hereunder, and any taxes and assessments and other
charges prior to the lien of this Master Resolution and the Security Documents which the
Bondholders may deem it wise to pay, and all expenses of such repairs and improvement, and
apply the remainder of the moneys so received in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.8
hereof. Whenever all that is due upon the Series 2023 Bonds shall have been paid and all defaults
made, cured, or waived, the Bondholders shall surrender whatever possession the Bondholders
shall retain to the Authority; the same right of entry, however, to exist upon any subsequent Event
of Default.

While in possession of such property the Bondholders shall render annually to the
Authority and the City, at their addresses set forth in the registration book required by Section 5.6
hereof, a summarized statement of income and expenditures in connection therewith.

While any Series 2023 Bonds are Outstanding, the Authority shall not exercise any of the
remedies on default specified in Section 14.2 of the Master Lease without the prior written consent
of the Bondholders.

Section 10.4. Other Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. Except as otherwise limited by
the provisions of this Master Resolution, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this
Master Resolution, the Bondholders may pursue any available remedy by suit at law or in equity
to enforce the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding.

No remedy by the terms of this Master Resolution conferred upon or reserved to the
Bondholders is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy
shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Bondholders
hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default or Event of
Default under this Master Resolution shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to
be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein; and such right and
power may be exercised from time to time as often as may be deemed expedient.

No waiver of any default or Event of Default hereunder by the Bondholders shall extend
to or shall affect any subsequent default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies
consequent thereon.

Section 10.5. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. The Bondholders of a majority
in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right at
any time to direct the method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection
with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Master Resolution, or for the appointment
of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder; provided that such direction shall not be
otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Master Resolution.

29
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 10.6. Appointment of Receivers. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default
under this Master Resolution, and upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial
proceedings to enforce the rights of the Bondholders under this Master Resolution, the
Bondholders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then
Outstanding shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Project and of the
rents, revenues, earnings, income, products, and profits thereof, pending such proceedings, with
such powers as the court making such appointment shall confer.

Section 10.7. Waiver. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this Master
Resolution, to the extent that such rights may then lawfully be waived, neither the Authority, nor
anyone claiming through or under it, shall set up, claim, or seek to take advantage of any
appraisement, valuation, stay, extension, or redemption laws now or hereafter in force, in order to
prevent or hinder the enforcement of this Master Resolution, and the Authority, for itself and all
who may claim through or under it, hereby waives, to the extent that it lawfully may do so, the
benefit of all such laws.

Section 10.8. Application of Moneys. All moneys received on behalf of the Bondholders
pursuant to any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article shall, after payment
of the costs and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys and of the
expenses, liabilities, and advances incurred or made, be deposited in the Bond Fund and all moneys
in the Bond Fund shall be applied as follows:

(a) Unless the principal of all the Series 2023 Bonds shall have become or shall
have been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied:

FIRST — To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid
principal of and interest on any of the Series 2023 Bonds which shall have become
due (other than Bond matured or called for redemption for the payment of which
moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of this Master Resolution), in the order
of their due dates, from the respective dates upon which they became due (with
interest on overdue installments of interest, at the same rate as the rate of the
respective Bond or Bonds which are past due) and, if the amount available shall not
be sufficient to pay in full the Series 2023 Bonds due on any particular date, then
to the payment ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to
the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege; and

SECOND — To be held for the payment to the persons entitled thereto as
the same shall become due of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds
which may thereafter become due either at maturity or upon call for redemption
prior to maturity and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full
the Series 2023 Bonds due on any particular date, payment shall be made ratably
according to the amount of principal due on such date to the persons entitled thereto
without any discrimination or privilege.

(b) If the principal of all the Series 2023 Bonds shall have become due or shall
have been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of
the principal then due and unpaid upon the Series 2023 Bonds, without preference or

30
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



priority of principal over interest or interest over principal, or any installment of interest
over any other installment of interest of any Series 2023 Bonds over any other Series 2023
Bonds, ratably, according to the amounts due for principal and interest, to the persons
entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege, plus, if available, with interest on
overdue installments of interest and principal at the same rate as the rate of the respective
Bond or Bonds which are past due.

(©) If the principal of and interest on all the Series 2023 Bonds shall have been
declared due and payable, and if such declarations shall thereafter have been rescinded and
annulled under the provisions of this Article X then, subject to the provisions of Section
10.8(b) of this Master Resolution in the event that the principal of and interest on all the
Series 2023 Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys shall
be applied in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.8(a) this Master Resolution.

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section 10.8, such
moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as any duly appointed receiver shall
determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the
likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future. Setting
aside such moneys in trust for the proper purpose shall constitute proper application by such
receiver, and such receiver shall have no liability whatsoever to the Bondholders or to any other
person for any delay in applying any such moneys, so long as the receiver acts with reasonable
diligence, having due regard for the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in accordance
with the circumstances known at the time of the application by the receiver. Whenever the
Authority or a receiver shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be a Principal
Payment Date unless it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to
be made and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date shall cease
to accrue. The Authority shall not be required to make payment on any Series 2023 Bond until
such Bond shall be presented for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid.

Whenever the principal of and interest on all the Series 2023 Bonds has been paid under
the provisions of this Section 10.8 and all expenses and charges of the Authority have been paid
any balance remaining in the Bond Fund shall be paid to the City as provided in Section 6.10 of
this Master Resolution as overpayment of Base Rentals.

Section 10.9. Remedies Vested. All rights of action under this Master Resolution or under
any of the Series 2023 Bonds may be enforced by or on behalf of the Bondholders without the
possession of any of the Series 2023 Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other
proceeding relating thereto and any such suit or proceeding instituted for or by the Bondholders
shall be brought for the equal and ratable benefit of the Bondholders of the Outstanding Bond.

Section 10.10. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders. No Bondholder shall have any right
to institute any suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity for the enforcement of this Master
Resolution or for the execution of any trust hereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any other
remedy hereunder, unless such default shall have become an Event of Default under this Master
Resolution; it being understood and intended that no one or more Bondholders shall have any right
in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb, or prejudice the lien of this Master Resolution by its,
his, her, or their action or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided,

i |
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner
herein provided and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Bondholders of all Series 2023 Bonds
then Outstanding. However, nothing contained in this Master Resolution shall affect or impair the
right of any Bondholder to enforce the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest
on the Series 2023 Bonds at and after the maturity thereof, or the obligation of the Authority to
pay the Series 2023 Bonds issued hereunder to the respective Bondholders thereof at the time,
place, from the source and in the manner in the Series 2023 Bonds expressed.

Section 10.11. Termination of Proceedings. In case the Bondholders shall have proceeded
to enforce any right under this Master Resolution by the appointment of a receiver or otherwise,
and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have
been determined adversely, then and in every such case the Authority and the Bondholders shall
be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder respectively, and all rights, remedies,
and powers of the Bondholders shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 10.12. Waivers of Events of Default. The Bondholders may waive any Event of
Default under this Master Resolution and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity
of principal; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (i) any Event of Default under this
Master Resolution in the payment of the principal of any Outstanding Bond at the date of maturity
specified therein, or (ii) any Event of Default in the payment when due of principal and interest or
all arrears of payments of principal and interest when due, as the case may be, both with interest
at the same rate as the rate of the respective Bond or Bonds which are past due, and all expenses
of the Bondholders, in connection with such Event of Default shall have been paid or provided for,
and in cases of any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by Bondholders on
account of any such Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined
adversely, then and in every such case the Authority and the Bondholders shall be restored to their
former positions and rights hereunder respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend
to any subsequent or other Event of Default, or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 10.13. Notice of Events of Default under Section 10.1(b); Opportunity of the
Authority and the City to Cure Such Events of Default. Anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, no default under Section 10.1(b) hereof shall constitute an Event of Default under
this Master Resolution until actual notice of such default by registered or certified mail shall be
given to the Authority and the City by the Bondholders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%)
in aggregate principal amount of all Bond Outstanding, and the Authority and the City shall have
had thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to correct said default or cause said default to be
corrected, and shall not have corrected said default or caused said default to be corrected within
the applicable period; provided, however, that, if said default be such that it cannot be corrected
within the applicable period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Master
Resolution if corrective action is instituted by the Authority and the City within the applicable
period and diligently pursued, to the satisfaction of the Bondholders until the default is corrected.

With regard to any default concerning which notice is given to the Authority and the City
under the provisions of this Section 10.13, the Authority hereby grants the City full authority for
account of the Authority to perform any covenant or obligation alleged in said notice to constitute
a default, in the name and stead of the Authority with full power to do any and all things and acts

32
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



to the same extent that the Authority could do and perform any such things and acts and with power
of substitution.

ARTICLE XI
SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS

Section 11.1. Supplemental Resolutions Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders. The
Authority may, without consent of, or notice to, any of the Bondholders enter into a resolution or
resolutions supplemental to this Master Resolution which shall not be inconsistent with the terms
and provisions hereof for any one or more of the following purposes:

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Master
Resolution;

(b) To grant to or confer upon the Bondholders any additional rights, remedies,
powers, or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Bondholders;

(©) To subject to this Master Resolution additional revenues, properties, or
collateral,;

(d) To modify, amend, or supplement this Master Resolution or any resolution
supplemental hereto in such matter as to permit the qualification hereof and thereof under
the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in
effect or to permit the qualification of the Series 2023 Bonds for sale under the securities
laws of any of the states of the United States of America, and, if they so determine, to add
to this Master Resolution or any resolution supplemental hereto such other terms,
conditions, and provisions as may be determined by said laws;

(e) To evidence the appointment of a separate paying agent or the succession
of a paying agent hereunder;

(f) To issue Refunding Bonds or Additional Bonds in accordance with this
Master Resolution and the Master Lease; provided, however, that so long as the CIB is the
owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority must obtain its prior written approval for
the issuance of Additional or Refunding Bonds; and

(g) To make any other change that does not materially adversely affect the
rights of any Bondholder.

Section 11.2. Supplemental Resolutions Requiring Consent of Bondholders. Exclusive
of supplemental resolutions covered by Section 11.1 hereof and subject to the terms and provisions
contained in this Section 11.2, and not otherwise, the Bondholders of not less than fifty-one percent
(51%) in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding shall have the
right, from time to time, anything contained in this Master Resolution to the contrary
notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the execution by the Authority of such other resolution
or resolutions supplemental hereto as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the Authority
for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to, or rescinding, in any particular, any

3
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



of the terms or provisions contained in this Master Resolutions or in any supplemental resolution;
provided, however, that nothing in this Section 11.2 or in Section 11.1 hereof contained shall
permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) an extension of the maturity of the principal of any Series
2023 Bonds issued hereunder, or (ii) a reduction in the principal amount of, or redemption
premium on, any Series 2023 Bonds, or the rate of interest thereon or (iii) a privilege or priority
of any Series 2023 Bonds over any other Series 2023 Bonds, or (iv) a reduction in the aggregate
principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds required for consent to such supplemental resolutions,
or (v) the creation of any lien ranking prior to or on a parity with the lien of this Master Resolution,
the Master Lease, and the Security Documents on the Project any part thereof (except in connection
with the issuance of Refunding Bond or Additional Bond), or (vi) the deprivation with respect to
the Bondholder of any Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding of the lien hereby created on the
Project, without the prior consent of the Bondholders of one hundred percent (100%) of the Series
2023 Bonds affected by such action.

If at any time the Authority shall desire to enter into any such supplemental resolution for
any of the purposes of this Section 11.2, it shall cause notice of the proposed adoption of such
supplemental resolution to be given by registered or certified mail to the Bondholder of each Series
2023 Bond shown by the list of Bondholders required by the terms of Section 5.6 hereof. Such
notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the proposed supplemental resolution and shall state that
copies thereof are on file at the principal office of the Authority for inspection by all Bondholders.
If the Bondholders of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of the
Bond Outstanding at the time of the execution of any such supplemental resolution shall have
consented to and approved the execution thereof as herein provided, no holder of any Series 2023
Bonds shall have any right to object to any of the terms and provisions contained therein, or the
operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the execution thereof, or to enjoin
or restrain the Authority from adopting the same or from taking any action pursuant to the
provisions thereof. Upon the execution of any such supplemental resolution as in this Article XI
permitted and provided, this Master Resolution shall be and be deemed to be modified and
amended in accordance therewith.

Anything therein to the contrary notwithstanding, so long as no Event of Default or Event
of Non-appropriation with respect to the Project shall have occurred and be continuing under the
Master Lease, a supplemental resolution under this Article shall not become effective unless and
until the City shall have consented to the execution and delivery of such supplemental resolution.
In this regard, the Authority shall cause notice of the proposed adoption of any such supplemental
resolution together with a copy of the proposed supplemental resolution to be delivered to the City
at least fifteen (15) days prior to the proposed date of adoption of any such supplemental resolution.
The City shall be deemed to have consented to the adoption and delivery of any such supplemental
resolution if the Authority does not receive a letter of protest or objection thereto signed by or on
behalf of the City on or before the fifteenth (15th) day after the mailing of said notice.

ARTICLE XII
AMENDMENT OF MASTER LEASE

Section 12.1. Amendments, etc. to Master [.ease Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders.
The Authority and the City shall without the consent of or notice to the Bondholders consent to

34
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



any amendment, change, or modification of the Master Lease as may be required (i) by the
provisions of this Master Resolution and the Master Lease (including those provisions applicable
to the issuance of Refunding Bond and Additional Bond), (ii) for the purpose of curing any
ambiguity or formal defect or omission, (iii) so as to more precisely identify the Project or the
Project Site described in Exhibit A to the Master Lease and Exhibit C to this Master Resolution or
substitute or add additional improvements or equipment to the Project or additional rights or
interests in property acquired in accordance with the provisions of the Master Lease, (iv) in
connection with any amendment to this Master Resolution pursuant to Section 11.1 hereof, or (v)
in connection with any other change therein which, in the judgment of the Authority, is not to the
prejudice of the Bondholders.

Section 12.2. Amendments, etc. to the Master Lease Requiring Consent of Bondholders.
Except for the amendments, changes, or modifications as provided in Section 12.1 hereof, the
Authority shall not consent to any other amendment, change, or modification of the Master Lease
without mailing of notice and receipt of the written approval or consent of the Bondholders of not
less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bond to be
affected at the time Outstanding given as in this Section 12.2 provided. If at any time the Authority
and the City shall request the consent of the Bondholders to any such proposed amendment,
change, or modification of the Master Lease, the Authority shall cause notice of such proposed
amendment, change, or modification to be given in the same manner as provided by Section 11.2
of this Master Resolution with respect to supplemental resolutions. Such notice shall briefly set
forth the nature of such proposed amendment, change, or modification and shall state that copies
of the instrument embodying the same are on file at the office of the Authority for inspection by
all Bondholders. No such amendment, change, or modification of the Master Lease shall reduce
the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bond the Bondholders of which are required to
consent to any amendment, change, or modification of such Master Lease, or reduce or postpone
payments required to be made under the Master Lease without the consent of all of the Bondholders
of the Bond Outstanding. Approval or consent shall be evidenced in a manner acceptable to the
Authority.

35
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.1. Consents, etc. of Bondholders. Any consent, request, direction, approval,
objection, or other instrument required by this Master Resolution to be signed and executed by the
Bondholders may be in any number of concurrent documents and may be executed by such
Bondholders in person or by an agent appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such
consent, request, direction, approval, objection, or other instrument or of the writing appointing
any such agent and of the ownership of the Series 2023 Bonds, if made in the following manner,
shall be sufficient for any of the purposes of this Master Resolution, namely:

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may
be proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take
acknowledgments within such jurisdiction that the person signing such writing
acknowledged before him the execution thereof, or by an affidavit of any witness to such
execution.

(b) The fact of ownership of the Series 2023 Bonds and the amount or amounts,
numbers, and other identification of such Bond, and the date of holding the same, shall be
proved by the registration books of the Authority pursuant to Section 3.6 of this Master
Resolution.

Section 13.2. Limitation of Rights. With the exception of any rights herein expressly
conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Master Resolution, the
Security Documents, or the Series 2023 Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any
person or company other than the parties hereto, and the holders of the Series 2023 Bonds, any
legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim under or with respect to this Master Resolution or any
covenants, conditions, and provisions herein contained; this Master Resolution and all of the
covenants, conditions, and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and
exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the Bondholders as herein provided.

Section 13.3. Severability. If any provision of this Master Resolution shall be held or
deemed to be or shall, in fact, be illegal, inoperative, or unenforceable, the same shall not affect
any other provision or provisions herein contained or render the same invalid, inoperative, or
unenforceable to any extent whatsoever.

Section 13.4. Notices. Any notice, request, complaint, demand, communication, or other
paper shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered or mailed by registered
or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: if to the Authority, to the Municipal
Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah 84074, Attention:
Chair; if to the Bondholders, to their addresses as shown on the registration list; if to the City, 90
North Main Street, Tooele, Utah 84074, Attention: Mayor, Tooele City. If to the CIB, State of
Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board, 140 East 300 South, 1% Floor, Salt Lake City,
Utah 84111, Attention: Candace Powers. A duplicate copy of each notice required to be given
hereunder to either the Authority or the City shall also be given to the others. The Authority, the

36
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



City, and the Bondholders may designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent
notices, certificates, or other communications shall be sent.

Section 13.5. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays. In any case where the
date of maturity of principal of the Bond or the date fixed for redemption of any Bond shall be in
the State of Utah a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions are
authorized by law to close, then payment of principal and premium, if any, need not be made on
such date but may be made on the next succeeding business day with the same force and effect as
if made on the date of maturity or the date fixed for redemption, and no interest shall accrue for
the period after such date.

Section 13.6. Applicable Provisions of Law. This Master Resolution shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah.

Section 13.7. Rules of Interpretation. Unless expressly indicated otherwise, references to
Sections or Articles are to be construed as references to Sections or Articles of this instrument as
originally executed. Use of the words “herein,” “hereby,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “hereinbefore,”
“hereinafter,” and other equivalent words refer to the Master Resolution and not solely to the
particular portion in which any such word is used.

Section 13.8. Captions. The captions or headings in this Master Resolution are for
convenience only and in no way define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or
Sections of this Master Resolution.

i
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



DATED as of December 1, 2023.

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
JTOOELE CITY, UTARH

(SEAL)
By:
Chair
ATTEST:
By:
Secretary
S-1

MASTER RESOLUTION



EXHIBIT A
(FORM OF STATE BOND)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

LEASE REVENUE BOND
SERIES 2023
Original
Principal Amount Interest Rate Issue Date
$8,500,000 4.00% December 2023

The Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, a nonprofit corporation duly
organized and existing within the State of Utah under its Articles of Incorporation and the
Constitution and laws of the State of Utah (the “Authority™), for value received, promises to pay
solely and to the extent available from the sources hereinafter provided, to the Registered Owner
last named on the Registration Certificate attached hereto, on the Payment Dates specified below,
the Principal Sum specified above, and in like manner to pay interest on the unpaid principal
balance hereof accruing from October 1, 2024 and shall be payable annually beginning October 1,
2025 and on each October 1 thereafter until the Series 2023 Bonds are paid in full, and except as
the provisions hereinafter set forth with respect to prepayment of this Series 2023 Bond may
become applicable hereto, the principal on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be paid in installments
beginning October 1, 2025 and continuing on each October 1 thereafter until the Series 2023 Bonds
are paid in full, as follows:

Payment Date Amount of Payment Date Amount of
(October 1) Principal Payment (October 1) Principal Payment
2025 $152,000 2040 $273,000
2026 158,000 2041 284,000
2027 164,000 2042 295,000
2028 171,000 2043 307,000
2029 177,000 2044 319,000
2030 184,000 2045 332,000
2031 192,000 2046 345,000
2032 199,000 2047 359,000
2033 207,000 2048 373,000
2034 216,000 2049 388,000
2035 224,000 2050 404,000
2036 233,000 2051 420,000
2037 243,000 2052 438,000
2038 252,000 2053 455,000
2039 262,000 2054 474,000

4855-4387-1368, v. 2 A-1



Principal and interest thereon is payable in lawful money of the United States of America
at the office of the Secretary of the Authority or his/her successor (the “Paying Agent™) in Tooele
City, Utah, except as provided in the next succeeding paragraph and payable by check or draft
mailed to the Registered Owner of record as of the fifteenth day preceding each Payment Date.

As long as the State of Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board (the “Community
Impact Board”) is the Registered Owner of this Series 2023 Bond, installment payments of
principal and interest shall be made by check or draft mailed to the Community Impact Board as
the registered holder at the address shown on the registration books maintained by the Registrar.

This Series 2023 Bond represents an issue of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele
City, Utah Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series 2023 Bonds”) issued for the purposes
of (a) financing the construction of a fire station and all related improvements (collectively, the
“Project”) and (b) paying costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds. The Project
has been leased by the Authority to Tooele City, Utah, a body politic of the State of Utah (the
“City”), under the terms of an annually renewable Master Lease Agreement dated as of December
1, 2023 (which agreement, as from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred
to as the “Master Lease”). The Project Site (as defined in the Master Lease) has been leased by
the City to the Authority pursuant to the terms of a Ground Lease dated as of December 1, 2023
(which agreement, as from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred to as
the “Ground Lease™). Under the Master Lease, the City has agreed to pay annual rental payments
to the Authority (the “Base Rentals™) in consideration of its right to use the Project and for the
option to purchase granted therein. In addition to the Base Rentals, the City has agreed to pay
certain other payments (the “Additional Rentals”) sufficient to pay administrative costs of the
Authority, certain insurance premiums, taxes, and other expenses with respect to the Project
expressly required under the Master Lease. Under the Master Lease, the City has been granted an
option to purchase the Project and terminate its payment obligations with respect to the Project
under the Master Lease at any time upon payment of the Purchase Option Price (as defined in the
Master Lease) which amount shall be sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Series
2023 Bonds (as hereinafter defined) as the same shall become due in accordance with their terms
and provisions at maturity or at the earliest applicable prepayment of redemption date, under the
terms and provisions of the Master Resolution (as hereinafter defined). THE PURCHASE
OPTION PRICE IS PAYABLE SOLELY AT THE OPTION OF THE CITY AND THE CITY IS
UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO EXERCISE ITS OPTION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT.

If any installment of principal and interest is not paid when due and payable, the Authority
shall pay interest on the delinquent installment at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum
from said due date until paid.

This Series 2023 Bond is issued under and secured by and entitled to the protection of the
Master Resolution dated as of December 1, 2023, by the Authority (which Master Resolution, as
from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred to as the “Master
Resolution”), duly adopted by the Authority and pursuant to which all Base Rentals payable by
the City under the Master Lease and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price, are assigned
to secure the payment of principal of and interest, if any, on the Series 2023 Bond. Additionally,
the Authority has granted a security interest in the Project to the holder of this Series 2023 Bond,

A-2
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



pursuant to a deed of trust, assignment of rents and security agreement, as defined in the Master
Resolution (the “Deed of Trust”), to further secure its obligations hereunder.

The obligation of the City to pay Base Rentals and Additional Rentals with respect to the
Project is subject to the annual renewal of the Master Lease and to the right of the City to terminate
its payment obligations with respect to the Project under the Master Lease in the event that there
shall be a failure to appropriate for the purpose of paying such Base Rentals and Additional
Rentals. In the event that the City’s payment obligations under the Master Lease shall be
terminated by reason of a failure to appropriate (referred to herein as an “Event of Non-
appropriation”) or by reason of an Event of Default (as defined in the Master Lease) the principal
amount of this Series 2023 Bond and interest thereon will be payable from such moneys, if any,
as may be available under the Master Resolution for such purpose, including any moneys received
from a liquidation or other disposition of the Project including a foreclosure of the lien of the Deed
of Trust. Under certain circumstances, this Series 2023 Bond and interest thereon may also be
payable from the proceeds of title or casualty insurance policies, performance Bond of contractors
for the Project, condemnation awards, and liquidation proceeds with respect to the Project.

The Master Resolution provides that the Authority may hereafter issue Refunding Bonds
(the “Refunding Bonds”) or Additional Bonds (the “Additional Bonds™) from time to time under
certain terms and conditions contained therein and in the Master Lease and, if issued, the
Refunding Bonds and/or the Additional Bonds will rank pari passu with this Series 2023 Bond
and be equally and ratably secured and entitled to the protection of the Master Resolution and the
Deed of Trust (this Series 2023 Bond, the Refunding Bonds and the Additional Bonds are referred
to herein as the “Bond”). Reference is hereby made to the Master Lease, the Deed of Trust, and
the Master Resolution for a description of the property pledged and assigned, the provisions,
among others, with respect to the nature and extent of the security, the rights, duties, and
obligations of the City, the Authority and the holders of the Series 2023 Bonds, the issuance of
Refunding Bonds or Additional Bonds, the terms upon which the Series 2023 Bonds are issued
and secured, the terms and conditions upon which the Series 2023 Bonds will be deemed to have
been paid, at or prior to maturity or redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds, and the rights of the
holders of the Series 2023 Bonds upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or an Event of Non-
appropriation.

The Series 2023 Bonds and interest thereon constitute special, limited obligations of the
Authority. Except to the extent payable from the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds and the
income from the investment thereof, the proceeds of certain funds held by the Authority, the
proceeds of certain insurance policies, performance bonds, and condemnation awards or the
proceeds, if any, from a liquidation or other disposition of the Project subsequent to foreclosure of
the lien of the Master Resolution and the Deed of Trust, the Series 2023 Bonds are payable solely
from Base Rentals, and, if paid, the Purchase Option Price paid by the City under the Master Lease.
Payments under the Master Lease may be made only from City Funds (as defined in the Master
Lease) which are budgeted and appropriated by the City for such purpose.

Neither the Master Lease nor the Series 2023 Bonds shall constitute or give rise to a general
obligation indebtedness of the City, or a charge against the City or the general credit or taxing
power of the City. Neither the City nor the Authority on its behalf has pledged the credit of the

A-3
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



City to the payment of the Series 2023 Bonds or amounts due or to become due under the Master
Lease. The Authority has no taxing power.

THE CITY IS NOT OBLIGATED TO APPROPRIATE CITY FUNDS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF PAYING BASE RENTALS, ADDITIONAL RENTALS, OR THE PURCHASE
OPTION PRICE UNDER THE MASTER LEASE AND NO JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED
AGAINST THE CITY IN THE EVENT OF AN INSUFFICIENCY OF MONEYS TO PAY THE
PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2023 BONDS. THE MASTER LEASE IS
SUBJECT TO ANNUAL RENEWAL AND THE CITY’S PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS UNDER
THE MASTER LEASE WILL BE TERMINATED UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT
OF NON-APPROPRIATION. IN SUCH EVENT, ALL PAYMENTS FROM THE CITY
UNDER THE MASTER LEASE WILL TERMINATE AND THE SERIES 2023 BONDS AND
INTEREST THEREON WILL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM AND TO THE EXTENT OF
SUCH MONEYS, IF ANY, AS MAY BE HELD BY THE AUTHORITY UNDER THE
MASTER RESOLUTION (EXCEPT FOR MONEYS HELD FOR BOND NOT THEN DEEMED
OUTSTANDING) AND ANY MONEYS MADE AVAILABLE FROM A LIQUIDATION OR
OTHER DISPOSITION OF THE PROJECT SUBSEQUENT TO FORECLOSURE OF THE
LIEN OF THE MASTER RESOLUTION AND THE DEED OF TRUST. UPON THE
OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT OF NON-APPROPRIATION OR AN EVENT OF DEFAULT
UNDER THE MASTER LEASE, THERE IS NO GUARANTY OR ASSURANCE OF ANY
PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS AND INTEREST THEREON.

No deficiency judgment upon foreclosure may be entered against the City or the Authority,
and no breach of any provision of the Master Lease, the Ground Lease the Security Documents,
the Series 2023 Bond, or the Master Resolution shall impose any general obligation or liability
upon or a charge against the City or the Authority or the general credit or taxing powers of the
City. No judgment requiring a payment of money may be entered against the City by reason of an
Event of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation under the Master Lease.

This Series 2023 Bond shall be registered in the name of the Registered Owner and any
subsequent purchasers in an appropriate book in the office of the Secretary of the Authority, who
shall be the Registrar. This Series 2023 Bond is transferable only by notation upon said book by
the Registered Owner hereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, by the
surrender of this Series 2023 Bond, together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to
the Authority, duly executed by the Registered Owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing;
thereupon, this Series 2023 Bond shall be delivered to and registered in the name of the transferce.

The Authority may deem and treat the Registered Owner hereof as the absolute owner
hereof (whether or not this Series 2023 Bond shall be overdue) for the purpose of receiving
payment of or on account of principal hereof and premium, if any, and for all other purposes and
the Authority shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

This Series 2023 Bond is subject to redemption prior to maturity only at the times, upon
the occurrence of the events and with notice all as found in the Master Resolution.

This Series 2023 Bond is issued pursuant to and in full compliance with the Articles of

Incorporation of the Authority and the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah, including, in

A-4
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



particular, the Local Building Authority Act, Title 17D, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953,
as amended (the “Act”), and pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Authority which authorizes
the execution and delivery of the Master Lease, the Master Resolution, the Ground Lease, the Deed
of Trust, and the issuance of the Series 2023 Bond. As required by the Articles of Incorporation
of the Authority, the City Council of the City has by resolution authorized the Authority to issue
this Series 2023 Bond and to execute and deliver the Master Lease, the Master Resolution, the
Ground Lease and the Deed of Trust.

The Registered Owner of this Series 2023 Bond shall have no right to enforce the
provisions of the Master Resolution or to institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to
take any action with respect to any Event of Non-appropriation or Event of Default under the
Master Lease or any Event of Default under the Master Resolution or the Deed of Trust, or to
institute, appear in, or defend any suit or other proceedings with respect thereto, except as provided
in the Master Resolution.

The Master Resolution permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the
amendment thereof and the modification of the rights and obligations of the Authority and the
rights of the holders of the Series 2023 Bonds at any time by the Authority with the consent of the
City (if an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of Default does not then exist under the Master
Lease) and the holders of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of
the Series 2023 Bonds at the time Outstanding. The Master Resolution also permits waiver of
compliance by the Authority with any terms of the Master Resolution with the consent of the City
(if an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of Default does not then exist under the Master
Lease) and the holders of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of
the Series 2023 Bonds at the time Outstanding. Any such consent or waiver by the Registered
Owner of this Series 2023 Bonds shall be conclusive and binding upon such Owner and upon all
future holders of this Series 2023 Bonds and of any Bond issued upon the transfer or exchange of
this Series 2023 Bond whether or not notation of such consent or waiver is made upon this Series
2023 Bonds. The Master Resolution also contains provisions permitting the Authority to waive
certain Events of Default under the Master Resolution and their consequences.

It is hereby certified, recited, and declared that all acts, conditions, and things required to
exist, happen, and be performed precedent to and in the execution and delivery of the Master
Resolution and the issuance of this Series 2023 Bond do exist, have happened, and have been
performed in due time, form, and manner as required by law; that the issuance of this Series 2023
Bond, together with all other obligations of the Authority, do not exceed or violate any
constitutional or statutory debt limitation.

This Series 2023 Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be
entitled to any security or benefit under the Master Resolution until the Certificate of
Authentication hereon shall have been signed by the Secretary of the Authority.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Series 2023 Bond to be executed
in its name by the facsimile or manual signature of the Chair of its Governing Board and its
corporate seal to be hereunto impressed or imprinted hereon and attested by the manual or
facsimile signature of the Secretary of its Governing Board, and said officials do by the execution
hereof adopt as and for the respective proper signatures their respective facsimile or manual
signatures appearing hereon.

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

(SEAL)
By:
Chair
ATTEST:
By:
Secretary
A-6

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Bond represents the Series 2023 Bond described in the within-mentioned Master
Resolution.

SECRETARY OF THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING
AUTHORITY OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH

By:

Date of Authentication:

A-7
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE

(No writing to be placed herein except by
the Bond Registrar)

Date of Registration Name of Registered Owner Signature of Bond Registrar

State of Utah
Permanent Community
Impact Fund Board

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



EXHIBIT B
(FORM OF EXCHANGE BOND)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

LEASE REVENUE BOND
SERIES 2023
Maturity Date Interest Rate Issue Date
%

Registered Owner:

Principal Amount:

The Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, a nonprofit corporation duly
organized and existing within the State of Utah under its Articles of Incorporation and the
Constitution and laws of the State of Utah (the “Authority™), for value received, promises to pay
solely and to the extent available from the sources hereinafter provided, to the Registered Owner
named above, or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above, the Principal Sum, and
in like manner to pay interest on the unpaid principal balance hereof accruing from
at the Interest Rate specified above (calculated on the basis of a 360 day year of twelve thirty day
months) and payable on of each year (each an “Interest Payment Date™) except as the
provisions hereinafter set forth with respect to prepayment of this Series 2023 Bond may become
applicable hereto. The principal of this Series 2023 Bond shall be payable by check or draft mailed
to the Registered Owner of record in lawful money of the United States of America by the
Secretary of the Authority or his/her successor (the “Paying Agent”) and the interest hereon being
payable by check or draft mailed to the Registered Owner of record as of the fifteenth day
preceding each Interest Payment Date. Principal and redemption price of this Bond shall be
payable upon presentation of this Bond to the Paying Agent, or its successor as such paying agent,
for payment at maturity.

This Series 2023 Bonds represents an issue of Bond of like date, term, and effect except as
to maturity, in the aggregate principal amount $ issued in exchange for the conversion
of the Issuer’s Lease Revenue Bond, Series 2023 dated December  , 2023, in the total principal
amount of $8,500,000, authorized by a Master Resolution of the Issuer dated as of December 1,
2023 (the “Master Resolution™). This Series 2023 Bond and the issue of Series 2023 Bond of
which it is a part is issued pursuant to (a) the Master Resolution and (b) the Local Building
Authority Act, Title 17D, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, for the purpose of
(i) financing the construction of a fire station and all related improvements (collectively, the
“Project”) and (ii) paying costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds. The Project
has been leased by the Authority to Tooele City, Utah, a body politic of the State of Utah (the

4855-4387-1368, v. 2 A-1



“City”), under the terms of an annually renewable Master Lease Agreement dated as of December
1, 2023 (which agreement, as from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred
to as the “Master Lease”). The Project Site (as defined in the Master Lease) has been leased by the
City to the Authority pursuant to the terms of a Ground Lease dated as of December 1, 2023 (which
agreement, as from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred to as the
“Ground Lease”). Under the Master Lease, the City has agreed to pay annual rental payments to
the Authority (the “Base Rentals™) in consideration of its right to use the Project and for the option
to purchase granted therein. In addition to the Base Rentals, the City has agreed to pay certain
other payments (the “Additional Rentals”) sufficient to pay administrative costs of the Authority,
certain insurance premiums, taxes, and other expenses with respect to the Project expressly
required under the Master Lease. Under the Master Lease, the City has been granted an option to
purchase the Project and terminate its payment obligations with respect to the Project under the
Master Lease at any time upon payment of the Purchase Option Price (as defined in the Master
Lease) which amount shall be sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any on the Series
2023 Bonds (as hereinafter defined) as the same shall become due in accordance with their terms
and provisions at maturity or at the earliest applicable prepayment of redemption date, under the
terms and provisions of the Master Resolution (as hereinafter defined). THE PURCHASE
OPTION PRICE IS PAYABLE SOLELY AT THE OPTION OF THE CITY AND THE CITY IS
UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO EXERCISE ITS OPTION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT.

If the principal and interest is not paid when due and payable, the Authority shall pay
interest on the delinquent amount at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum from said due
date until paid.

This Series 2023 Bond is issued under and secured by and entitled to the protection of the
Master Resolution dated as of December 1, 2023, by the Authority (which Master Resolution, as
from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred to as the “Master
Resolution”), duly adopted by the Authority and pursuant to which all Base Rentals payable by
the City under the Master Lease and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price, are assigned
to secure the payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bond. Additionally, the
Authority has granted a security interest in the Project to the holder of this Series 2023 Bond,
pursuant to a deed of trust, assignment of rents and security agreement, as defined in the Master
Resolution (the “Deed of Trust”), to further secure its obligations hereunder.

The obligation of the City to pay Base Rentals and Additional Rentals with respect to the
Project is subject to the annual renewal of the Master Lease and to the right of the City to terminate
its payment obligations with respect to the Project under the Master Lease in the event that there
shall be a failure to appropriate for the purpose of paying such Base Rentals and Additional
Rentals. In the event that the City’s payment obligations under the Master Lease shall be
terminated by reason of a failure to appropriate (referred to herein as an “Event of Non-
appropriation”) or by reason of an Event of Default (as defined in the Master Lease) the principal
amount of this Series 2023 Bond will be payable from such moneys, if any, as may be available
under the Master Resolution for such purpose, including any moneys received from a liquidation
or other disposition of the Project including a foreclosure of the lien of the Deed of Trust. Under
certain circumstances, this Bond may also be payable from the proceeds of title or casualty
insurance policies, performance Bond of contractors for the Project, condemnation awards, and
liquidation proceeds with respect to the Project.

B-2
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



The Master Resolution provides that the Authority may hereafter issue Refunding Bond
(the “Refunding Bond”) or Additional Bond (the “Additional Bond”) from time to time under
certain terms and conditions contained therein and in the Master Lease and, if issued, the
Refunding Bond and/or the Additional Bond will rank pari passu with this Series 2023 Bond and
be equally and ratably secured and entitled to the protection of the Master Resolution and the Deed
of Trust (this Series 2023 Bond, the Refunding Bond and the Additional Bond are referred to
herein as the “Bond”). Reference is hereby made to the Master Lease, the Deed of Trust, and the
Master Resolution for a description of the property pledged, and assigned, the provisions, among
others, with respect to the nature and extent of the security, the rights, duties, and obligations of
the City, the Authority and the holders of the Series 2023 Bond, the issuance of Refunding Bond
or Additional Bond, the terms upon which the Series 2023 Bond is issued and secured, the terms
and conditions upon which the Series 2023 Bond will be deemed to have been paid, at or prior to
maturity or redemption of the Series 2023 Bond, and the rights of the holders of the Series 2023
Bond upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation.

The Series 2023 Bond and interest thereon constitutes a special, limited obligation of the
Authority. Except to the extent payable from the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bond and the income
from the investment thereof, the proceeds of certain funds held by the Authority, the proceeds of
certain insurance policies, performance Bond and condemnation awards, or the proceeds, if any,
from a liquidation or other disposition of the Project subsequent to foreclosure of the lien of the
Master Resolution and the Deed of Trust, the Series 2023 Bond are payable solely from Base
Rentals, and, if paid, the Purchase Option Price paid by the City under the Master Lease. Payments
under the Master Lease may be made only from City Funds (as defined in the Master Lease) which
are budgeted and appropriated by the City for such purpose.

Neither the Master Lease nor the Series 2023 Bond nor the interest thereon shall constitute
or give rise to a general obligation indebtedness of the City, or a charge against City or the general
credit or taxing power of the City. Neither the City nor the Authority on its behalf has pledged the
credit of the City to the payment of the Series 2023 Bond, or amounts due or to become due under
the Master Lease. The Authority has no taxing power.

THE CITY IS NOT OBLIGATED TO APPROPRIATE CITY FUNDS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF PAYING BASE RENTALS, ADDITIONAL RENTALS, OR THE PURCHASE
OPTION PRICE UNDER THE MASTER LEASE, AND NO JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED
AGAINST THE CITY IN THE EVENT OF AN INSUFFICIENCY OF MONEYS TO PAY THE
PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2023 BONDS. THE MASTER LEASE IS
SUBJECT TO ANNUAL RENEWAL AND THE CITY’S PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS UNDER
THE MASTER LEASE WILL BE TERMINATED UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT
OF NON-APPROPRIATION. IN SUCH EVENT, ALL PAYMENTS FROM THE CITY
UNDER THE MASTER LEASE WILL TERMINATE AND THE SERIES 2023 BONDS WILL
BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM AND TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH MONEYS, IF ANY, AS
MAY BE HELD BY THE AUTHORITY UNDER THE MASTER RESOLUTION (EXCEPT
FOR MONEYS HELD FOR SERIES 2023 BONDS NOT THEN DEEMED OUTSTANDING)
AND ANY MONEYS MADE AVAILABLE FROM A LIQUIDATION OR OTHER
DISPOSITION OF THE PROJECT SUBSEQUENT TO FORECLOSURE OF THE LIEN OF
THE MASTER RESOLUTION AND THE DEED OF TRUST. UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF
AN EVENT OF NON-APPROPRIATION OR AN EVENT OF DEFAULT UNDER THE

B-3
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



MASTER LEASE, THERE IS NO GUARANTY OR ASSURANCE OF ANY PAYMENT OF
THE SERIES 2023 BONDS OR INTEREST THEREON.

No deficiency judgment upon foreclosure may be entered against the City or the Authority,
and no breach of any provision of the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Deed of Trust, the
Bond, or the Master Resolution shall impose any general obligation or liability upon or a charge
against the City or the Authority or the general credit or taxing powers of the City. No judgment
requiring a payment of money may be entered against the City by reason of an Event of Default
or an Event of Non-appropriation under the Master Lease.

This Series 2023 Bond shall be registered in the name of the Registered Owner and any
subsequent purchasers in an appropriate book in the office of the Secretary of the Authority, who
shall be the Registrar. This Series 2023 Bond is transferable only by notation upon said book by
the Registered Owner hereof in person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, by the
surrender of this Series 2023 Bond, together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to
the Authority, duly executed by the Registered Owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing;
thereupon, this Series 2023 Bond shall be delivered to and registered in the name of the transferee.

The Authority may deem and treat the Registered Owner hereof as the absolute owner
hereof (whether or not this Series 2023 Bond shall be overdue) for the purpose of receiving
payment of or on account of principal hereof and premium, if any, and interest thereon and for all
other purposes and the Authority shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

This Series 2023 Bond is subject to redemption prior to maturity only at the times, upon
the occurrence of the events and with notice all as found in the Master Resolution.

This Series 2023 Bond is issued pursuant to and in full compliance with the Articles of
Incorporation of the Authority and the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah, and pursuant to
a resolution adopted by the Authority which authorizes the execution and delivery of the Master
Lease, the Master Resolution, the Ground Lease, the Deed of Trust and the issuance of the Series
2023 Bond. As required by the Articles of Incorporation of the Authority, the City Council of the
City has by resolution authorized the Authority to issue this Series 2023 Bond and to execute and
deliver the Master Lease, the Master Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Deed of Trust.

The Registered Owner of this Series 2023 Bond shall have no right to enforce the
provisions of the Master Resolution or to institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to
take any action with respect to any Event of Non-appropriation or Event of Default under the
Master Lease or any Event of Default under the Master Resolution or the Deed of Trust, or to
institute, appear in, or defend any suit or other proceedings with respect thereto, except as provided
in the Master Resolution.

The Master Resolution permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the
amendment thereof and the modification of the rights and obligations of the Authority and the
rights of the holders of the Series 2023 Bond at any time by the Authority with the consent of the
City (if an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of Default does not then exist under the Master
Lease) and the holders of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of
the Series 2023 Bond at the time Outstanding. The Master Resolution also permits waiver of

B-4
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



compliance by the Authority with any terms of the Master Resolution with the consent of the City
(if an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of Default does not then exist under the Master
Lease) and the holders of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in aggregate principal amount of
the Series 2023 Bond at the time Outstanding. Any such consent or waiver by the Registered
Owner of this Series 2023 Bond shall be conclusive and binding upon such Owner and upon all
future holders of this Series 2023 Bond and of any Series 2023 Bond issued upon the transfer or
exchange of this Series 2023 Bond whether or not notation of such consent or waiver is made upon
this Series 2023 Bond. The Master Resolution also contains provisions permitting the Authority
to waive certain Events of Default under the Master Resolution and their consequences.

It is hereby certified, recited, and declared that all acts, conditions, and things required to
exist, happen, and be performed precedent to and in the execution and delivery of the Master
Resolution and the issuance of this Series 2023 Bond do exist, have happened, and have been
performed in due time, form, and manner as required by law; that the issuance of this Series 2023
Bond, together with all other obligations of the Authority, do not exceed or violate any
constitutional or statutory debt limitation.

This Series 2023 Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be
entitled to any security or benefit under the Master Resolution until the Certificate of
Authentication hereon shall have been signed by the Secretary of the Authority.

B-5
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Series 2023 Bond to be executed
in its name by the facsimile or manual signature of the Chair of its Governing Board and its
corporate seal to be hereunto impressed or imprinted hereon and attested by the manual or
facsimile signature of the Secretary of its Governing Board, and said officials do by the execution
hereof adopt as and for the respective proper signatures their respective facsimile or manual
signatures appearing hereon.

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

(SEAL)
By:
Chair
ATTEST:
By:
Secretary
B-6

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Bond represents the Series 2023 Bonds described in the within-mentioned Master
Resolution.

SECRETARY OF THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING
AUTHORITY OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH

Date of Authentication:

B-7
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, , the
undersigned sells, assigns, and transfers unto:

(Social Security or Other Identifying Number of Assignee)

(Please Print or Typewrite Name and Address of Assignee)

the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints
attorney for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the

premises.

DATED:

Signature:

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must
correspond with the name of the Registered Owner
as it appears upon the face of the within Bond in
every particular without alteration or enlargement or
any change whatever.

Signature Guaranteed:

NOTICE: The signature(s) should be guaranteed by
an  eligible guarantor institution  (banks,
stockbrokers, savings and loan associations, and
credit unions with membership in an approved
signature guarantee medallion program), pursuant to
S.E.C. Rule 17Ad-15.

B-8
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



EXHIBIT C

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT
AND THE PROJECT SITE

Description of Project: Construction of a fire station and all related improvements.

Description of Project Site: Tooele County, Utah:

4855-4387-1368, v. 2 C-1



EXHIBIT C

FORM OF MASTER LEASE

C-1
4894-9385-2552, v. 3



MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT

Dated as of December 1, 2023

between

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH
as Lessor

A Nonprofit Corporation Organized Under the Laws of
the State of Utah

and

TOOELE CITY, UTAH,
as Lessee

A Political Subdivision and Body Corporate and Politic of
the State of Utah

Various interests of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, in this Master Lease
Agreement have been assigned to secure the payment of the Municipal Building Authority of
Tooele City, Utah Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 under a Master Resolution dated as of
December 1, 2023.



Table of Contents

Page
ARTICLE L DEEINTTIOMN S ciesmusmsmmon st msessssisssss s e s s s s i 2
ARTICLE IT REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS, AND WARRANTIES............... 6
Section 2.1  Representations, Covenants, and Warranties of the City................... 6
Section 2.2 Representations, Covenants, and Warranties of the Authority............... 7
ARTICLE 11 DEMISINGIGLAUSE o coi sin toms sve i sonbi asssni smsbs s o s 5 S5emvi.s6ms 8
ARTICLE IV LEASE TERM e sormmimmanntnn &y s Sy sssiss 9
Scotion 4:.1 Commencement:of Lease TOII smmmamumsssnsvsmmsmmss i 9
Seetion 4:2  Termination of Lieage T .uwsmasmssmivmmmsrsmmsssossimsssiromsevs 9
Section 4.3  Effect on the City of Expiration or Termination of the Term of this
MaSLEr LEASE ....eeeeeeeieeieeeee s 10
Section 4.4  Revised Schedule of Base Rentals and Option Price........cccecevirienenne. 10
ARTICLE V ENJOYMENT OF PROJECT : suissesvimmnussvanvssssmsnivesssss isnesnsssanias 10
ARTICLE V1 PAYMEN TS BY THEACTTY v s ssions sss sy sisss s s vises 11
Section 6.1  Payments to Constitute a Current Expense of the City.......coccecvvvvenene 11
Section 6.2  Payment of Base Rentals .......c..coceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccceceecce e 11
Section 6.3  Payment of Additional Rentals with Respect to the Project................. 12
Section 6.4  Manner of Payment..........ccooieiiiiiii i 13
Section 6.5  Expression of Need for the Project by the City; Determination of
5T E R0 o b (ar T — 14
Section 6.6  NON-APPIOPTIALION ...eveeiriiireeeieeeeiieritee s srreeetresesrresssreeeessessessreeeranens 14
Section 6.7  Application of Base Rentals, Additional Rentals, and Purchase Option
PTICE .t et 14
Necton'e.8  Request 1o APDrOiatiON s v s s b 14
ARTICLE VII CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT AND ISSUANCE OF SERIES
2023 BONDS 15
Section 7.l . Apreementio AeqUite PLOJEGE s 15
Section 7.2 Agreement to Issue the Series 2023 Bonds; Application of Bond
PTOCEEAS .. ettt ettt 16
Section 7.3  Establishment of Completion Date; Disbursement of Balance of Escrow
e o | T 16
Section 74 Sufficiency ol ESCIomw ACCOMIE «..mamsmmmrmsnmmvsmissmssseniss 16
Section 7.5  Investment of Bond Fund and Reserve Fund Moneys.........ccccccveevnee.e. 17
ARTICLE VIII TITLE TO THE PROJECT; CONVEYANCE TO THE CITY; SECURITY
INTEREST 17
Section 8.1  Title to the PTOJECt......c.oviiiiiiiiiiiiii et 17
Section 8.2  Seennty Ierestcsinsmnsmmiusimssiienass v s i 17

ARTICLE IX MAINTENANCE; TAXES; INSURANCE; AND OTHER CHARGES 17

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 9.1 Maintenance of the Projeet by the ity s.ussussimsunamsavasisss L

Section 9.2 Modification of the Project .......coccooeveeiiiininieiieeeeeere e 18
Section 9.3 Taxes, Other Governmental Charges, and Utility Charges................... 18
Section 9.4  Provisions Respecting INSUTANCE .........cceeviiivieiiiiieciiiiieeeeeiere e 19
Section 2.5  Public Liability INSUYSNGCE isassmmivsnssomissvsswssmmasmssmmisiismmmg 20
Section 9.6 Worker's Compensation CoVeraAE s 20
SeCtion 9.7  AdVANCES..c.cuieiiiiieieeeieciiecit e e eeee e e ese e e e sre e e eraeeensesaeassaesnaeenreaenns 20
Section 9.8 Failure to Provide INSUrance .........cccovvevieeciiciioiicciiece e siesieissieeseans 20
Section 9.9  Evidence and Notice Regarding Insurance.............ccceevevvereeeereeriernennnnn 21
ARTICLE X DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION, AND CONDEMNATION; USE OF NET
L b e — 21
Section 10.1 Damage, Destruction, and Condemnation ...............cocceeeeiericnieennenenns 21
Section 10.2  Obligation of the City to Repair and Replace the Project.......cccccoen....e. 21
Section 10.3 Discharge of the Obligation of the City to Repair and Replace the
PTOJECE ..ttt ettt n e 22
Seetion 104 Cooperation of the AMHOrtY ..cumemmnmnsmsamnssiies 22
Section 10.5 Condemnation of Property Owned by the Gty sawmmmammsse 23
ARTICLE XI DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
RULES; OTHER COVENANTS. ...ttt et e et e 23
Section 11.1  Disclaimer Or Warrantis .......c..eveviivueeiiiiierieiiieireesereesssrieseeseessesseesnns 23
Section 11.2  Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments...............coeeeeveerveenennne. 23
Sectiont 11.3  Cityrand Authority Representalives o 23
Sechion 114 Requiretments OF LA usssssssssnssmmassommmss s st s miss 23
Section 11.5 Inspection 0f the Project ......oocvvieeiiieeieiiiierececcese e 24
Section 11.6  Granting of EaS@mMeEnts........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiieiee e e e sree e 24
Section 11.7  Refunding Bonds ........ccccovviriiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeceee e 24
Seetion 11.8  Issuances of Addibonal Bonds uusessmmnmsmsssnms s 24
ARTICLE XII CONVEYANCE OF THE PROJECT 24
Section 12,1 :Conveyance of the Projech ummmmwimmnsmnmimanssasm 24
Becfion. T2 Conveyance oii Puiihage ef Projech. cunaimmmmummmnsasmsevs s 25
Section 12.3  Relative Position of Option and Master Resolution ..........ccccoevveenianee. 25
ARTICLE XIII ASSIGNMENT, SUBLEASING, INDEMNIFICATION AND
SELLING . .ottt ettt e ettt e et e et e et e et e et e e aaas 26
Section 13.1 The Authority to Grant Security Interest to Bondholder ...................... 26
Seetion 13.2 Assipnment and Subleasing by the City «.wvssmsssmmssiasmmmmes 26
Seetion 13.3 Release and Indemnification Covenamts ... cwssswesnsviiisisssavoses 27
Section 13.4 References to Bonds Ineffective After Bonds Paid .........c.ccocevivnnennenn. 27
Section 13.5 Installation of the Furnishings and Machinery of the City ................... 27
Section 13.6  Equipment Purchased with Proceeds of the Bonds...........c.cccceeeinnnenne. 27
ARTICLE XIV EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES..........ccovviiviiiiieennnn. 28
Section 141  Eventsot Detanlt Defined ...mmmsonomssmsmm s s 28
Section 142 Remedieson Defaull . commasmmmammmmunrssmevssnmessesims 29
1l

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 14.3

Limitations 0N REMEAIES ...oeviiiiiieeeeeeieeeeeseiieeeeeesesseeeseesessereesssssnseseess 29

Section 14.4  No Remedy EXCIUSIVE......ccoeeiiiiiiiieeiiceececccee e 29
Section 14.5 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses .........cccecevvvvereennnnen. 29
Section 14.6 No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver............c.occeeevviveeeeninn. 30
ARTIGLEE XN NS BLLANBOUS o s onp e o ahmms om0k o sbi o 50 am i 5 30
Secton 15,1  Loase TOIIE wrusvmsssms s ssissssm omivssss s s 30
Section 158.2 NBHEES s s s s 30
Section 15.3  Binding Effect.......ccccovvivieiiiiiec e 30
Section 15.4  Severability ......veeveereeieiireeee e e 30
Section 15.5 Amounts Remaining in Bond Fund and Reserve Fund; Dissolution.... 30
Section 15.6 Amendments, Changes, and Modifications ...........ccccevvevveverereneerinenne. 31
Section 15.7 Excoulion in CotnlerPari s s s o ims 31
Section 15.8  INEt LEASE ..ocvvveiirieriiiicieiitisieiee et se et sae e sa e e ssesaa s enaeneas 31
Section 15.9  Applicable Law ........coovvieiiieieiiecieieee e 31
SeCtion 15.10 CaAPLIONS ..evieeieeeeeieeeitie ettt e et ste e eteeear e eaeeeeraeesereeeanteasseeeneesnnes 31
Section 15:11 No Personal Ligbtlity. ..cussmmmnsnmmimsmssmmisamsmmi 31
EXHIBIT A DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT ovnnnmmimsmmumssmmssssaavsismmssi 55 A-1
EXHIBIT B LEASE PAYMENT SCHEDULE, SERIES 2023.......ccccooeviiiivrnierereenne B-1
iii

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT (the “Master Lease’) dated as of December 1,
2023, entered into by and between the MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF TOOELE
CITY, UTAH (the “Authority”), as lessor hereunder, a nonprofit corporation duly organized,
existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of Utah, and also acting as issuer under
a Master Resolution dated as of even date herewith (the “Master Resolution”), and TOOELE
CITY, UTAH (the “City”), as lessee hereunder, a political subdivision and body corporate and
politic under the laws of the State of Utah;

WITNESSETH;

WHEREAS, the City is a political subdivision and body corporate and politic duly existing
under and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah; and

WHEREAS, the City has previously authorized and directed the creation of the Authority
pursuant to provisions of a Resolution (the “Creating Resolution™); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the direction of the City Council (the “City Council”) of Tooele
City, Utah contained in the Creating Resolution, the Authority has been duly and regularly created,
established, and is organized and existing as a nonprofit corporation under and by virtue of the
provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah, including, in particular, the provisions
of the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, Title 16, Chapter 6a, Utah Code Annotated 1953,
as amended (the “Nonprofit Corporation Act”) and Local Building Authority Act, Title 17D,
Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, (the “Authority Act” and collectively with the
Nonprofit Corporation Act, the “Acts™); and

WHEREAS, under the articles of incorporation of the Authority (the “Articles”) the objects
and purposes for which the Authority has been founded and incorporated are to acquire, improve,
or extend one or more projects and to finance their costs on behalf of the City in accordance with
the procedures and subject to the limitations of the Authority Act in order to accomplish the public
purposes for which the City exists; and

WHEREAS, the Authority is possessed under the Articles of all powers set forth in the
Acts, the Constitution, and other laws of the State of Utah, including, without limitation, the power
to acquire, own, hold, lease, and improve real and personal property and to enter into agreements
providing for a lease, mortgage, or other conveyance of real and personal property; and

WHEREAS, the Authority and the City desire to finance the construction of a fire station
and all related improvements (collectively, the “Project™); and

WHEREAS, the Authority shall finance the Project through the issuance of the Authority’s
Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series 2023 Bonds”); and

WHEREAS, the Authority is the owner of the real property on which the Project is to be
located (the “Project Site™); and



WHEREAS, the City desires to lease, as lessee, on an annually renewable basis, the Project
from the Authority and the Authority desires to lease, as lessor, the Project to the City under the
terms and provisions set forth in this Master Lease; and

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the Authority (the “Governing Board”) and the City
Council have previously approved the estimated costs of the Project; and

WHEREAS, under the provisions of a resolution dated November 1, 2023 (the “City
Resolution”), the City Council has authorized and approved the execution of this Master Lease
and has authorized certain actions to be taken by the Authority in connection with the financing of
the Project, including the issuance by the Authority under the Master Resolution of its Lease
Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 in the total aggregate principal amount of $8,500,000; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of a resolution dated November 1, 2023, the
Governing Board has authorized, approved, and directed the execution of this Master Lease and
related documents, has adopted the Master Resolution, and has authorized, approved, and directed
certain actions to be taken by the Authority in connection with the financing of the Project,
including the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the Authority Act and
the Articles, the Authority proposes to undertake the financing of the Project and the leasing of the
Project to the City under the terms and provisions of this Master Lease; and

WHEREAS, the Series 2023 Bonds will be secured as provided in the Master Resolution
including (i) the Security Documents (defined herein), and (ii) a pledge and assignment of this
Master Lease and the revenues and receipts derived by the Authority from the Project, all as more
fully set forth in the Master Resolution.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants
herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

All terms defined in Article I of the Master Resolution, unless the context otherwise
requires, shall have the same meaning in this Master Lease. In addition, unless the context
otherwise requires, the terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Master Lease
and the Master Resolution, have the meaning herein specified.

“Acts” means collectively, the Local Building Authority Act, Title 17D, Chapter 2, Utah
Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, Title 16,
Chapter 6a, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

“Additional Bonds” means Bonds issued by the Authority pursuant to Section 3.10 of the
Master Resolution.

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



“Additional Rentals” means the cost of all taxes, insurance premiums, and expenses
payable by, and fees of, the Authority with respect to the Bonds and other charges and costs which
the City assumes or agrees to pay exclusively from City Funds under Section 6.3 of this Master
Lease, together with all interest and penalties that may accrue thereon in the event that the City
shall fail to pay the same, as specifically set forth herein.

“Authority” means the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, a nonprofit
corporation organized under the laws of the State with its principal place of business in Tooele
City, Utah, acting in the capacity of lessor under this Master Lease and as issuer under the Master
Resolution.

“Authority Representative” means the person or persons at any time designated to act on
behalf of the Authority for purposes of performing any act on behalf of the Authority with respect
to the Project by a written certificate furnished to the City containing the specimen signature of
such person or persons and signed on behalf of the Authority by any duly authorized officer of the
Authority. Such certificate may designate an alternate or alternates. The Authority Representative
may be an officer or employee of the Authority or the City.

“Base Rentals” means the payments payable by the City exclusively from City Funds
pursuant to Section 6.2 of this Master Lease during the Original Term and any applicable Renewal
Term hereof (as those terms are hereinafter defined), which constitute the payments payable by
the City for and in consideration of the right of use of the Project during such Original Term and
applicable Renewal Terms and the purchase option granted herein.

“Bonds” means the Series 2023 Bonds and any Additional Bonds or Refunding Bonds
issued under the Master Resolution.

“Business Day” means a legal business day on which banking business is transacted in the
state in which the Authority has its principal office.

“CIB” means the State of Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board, or any
SuCCcessor agency.

“City” means Tooele City, Utah, a political subdivision and body politic duly established
and existing under and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State.

“City Funds” means all revenues, receipts, and other legally available moneys, including
without limitation payments received by the City from operation or subleasing of the Project and
moneys derived from ad valorem property taxes and other taxes, to the extent the same are
budgeted and appropriated by the governing body of the City for the purpose of paying Base
Rentals, Additional Rentals, or the Purchase Option Price hereunder during the Original or any
Renewal Term in which this Master Lease may be in effect.

“City Representative” means the person at any time designated to act on behalf of the City
for purposes of performing any act with respect to the Project by a written certificate furnished to
the Authority containing the specimen signature of such person and signed on behalf of the City
by the Mayor or any duly authorized officer thereof. Such certificate may designate an alternate
or alternates. The City Representative may be an officer or employee of the Authority or the City.

3
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



“Completion Certificate” shall mean the certificate described in Section 7.3 hereof
establishing the Completion Date.

“Completion Date” shall mean the date of acceptance by the City of the Project as
evidenced by delivery of the Completion Certificate.

“Construction Contract” shall mean any construction contract among the Authority (or its
designee), the City, and any contractor regarding construction of the Project.

“Costs of Construction” shall mean:

(1) the actual cost of enlarging, constructing, reconstructing, improving,
replacing, restoring, renovating, maintaining, equipping, or furnishing all or any part of the
Project, including architect’s or engineer’s fees; and

(2) all expenses connected with the authorization, sale, and issuance of the
Bonds, including trustee initial fees, fees for outside attorneys or accountants, whose
opinions are required to obtain the issuance of the Bonds, financial advisors’ fees, and
councils and printing costs, those amounts as the Authority shall find necessary to establish
reserves and maintenance, repair, replacement, and contingency funds and accounts, and
the interest on Bonds for a reasonable time prior to, during, and for a reasonable period of
time after completion of the construction of the Project.

“Event of Default” means one or more events of default as defined in Section 14.1 of this
Master Lease.

“Event of Non-appropriation” means a failure by the City to renew this Master Lease by
failing to budget and appropriate sufficient City Funds for the payment of all or any part of the
Base Rentals and Additional Rentals for any Renewal Term hereof as set forth in Section 6.6 of
this Master Lease prior to the beginning of any Renewal Term.

“Force Majeure” means, without limitation, the following: acts of God; strikes, lockouts,
or other industrial disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders, or restraints of any kind of the
government of the United States of America or of the State or any of their departments, agencies,
or officials, or any civil or military authority; insurrections; riots; landslides; earthquakes; storms;
droughts; floods; explosions; breakage; or accidents to machinery, transmission pipes, or canals;
or any other cause or event not reasonably within the control of the City and not due to its
negligence.

“Independent Counsel” means an attorney duly admitted to the practice of law before the
highest court of the State and who is not a full-time employee of the Authority or the City.

“Lease Term” means the duration of the leasehold estate created in the Project as provided
i Article I'V of this Master Lease, including the Original Term and the Renewal Terms, if any.

“Master Lease” means this Master Lease Agreement and any amendments or supplements
hereto, including the exhibits attached hereto.

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



“Master Resolution” means the Master Resolution of the Authority dated as of the date of
this Master Lease, pursuant to which the Bonds are authorized to be issued and certain interests of
the Authority in this Master Lease, and the Base Rentals, Purchase Option Price, and other
revenues received by the Authority from the City with respect to the Project are to be pledged and
assigned as security for the payment of principal and interest of, premium, if any, on the Bonds,
including any resolution supplemental thereto.

“Net Proceeds” when used with respect to any performance or payment bond proceeds or
proceeds from policies of insurance required hereby or any condemnation award or the proceeds
of any liquidation of all or portions of the Project, means the amount remaining after deducting all
expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and costs) incurred in the collection of
such proceeds or award from the gross proceeds thereof.

“Original Term” means the portion of the Lease Term which terminates on December 31,
2023.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means, as of any particular time, (i) liens for taxes and
assessments not then delinquent, or which the City may, pursuant to the provisions of Article IX
of this Master Lease, permit to remain unpaid; (ii) this Master Lease, including any security
interests granted herein; (iii) utility access and other easements and rights of way, restrictions, and
exceptions which the City Representative and the Authority Representative certify will not
interfere with the operation of the Project or impair the marketability of title to the Project or the
general security provided for the Bondholders; (iv)the Master Resolution, the Security
Documents, and related financing statements, if any; and (v) such minor defects, irregularities,
encumbrances, and clouds on title as normally exist with respect to property of the general
character of the Project and as do not, in the opinion of Independent Counsel, materially impair
the operation or marketability of title to the Project.

“Project” means the construction of a fire station and all related improvements as more
fully described in Exhibit A hereto.

“Project Documents” means (i) the plans and specifications with respect to the Project,
(i1) a survey, if any, of the Project Site, prepared by a registered land surveyor in accordance with
standard requirements for land title surveys, showing the location of all improvements, easements,
encroachments, and other encumbrances on the Project Site; (iii) any necessary permits for
construction of the Project, including any building permits, and certificates of occupancy or
waivers of the same; (iv) the Construction Contract; (v) policies of title, casualty, public liability,
and workers’ compensation insurance, or certificates thereof, as required by this Master Lease with
respect to the Project; (vi) performance and payment bonds with respect to the Project;
(vii) contracts with the architect hired in connection with the plans and specifications; and
(viii) policies of title, casualty and public liability insurance, any and all other documents executed
by or furnished to the City in connection with the acquisition, construction, and equipping of the
Project.

“Project Site” means the real property, as more fully described in Exhibit A hereof, upon
which the Project is located.

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



“Purchase Option Price” means an amount payable, at the option of the City, at any time
for the purpose of terminating the payment obligation of the City under this Master Lease and
purchasing the Project, which amount, when added to the amounts then on deposit in the Bond
Fund and Reserve Fund (other than moneys held by the Authority for the payment of Bonds not
deemed Outstanding), shall be sufficient (i)to pay, defease, retire and/or redeem all the
Outstanding Bonds, as appropriate, in accordance with the provisions of the Master Resolution
(including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the principal of to maturity or earliest
applicable redemption date of the relevant Bonds, as the case may be, and premium, if any, thereon,
the expenses of defeasance and/or redemption, including escrow agent fees, if any, and the
Authority’s and paying agents’ fees and expenses) and (ii) in case of redemption, to make
arrangements satisfactory to the Authority for the giving of the required notice of redemption.

“Refunding Bonds™ means Bonds issued by the Authority pursuant to Section 3.9 of the
Master Resolution.

“Renewal Terms” means the optional Renewal Terms of the Lease Term as provided in
Article IV of this Master Lease.

“Security Documents” means a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, and Security
Agreement with respect to the Project.

“State™ means the State of Utah.
ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS, AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1  Representations, Covenants, and Warranties of the City. The City
represents, covenants, and warrants for the benefit of the Authority as follows:

(a) The City is a political subdivision and body corporate and politic duly
existing as such within the State under the Constitution and laws of the State. Under the
provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State, the City is authorized to enter into the
transactions contemplated by this Master Lease and to carry out its obligations hereunder.
The City has duly authorized and approved the execution and delivery of this Master Lease.
The City agrees that it will do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep
in full force and effect its existence.

(b) The Authority has by this Master Lease leased the Project to the City as
hereinafter provided. It is understood by the parties hereto that the Authority shall have all
rights, title, and interest in the Project, subject to Permitted Encumbrances.

(0) During the Lease Term, the Project will at all times be used for the purposes
described herein consistent with the permissible scope of the Authority and the City under
the Constitution and laws of the State.

(d)  The City is not in default under any of the provisions of the laws of the State
which default would affect its existence or its powers referred to in subsection (a) of this

6
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 2.1. Neither the execution and delivery of this Master Lease, nor the issuance and
sale of the Bonds, nor the performance by the City of its obligations under this Master
Lease will constitute on the part of the City a breach of or a default under, any existing law,
court, or administrative regulation, decree, order, or any material agreement, indenture,
mortgage, lease, or any other instrument to which the City is subject or by which it is or
may be bound.

(e) There is no action, suit, or proceeding pending or, to the best knowledge of
the City, threatened, or any basis therefor, before any court or administrative agency which
may adversely affect the City or the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this
Master Lease. All authorizations, consents, and approvals of governmental bodies or
agencies required in connection with the execution and delivery by the City of this Master
Lease or in connection with the carrying out by the City of its obligations under the Master
Lease have been obtained.

(£ The construction of the Project will be accomplished in accordance with all
applicable laws and is necessary and appropriate for accomplishing one or more of the
authorized functions or public purposes of the City and is suitable for such purpose and in
furtherance of the purposes of the City and the best interests of the citizens of the City.

(g)  No voter approval (as contemplated by 11-14-201, Utah Code Annotated
1953, as amended) was sought on the question of whether general obligation bonds of the
City should be issued to finance the Project.

Section 2.2  Representations, Covenants, and Warranties of the Authority. The
Authority represents, covenants, and warrants for the benefit of the City as follows:

(a) The Authority is a nonprofit corporation duly incorporated and in good
standing under the laws of the State and is duly qualified to transact business in the State,
is not in violation of any provision of its Articles or its bylaws, has the corporate power
and authority to enter into this Master Lease and has duly authorized and approved the
execution and delivery of this Master Lease by proper corporate action.

(b) The Authority agrees that, so long as this Master Lease has not been
terminated, it will maintain its corporate existence, will continue to be a corporation in
good standing under the laws of the State, will not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or
substantially all of its assets, except as provided in this Master Lease, and will not
consolidate with or merge into another corporation or permit one or more other
corporations to consolidate with or merge into it.

(c) The Authority has, or will acquire, ownership of the Project (subject to
Permitted Encumbrances). The Authority has by this Master Lease leased the Project to
the City as hereinafter provided. It is understood by the parties hereto that the Authority
shall have all rights, title, and interest in the Project, subject to Permitted Encumbrances.

(d)  The Authority will not pledge the Base Rentals, the Additional Rentals,
Purchase Option Price, or any of its other rights hereunder and will not assign its interest
in or encumber the Project except as provided hereunder and under the Master Resolution

it
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



and the Security Documents. All property and moneys received by the Authority for the
City will, so long as no Event of Non-appropriation or Event of Default shall occur, be
applied for the benefit of the City, and all property and moneys received by the Authority
hereunder with respect to the Project and under the Master Resolution for the Bondholders
of the Bonds will be applied for the proportionate benefit of said Bondholders.

(e) Neither the execution and delivery hereof, nor the fulfillment of or
compliance with the terms and conditions hereof, nor the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby conflicts with or results in a breach of the terms, conditions, or
provisions of any restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the Authority is now
a party or by which the Authority is bound, or constitutes a default under any of the
foregoing or results in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or encumbrance
whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Authority except Permitted
Encumbrances.

(f) Except as otherwise provided herein, in the Master Resolution and the
Security Documents, the Authority will not assign this Master Lease, its rights to payments
from the City or its duties and obligations hereunder to any other person, firm, or
corporation so as to impair or violate the representations, covenants, and warranties
contained in this Section 2.2.

(g)  The Authority will not use any of the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2023
Bonds in a manner not authorized by the terms of this Master Lease, the Master Resolution,
or the exhibits hereto and thereto.

(h) There is no action, suit, or proceeding pending or, to the best knowledge of
the Authority, threatened, or any basis therefor, before any court or administrative agency
which might adversely affect the Authority or the ability of the Authority to perform its
obligations under the Master Lease, the Master Resolution, the Security Documents or the
Bonds. All authorizations, consents, and approvals of governmental bodies or agencies
required in connection with the execution and delivery by the Authority of this Master
Lease, the Master Resolution, the Security Documents, and the Bonds or in connection
with the carrying out by the Authority of its obligations under this Master Lease, the Master
Resolution, the Security Documents, and the Bonds have been obtained.

(i) The Authority gave notice of its intent to issue the Series 2023 Bonds and
no petition meeting the requirements of Section 17D-2-502 of the Act was submitted during
the 30-day period following publication of such notice.

ARTICLE II1
DEMISING CLAUSE
The Authority hereby demises and leases, in its “AS IS” CONDITION AND, EXCEPT AS

OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS MASTER LEASE, WITHOUT
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE, EXPRESS,

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



IMPLIED OR OTHERWISE, the Project to the City and the City leases the Project from the
Authority, subject only to Permitted Encumbrances in accordance with the provisions of this
Master Lease, to have and to hold under this Master Lease unless sooner terminated as expressly
provided herein. Nothing in this Master Lease shall be construed to require the City to operate the
Project other than as the lessee hereunder or to exercise its right to purchase the Project or any
portion thereof as provided in Article XII of this Master Lease.

The Authority warrants and covenants that it has a fee interest in and to the Project Site
and that it will furnish the Project, all as more fully described in Exhibit A hereto, subject to
Permitted Encumbrances. The Authority will cause to be furnished at the time of delivery of the
Series 2023 Bonds, or at or prior to disbursement of any amounts with respect to such portion of
the Project, a title report issued by a title insurance company satisfactory to the CIB which satisfies
the requirements of Section 3.3(c) of the Master Resolution.

The Authority shall be empowered, after an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of
Default and the foreclosure of the security afforded under this Master Lease, the Master
Resolution, or the Security Documents, and apply the said amounts collected to the Base Rentals
and Additional Rentals, as appropriate, required herein, but no such collection shall be deemed a
waiver of any agreement, term, covenant, or condition hereof, or the acceptance of any sublessee
as lessee hereunder.

ARTICLE IV
LEASE TERM

Section4.1  Commencement of Lease Term. The Lease Term shall commence as of the
date of delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds and shall terminate at midnight on December 31, 2023.
The Lease Term may be continued, solely at the option of the City, beyond the termination of the
Original Term for an additional year, the first “Renewal Term,” and for thirty-one (31) consecutive
additional Renewal Terms thereafter each of one year in duration, upon the City having budgeted
and appropriated, prior to the end of the then current Original or Renewal Term, sufficient City
Funds for the payment of Base Rentals and reasonably estimated Additional Rentals to become
due during the next following Renewal Term, it being understood that by budgeting and
appropriating such amounts, the City shall have elected to continue the Lease Term for the next
following Renewal Term and shall have given adequate notice thereof as contemplated by Section
17D-2-402 of the Authority Act, and it being further understood that if no payment is due and
owing during a Renewal Term, the City shall be deemed to have continued the Lease Term for
said Renewal Term. The terms and conditions during any Renewal Term shall be the same as the
terms and conditions during the Original Term, except that the Base Rentals and Purchase Option
Price shall be as otherwise provided herein.

Section4.2  Termination of Lease Term. The Lease Term shall terminate upon the first
to occur of the following events:

(a) the occurrence of an Event of Non-appropriation;

4877-8179-4696, v. 2



(b) the exercise by the City of its option to purchase the Project, granted under
the provisions of this Master Lease;

(c) an Event of Default and the election of the Authority to terminate this
Master Lease under Article XIV hereof;

(d) the discharge of the lien of the Master Resolution under Article IX thereof;

(e) the termination of the Lease Term pursuant to Section 10.3 of this Master
Lease under the conditions provided therein; or

() October 1, 2054, which date constitutes the last day of the final Renewal
Term of this Master Lease, upon payment of all Base Rentals and Additional Rentals
required hereunder.

Section 4.3  Effect on the City of Expiration or Termination of the Term of this Master
Lease. The expiration or termination of the term of this Master Lease as to the City’s right of
possession and use of the Project pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof shall terminate all obligations of
the City under this Master Lease (except to the extent that the City incurred any obligation to pay
Rentals from moneys theretofore appropriated and available for such purpose) and shall terminate
the City’s rights of use, occupancy, and operation of the Project; provided, however, that all other
terms of this Master Lease and the Master Resolution, shall be continuing until the liens of the
Master Resolution are discharged or foreclosed, as provided in the Master Resolution, except that
all obligations of the City to pay any amounts to the Bondholders hereunder shall thereafter be
satisfied only as provided in the Master Resolution. The termination or expiration of the term of
this Master Lease as to the City’s right of possession and use pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof, in
and of itself, shall not discharge the lien of the Master Resolution.

Section 4.4  Revised Schedule of Base Rentals and Option Price. Upon partial
redemption of any Series of Bonds pursuant to the Master Resolution, or the issuance of Additional
Bonds or Refunding Bonds pursuant to the Master Resolution, the Authority shall provide the City
with a revised schedule of Base Rentals which schedule shall take into account such redemption
or issuance and shall be and become for all purposes thereafter Exhibit B to this Master Lease
setting forth the Base Rentals.

ARTICLE V
ENJOYMENT OF PROJECT

Subject to the provisions of the Master Lease, the Authority hereby covenants to provide
the City during the Lease Term with quiet use and enjoyment of the Project, and the City shall
during the Lease Term peaceably and quietly have and hold and enjoy the Project, without suit,
trouble, or hindrance from the Authority or the Bondholders, except as expressly set forth herein
and in the Master Resolution and the Security Documents. Neither the Authority nor any
Bondholder shall interfere with such quiet use and enjoyment during the Lease Term so long as no
Event of Default or Event of Non-appropriation shall have occurred. The Authority shall, at the
request of the City and at the cost of the City, join in any legal action in which the City asserts its

10
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



right to such possession and enjoyment, to the extent that the Authority may lawfully do so. In
addition, the City may at its own expense join in any legal action affecting its possession and
enjoyment of the Project and shall be joined as a party in any action affecting its liabilities
hereunder.

The Authority shall have the right at all reasonable times during business hours (and in
emergencies at all times) to enter into and upon the Project for the purpose of inspecting the same.

ARTICLE VI
PAYMENTS BY THE CITY

Section 6.1  Payments to Constitute a Current Expense of the City. The City and the
Authority acknowledge and agree that the obligation of the City to pay Base Rentals and
Additional Rentals hereunder constitutes a current expense of the City payable exclusively from
City Funds and shall not in any way be construed to be an obligation or indebtedness of the City
within the meaning of Sections 3 or 4 of Article XIV of the Utah Constitution, or any other
constitutional or statutory limitation or requirement applicable to the City concerning the creation
of indebtedness. No provision of this Master Lease shall be construed or interpreted as a lending
of the credit of the City within the meaning of Section 29 of Article VI of the Utah Constitution.
Neither the City, nor the Authority on its behalf, has pledged the credit of the City to the payment
of the Base Rentals, the Additional Rentals, the Purchase Option Price, the Bonds or the interest,
if any, thereon, and neither this Master Lease, the Security Documents, the Master Resolution nor
the Bonds shall directly or contingently obligate the City to apply money, or to levy or pledge any
form of taxation, to the payment of the Base Rentals, the Additional Rentals, the Purchase Option
Price, the Bonds or any interest, if any, thereon except as expressly provided herein.

Section 6.2  Payment of Base Rentals. The City shall pay Base Rentals exclusively from
City Funds. The City shall pay Base Rentals during the Original Term and any Renewal Term in
such amounts as shall be sufficient to pay principal and interest, if any, when due on the Series
2023 Bonds. The Base Rentals shall be payable directly to the Authority in annual payments in
such amounts as shall equal the principal payments falling due on the Series 2023 Bonds, by
regularly scheduled maturities on the next succeeding principal payment date on the Series 2023
Bonds on the next Interest Payment Date, such that there shall be on deposit with the Authority at
least fifteen (15) days prior to each principal payment date on the Series 2023 Bonds an amount
sufficient to make such payment. In addition, until the Reserve Fund with respect to the Series
2023 Bonds is at all times fully funded to the Reserve Fund Requirement, the City shall, in the
event it elects to renew this Master Lease during the following Renewal Term, and as a condition
of renewal, pay to the Authority in annual payments Base Rentals during the following Renewal
Term, in an amount sufficient to fund or replenish the Reserve Fund to the Reserve Fund
Requirement as provided in the Master Resolution. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is the Base Rental
Schedule. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, no payment of Base Rentals
shall be required to be paid prior to delivery of the Project to the City for occupancy; provided,
however, that as substantial portions of the Project are available for operation the City shall pay
Base Rentals in proportion to the portion available. The amount of the Base Rentals otherwise
payable by the City hereunder shall be reduced by an amount equal to (i) earnings on the
investment of the Bond Fund, (ii) moneys transferred to the Bond Fund from the Reserve Fund

11
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



pursuant to the last paragraph of Section 6.7 of the Master Resolution which moneys are applied
to pay the principal of the Bonds, and (iii) any moneys paid by the Authority for the purchase of
the Bonds and the cancellation thereof or which are otherwise deposited in the Bond Fund, other
than moneys paid as Base Rentals or the Purchase Option Price. Base Rentals due at least fifteen
(15) days prior to any Bond payment date shall be in consideration for the use of the Project by
the City during the one-year period succeeding each Bond payment date and for the option to
purchase the Project granted herein.

It is understood and agreed by the City that, subject to the terms of this Master Lease and
the Master Resolution, all Base Rentals payable under this Section 6.2 by the City, as well as the
Purchase Option Price, if paid with respect to the Project, are pledged by the Authority for the
benefit of the Bondholders. The City assents to such pledge. The Authority hereby directs the
City, and the City hereby agrees to pay to the Authority at its principal office, all Base Rentals
payable by the City pursuant to this Section 6.2 and, if paid, the Purchase Option Price.

The amount of the Base Rentals and Purchase Option Price otherwise payable shall be
reduced as appropriate to reflect any redemption of Series 2023 Bonds and/or the purchase of
Bonds and the cancellation thereof in advance of their maturity; provided, however, that adequate
provision shall be made for the payment of any Additional Bonds or Refunding Bonds. If at any
time the amounts held by the Authority in the Bond Fund and the Reserve Fund (other than moneys
held for the payment of Bonds not deemed Outstanding) shall be sufficient to pay at the times
required the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on all of the Bonds
(including any Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds) then Outstanding, the City shall not be
obligated to pay any further Base Rentals hereunder.

Section 6.3 ~ Payment of Additional Rentals with Respect to the Project. In addition to
the Base Rental and as part of the total consideration for the use of the Project and the option to
purchase the Project, and commencing upon delivery of possession of the Project or any substantial
portion thereof, as provided in Section 6.2 of this Master Lease and continuing throughout the
period that the City pays Base Rentals, the City shall pay the following Additional Rentals,
exclusively from City Funds, during the Original Term and any Renewal Terms thereof as
hereinafter provided:

(a) the annual fee of the Authority for the ordinary services of the Authority
rendered and its ordinary expenses incurred under the Master Resolution;

(b) the reasonable fees and charges of the Authority and any paying agent
appointed under the Master Resolution with respect to the Bonds for acting as paying agent
as provided in the Master Resolution;

(c) the reasonable fees and charges of the Authority for extraordinary services
rendered by it and extraordinary expenses incurred by it as Authority under the Master
Resolution;

(d) the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Authority not otherwise
required to be paid by the City under the terms of this Master Lease;

12
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



(e) the costs of maintenance and repair as required under Section 9.1 of this
Master Lease;

® the costs of taxes, governmental charges, utility charges, management and
operations expenses, liens, and encumbrances as required under Section 9.3 of this Master
Lease;

(g) the costs of casualty, public liability and property damage, and worker’s
compensation insurance as required under Sections 9.4, 9.5, and 9.6 of this Master Lease;

(h)  the amount of any tax or excise on the Base Rentals, Additional Rentals,
Purchase Option Price, or any other tax, however described, levied, assessed, or imposed
by the United States Government, the State, or any political subdivision or any taxing
authority thereof against the Authority; and

1) an amount equal to any franchise, succession, capital levy, or transfer tax or
any income, excess profits, or revenue tax, or any other tax, assessment, charge, or levy
upon the Base Rentals, Additional Rentals, or the Purchase Option Price payable by the
City pursuant to this Master Lease.

The Additional Rentals specified in subsections (a), (b), and (c) of this Section 6.3 shall be
payable to the Authority and shall be due and payable within ten (10) days after notice in writing
from the Authority to the City stating the amount of Additional Rentals then due and payable and
the purpose thereof. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Master Resolution, the
Additional Rentals specified in subsections (d), (), (f), (g), (h), and (i) of this Section 6.3 shall be
payable to the Authority or directly to the person or entity with respect to which such costs were
incurred and shall be due and payable at such time as the Authority or such person or entity shall
require.

Section 6.4  Manner of Payment. The Base Rentals, Additional Rentals and, if paid, the
Purchase Option Price, shall be paid exclusively from City Funds and in lawful money of the
United States of America. The obligation of the City to make payment of the Base Rentals and
Additional Rentals required under this Article VI and other sections hereof and to perform and
observe the other covenants and agreements contained herein shall be absolute and unconditional
in all events except as expressly provided hereunder. Notwithstanding any dispute between the
City and the Authority, any Bondholder, any contractor or subcontractor, if any, retained with
respect to the acquisition, construction, and equipping of the Project, any supplier of labor or
materials in connection therewith or any other person, the City shall pay all payments of Base
Rentals and Additional Rentals, from and to the extent of available City Funds, when due, and
shall not withhold any Base Rentals or Additional Rentals pending final resolution of such dispute,
nor shall the City assert any right of set-off or counterclaim against its obligation to make such
payments required hereunder. The obligation of the City to pay Base Rentals and Additional
Rentals during the Original Term and the then current Renewal Term shall be absolute and
unconditional in all events, except as expressly provided herein, and payment of the Base Rentals
and Additional Rentals shall not be abated through accident or unforeseen circumstances.

13
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 6.5  Expression of Need for the Project by the City; Determination of Purchase
Price. The City hereby declares that, as of the date of the execution of this Master Lease, the City
currently has an essential need for the Project which is the subject of this Master Lease to carry
out and give effect to the public purposes of the City. By the execution hereof, the City and the
Authority hereby agree and determine that the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals payable
hereunder are reasonable and that the Purchase Option Price represents, as of the end of the
Original Term or any Renewal Term, a reasonable purchase price of the Project. In making such
determination the City and the Authority have given consideration to the costs of construction of
the Project, the cost of financing the Project, the uses and purposes for which the Project will be
employed by the City and the benefit to the citizens of the City by reason of the City’s use and
occupancy of the Project pursuant to the provisions of this Master Lease.

Section 6.6  Non-appropriation. In the event that sufficient City Funds shall not be
budgeted and appropriated by the City prior to the beginning of any Renewal Term for the payment
of the (i) Base Rentals becoming due during such Renewal Term, and (ii) such Additional Rentals
becoming due during such Renewal Term which can be determined with reasonable accuracy, then
an Event of Non-appropriation shall be deemed to have occurred as of the first day of such Renewal
Term and the City shall not be obligated to make payment of the Base Rentals or Additional
Rentals provided for herein beyond the last day of the Renewal Term preceding such Event of
Non-appropriation. Subject to the provisions of the next succeeding sentence, once the City has
elected to continue this Master Lease for a Renewal Term by budgeting and appropriating
sufficient City Funds for the payment of Base Rentals and Additional Rentals hereunder the City
shall, as of the first day of such Renewal Term, be obligated to pay such Base Rentals and
Additional Rentals during such Renewal Term. If the City fails to pay any Base Rentals or
Additional Rentals due under this Master Lease, or upon an Event of Non-appropriation the City
shall immediately quit and vacate the Project and its obligation to pay Base Rentals or Additional
Rentals hereunder shall terminate. The Authority shall, upon the occurrence of an Event of Non-
appropriation, have all rights and remedies to take possession of the Project as trustee for the
benefit of the Bondholders and shall hold in trust for the Bondholders all moneys then on hand and
being held in all funds created under the Master Resolution. All property, funds, and rights
acquired by the Authority by reason of an Event of Non-appropriation as provided herein shall be
held by the Authority under the Master Resolution for the benefit of the Bondholders as set forth
in said Master Resolution until the principal of, and premium, and interest, if any, on the Bonds
are paid in full and any excess shall thereafter be paid to the City.

The parties hereto agree that, upon the occurrence of an Event of Non-appropriation, the
City shall immediately quit and vacate the Project.

Section 6.7  Application of Base Rentals, Additional Rentals, and Purchase Option
Price. All Base Rentals, the Additional Rentals specified in subsections (a), (b), (c), and (d) of
Section 6.3 hereof, and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price shall be paid to the Authority
for application in accordance with the Master Resolution.

Section 6.8  Request for Appropriation. To the extent permitted by law, the City
covenants and agrees as follows:

14
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



(a) During the term of this Master Lease, the City covenants and agrees (i) to
include in its annual tentative budget prepared by the appropriate officials acting on behalf
of the City in accordance with applicable law an item for expenditure of an amount
necessary (after taking into account any moneys then legally available for such purpose,
including but not limited to such revenues and receipts, if any, as may be generated by the
City’s operation or subleasing of the Project) to pay the Base Rentals and reasonably
estimated Additional Rentals (calculated as provided herein) for the Project during the next
succeeding Renewal Term, and (ii) to take such further action (or cause the same to be
taken) as may be necessary or desirable to assure that the final budget submitted to the
governing body of the City for its consideration seeks an appropriation of moneys sufficient
to pay such Base Rentals and Additional Rentals for each such Renewal Term, including
all such actions for such purpose as may be required under the Uniform Fiscal Procedures
Act for Counties, Title 17, Chapter 36, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended (the
“Uniform Fiscal Procedures Act”). The first such inclusion in the City’s annual tentative
budget shall be made under applicable law in the fiscal year prior to the fiscal year
commencing January 1, 2023, so that the Base Rentals payable during such Renewal Term
and the reasonably estimated Additional Rentals payable during such Renewal Term will
have been appropriated for such purpose, and subsequent inclusions in each respective
tentative budget for appropriations by the City shall be made in each fiscal year thereafter
so that the Base Rentals to be paid during the succeeding Renewal Term and Additional
Rentals payable during such Renewal Term will be available for such purposes as long as
the governing body of the City determines to approve such amount in the final budget as
adopted.

(b) To effect the covenants set forth in (a) above, the City hereby directs its
“budget officer” (as such term is defined in the Uniform Fiscal Procedures Act, or any
other officer at the time charged with the responsibility of formulating budget proposals)
to include in the tentative budget prepared annually by such budget officer or other officer
and submitted to the governing body of the City, in any year in which this Master Lease is
in effect, items for all payments required for the ensuing Renewal Term under this Master
Lease. It is hereby expressed as the intention of the City that the decision to renew or not
to renew the term of this Master Lease is to be made solely by the governing body of the
City at the time it considers for adoption the final budget for each of its fiscal years and
corresponding Renewal Terms hereunder, and not by any official of the City, acting in his
or her individual capacity as such. In this connection, the City hereby covenants and agrees
that such budget officer or other officer shall not amend, modity, or otherwise change the
appropriations made in any finally adopted budget for the payment of any Base Rentals or
Additional Rentals without the express prior approval of the governing body of the City.

ARTICLE VII

CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT AND
ISSUANCE OF SERIES 2023 BONDS

Section 7.1  Agreement to Acquire Project. The City and the Authority agree that the
Authority shall cause the Project to be constructed as herein provided, all of which construction
shall be made in accordance with the plans for the Project as approved by the City and the

15
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Authority. The Authority hereby agrees that in order to effectuate the purposes of this Master
Lease, it will make, execute, acknowledge, and transmit any contracts, orders, receipts, writings,
and instructions with any other persons, firms, or corporations and in general do all things which
may be requisite or proper, all for the construction of the Project.

The Authority agrees to construct the Project through the application of moneys to be
disbursed from the Escrow Account (as defined in the Master Resolution) by the Authority upon
the authorization of the Authority Representative in accordance with the Master Resolution.

The Authority agrees to cause the construction of the Project to be completed with all
reasonable dispatch, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the same to be completed
by , or as soon thereafter as may be practicable, subject only to delays caused by
Force Majeure excepted; but if for any reason the Project is not completed by said date, there shall
be no resulting liability on the part of the Authority or Event of Default hereunder.

Section 7.2 Agreement to Issue the Series 2023 Bonds: Application of Bond Proceeds.
In order to provide funds to finance the Project (as described herein), the Authority, concurrently
with the execution of this Master Lease, will issue, sell, and deliver to the CIB the Series 2023
Bonds and the Authority will deposit the proceeds thereof in the Escrow Account as provided in
the Master Resolution. Moneys shall be disbursed from the Escrow Account in accordance with
the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

Section 7.3  Establishment of Completion Date; Disbursement of Balance of Escrow
Account. In the event improvements are constructed with bond proceeds, the Completion Date
shall be evidenced by a certificate signed by the Authority Representative and the City
Representative stating that, except for amounts retained by the Authority at the direction of the
Authority for any Costs of Construction, if applicable, not then due and payable, (i) the
construction of the Project has been completed in accordance with the plans and specifications and
all labor, services, materials, and supplies used in such construction have been paid for, (ii) all
other facilities necessary in connection with the Project have been constructed, acquired, and
installed to their satisfaction, (iii) the Project is suitable and sufficient for its intended purposes,
and (iv) all costs and expenses incurred in the acquisition and construction, if any, of the Project
have been paid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such certificate shall state that it is given without
prejudice to any rights against third parties which exist at the date of such certificate or which may
subsequently come into being. Upon receipt of such certificate, the Authority shall terminate the
Escrow Account and disburse any remaining moneys on deposit therein to the Bond Fund to be
used to prepay the Bonds as provided in the Escrow Agreement.

Section 7.4  Sufficiency of Escrow Account. In the event that the moneys held in the
Escrow Account are insufficient to pay all Project Costs, including Costs of Construction, if
applicable, the City and the Authority hereby agree (i) to reduce the scope of the Project
(particularly, flexible costs of the Project) in order that all of such costs will be covered without
the necessity of issuing Additional Bonds, or (ii) to deposit additional moneys in the Escrow
Account either through the issuance of Additional Bonds or from other legally available moneys
sufficient to complete the acquisition and, if applicable, construction of the Project.

16
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 7.5  Investment of Bond Fund and Reserve Fund Moneys. Subject to the
provisions of Article VI of the Master Resolution, any moneys held as a part of the Bond Fund,
the Reserve Fund, or any other fund created under said Master Resolution shall be invested and
reinvested by the Authority in Investment Obligations (as defined in the Master Resolution).

ARTICLE VIII

TITLE TO THE PROJECT; CONVEYANCE TO THE CITY;
SECURITY INTEREST

Section 8.1  Title to the Project. Title to the Project and any and all additions, repairs,
replacements, or modifications thereto, shall be held in the name of the Authority, subject to
Permitted Encumbrances, at all times until conveyed to the City as provided in Section 12.1. The
City shall not have any right, title, or interest in the Project or any additions, repairs, replacements,
modifications, or fixtures thereto except as expressly set forth herein.

Section 8.2  Security Interest. To secure the payment of all of the obligations of the
Authority under the Master Resolution, the Authority shall grant to the Bondholders a security
interest in the Project, the Base Rentals, and Additional Rentals received by the Authority under
this Master Lease, and all other rights to receive payments. Upon execution of this Master Lease,
the City and the Authority agree that the Authority shall execute the Security Documents and the
Master Resolution. The Master Resolution creates a valid and binding pledge and assignment of
and security interest in all of the personal property pledged as part of the Project, in favor of the
Bondholder as security for payment of the Bonds, enforceable by the Bondholder in accordance
with the terms thereof. Under the laws of the State, such pledge and assignment and security
interest is automatically perfected by Section 11-14-501 of the Local Government Bonding Act,
Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and is and shall be prior to any judicial lien hereafter
imposed on the personal property pledged as part of the Project to enforce a judgment against the
Authority on a simple contract.

ARTICLE IX
MAINTENANCE; TAXES; INSURANCE; AND OTHER CHARGES

Section 9.1  Maintenance of the Project by the City. The City shall, at its own expense
from available City Funds, operate, manage, keep, and maintain the Project in good working order,
condition, and repair, including replacements of a capital nature when necessary, and including
periodic painting as reasonably determined by the Authority and in accordance with all operating
and maintenance manuals and all applicable laws, rules, ordinances, orders, and regulations as
shall be in effect from time to time of (i) any federal, state, county, municipal, or other
governmental or quasi-governmental agencies and bodies having or claiming jurisdiction thereof
and all their respective departments, bureaus, and officials; (ii) the insurance underwriting board
or insurance inspection bureau having or claiming jurisdiction thereof; and (iii) all insurance
companies insuring all or any part of the Project. The foregoing shall not be construed to prohibit
the City from challenging the validity or applicability of such laws, rules, ordinances, orders, and
regulations and to defer compliance until the challenge has been completed.

17
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City shall, at the City’s sole cost and
expense, as if the City were the absolute owner thereof, from available City Funds, assume all
responsibility for the Project (including all surfaces of the buildings and entrances thereto,
foundations, ceilings, roof, all glass and show window moldings and all partitions, doors, fixtures,
equipment, and appurtenances thereto, including lighting and plumbing systems and fixtures,
sewage facilities, electric motors and heating, ventilating and air-conditioning systems, and all
landscaping, parking lots, driveways, fences, and signs located on the Project Site and all sidewalks
and parkways located adjacent to the Project Site) and pay all costs of any kind (including
operating costs and costs of repair, whether of a capital nature or otherwise) associated therewith.

Section 9.2  Modification of the Project. The City shall have the privilege of remodeling
the Project or making substitutions, additions, modifications, and improvements thereto, at its own
cost and expense, and the same shall be subject to this Master Lease, the Master Resolution, and
the Security Documents, and shall also be included under the terms hereof and thereof; provided,
however, that such remodeling, substitutions, additions, modifications, and improvements shall
not in any way damage the Project or cause it to be used for purposes other than those authorized
under the provisions of this Master Lease, and the Constitution and laws of the State; and provided,
however, that the Project, as remodeled, improved, or altered upon completion of such remodeling,
substitutions, additions, modifications, and improvements made pursuant to this Article IX shall
be of a fair rental value not less than the fair rental value of the Project immediately prior to the
remodeling or the making of substitutions, additions, modifications, and improvements. The City
shall not permit any mechanic’s or other lien to be established or remain against the Project for
labor or materials furnished in connection with any remodeling, substitutions, additions,
modifications, improvements, repairs, renewals, or replacements so made by the City; provided,
however, that if the City shall first notify the Authority of the intention of the City so to do, the
City may in good faith contest any mechanic’s or other lien filed or established against the Project,
and in such event may permit the items so contested to remain undischarged and unsatisfied during
the period of such contest and any appeal therefrom unless the Authority shall notify the City that,
in the opinion of Independent Counsel, by nonpayment of any such items the security afforded
pursuant to the terms hereof and pursuant to the Master Resolution and the Security Documents
will be materially endangered or the Project or any part thereof will be subject to loss or forfeiture,
in which event the City shall promptly pay and cause to be satisfied and discharged all such unpaid
items. The Authority will cooperate fully with the City in any such contest, upon the request and
at the expense of the City. Any property for which a substitution or replacement is made pursuant
to this Section 9.2 may be disposed of by the City in any manner and in the sole discretion of the
City.

Section 9.3 Taxes, Other Governmental Charges, and Utility Charges. In the event that

the Project or any portion thereof shall, for any reason, be deemed subject to taxation, assessments,
or charges lawfully made by any governmental body which may be secured by a lien against the
Project, an Additional Rental, from and to the extent of City Funds, shall be paid by the City equal
to the amount of all such taxes, assessments, and governmental charges then due. With respect to
special assessments or other governmental charges which may be lawfully paid in installments
over a period of years, the City shall be obligated to provide for Additional Rentals only for such
installments as are required to be paid during that period that the City is obligated to pay Base
Rentals. The City shall not allow any liens for taxes, assessments, or governmental charges to
exist (including, without limitation, any taxes levied which, if not paid, will become a charge on

18
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



the rentals and receipts prior to or on a parity with the charge thereon and the pledge and
assignment thereof to be created and made in the Master Resolution), or any interest therein
(including the interest of the Authority) or the rentals and revenues derived therefrom or hereunder.
The City shall also pay as Additional Rentals, from and to the extent of available City Funds, as
the same respectively become due, all gas, water, steam, electricity, heat, power, telephone, utility
and other charges incurred in the operation, maintenance, use, occupancy and upkeep of the
Project.

As long as the City is in possession of the Project and except as otherwise provided herein,
it shall keep it free and clear of all liens, charges, and encumbrances (except Permitted
Encumbrances and any encumbrances arising through the Authority) and shall have the
responsibility for all management, operations, maintenance, and repair of the Project. The City in
its discretion may discharge such responsibility by: (i) using its own employees; or (ii) contracting
for services; or (iii) subleasing portions of the Project, subject to the provisions hereof and of the
Master Resolution; or (iv) any combination of such methods. No such contract shall place a greater
burden on the Authority than provided herein, nor infringe upon rights granted to or retained by
the Authority hereunder, nor violate or in any way impair the Authority’s obligations under the
Master Resolution or any other instrument, if any, securing any debt or borrowings by the
Authority, all or substantially all the proceeds of which are to be used to finance the Project. The
Authority does not agree to provide anything more than the Project as herein defined, and shall
have no obligation to incur any expense of any kind or character in connection with the
management, operation, or maintenance of the Project during the Lease Term.

The City may, at the expense and in the name of the City, in good faith contest any such
taxes, assessments, utility, and other charges and, in the event of any such contest, may permit the
taxes, assessments, or other charges so contested to remain unpaid during the period of such contest
and any appeal therefrom provided the City shall first deposit with the Authority, or in court, a
bond or other security satisfactory to Authority pursuant to Section 1.18 of the Deed of Trust,
Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement delivered by the Authority unless the Authority shall
notify the City that, in the opinion of Independent Counsel, by nonpayment of any such items the
security afforded pursuant to the terms hereof and pursuant to the Master Resolution and the
Security Documents will be materially endangered or the Project or any portion thereof will be
subject to loss or forfeiture, in which event such taxes, assessments, or charges shall be paid
forthwith. In the event that the City shall fail to pay any of the foregoing items required by this
Section 9.3 to be paid by the City, the Authority may (but shall be under no obligation to) pay the
same, which amounts, together with interest thereon at a rate per annum equal to eighteen percent
(18%) as of the date of payment, the City agrees to pay, from and to the extent of available City
Funds.

Section 9.4  Provisions Respecting Insurance. The City agrees to insure or cause to be
insured the Project against loss or damage of the kinds usually insured against by public bodies
similarly situated, including, without limitation, policies of casualty and property damage
insurance, by means of policies issued by reputable insurance companies duly qualified to do such
business in the State with a uniform standard coverage endorsement limited only as may be
provided in the standard form of extended coverage endorsement at that time in use in the State,
in amounts that are not less than full insurable value of the Project. The term “full insurable value”
as used herein shall mean the actual replacement value, or at the option of the City any lesser

19
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



amount which is equal to or greater than the amount of all of the Bonds then Outstanding.
Alternatively, the City may insure or cause to be insured under a blanket insurance policy or
policies or under self-insurance which cover not only the Project but other properties in the
amounts required by the previous sentence. Ifa program of self-insurance is used, (i) such program
must provide for disbursements therefrom without the approval of the governing body of the City
and (ii) such program shall be reviewed at least annually by an actuarial consultant, to insure that
the reserves established are sufficient for the risks intended to be covered by such program. If
self-insurance is not utilized, the policies may have a deductible clause in an amount not to exceed
$100,000.

Any insurance policy issued pursuant to the preceding paragraph of this Section 9.4 shall
be so written or endorsed as to make losses, if any, payable to the Authority under the Master
Resolution. The Net Proceeds of the insurance required in this Section 9.4 shall be applied as
provided in Section 10.2 or, at the option of the City, Section 10.3 of this Master Lease. The City
may settle, adjust, or compromise any claims for loss, damage, or destruction under any policy or
policies of insurance only with written approval of the Authority. Each insurance policy provided
for in Section 9.4 of this Master Lease shall contain a provision to the effect that the insurance
company shall not cancel the policy or modify it materially and adversely to the interest of the City
or the Authority without first giving written notice thereof to the City, the Authority and the CIB
at least ten (10) days in advance of such cancellation or modification. Copies of all insurance
policies issued pursuant to Section 9.4 or Section 9.5 of this Master Lease, or certificates
evidencing such policies, shall be deposited with Authority.

Section 9.5  Public Liability Insurance. The City agrees to carry or cause to be carried
public liability insurance with one or more reputable insurance companies in minimum amounts
of $500,000 for the death of or personal injury to one person and $1,000,000 for personal injury
or death for each occurrence and $300,000 for property damage for any occurrence. The Authority
shall be made additional insureds under such policies. The insurance required by this Section 9.5
may be by blanket insurance policy or policies or self-insurance meeting the requirements of
Section 9.4 hereof. If self-insurance is not utilized, the policies may have a deductible clause in
such amount as shall be approved by the Authority.

Section 9.6  Worker’s Compensation Coverage. At all times from the date hereof until
the end of the Lease Term, the City shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, worker’s
compensation coverage with respect to officers, agents, and employees of the City working in, on
or about the Project, including coverage for occupational diseases.

Section 9.7  Advances. Inthe event that the City shall fail to maintain the full insurance
coverage required by this Master Lease or shall fail to keep the Project in good repair and operating
condition, the Authority may (but shall be under no obligation to) take out the required policies of
insurance and pay the premiums on the same or may make such repairs or replacements as are
necessary and provide for payment thereof; which amounts, together with interest thereon at a rate
of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, the City agrees to pay, from and to the extent of available
City Funds.

Section 9.8 Failure to Provide Insurance. In the event the Authority pays for any
insurance policies required by this Article, the City will promptly pay directly to the Authority all

20
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



premiums for said insurance, and until payment is made by the City therefor, the amount of all
such premiums which have been paid by the Authority shall bear interest at the per annum rate of
eighteen percent (18%). The City shall, upon the Authority’s reasonable request, deposit with the
Authority in monthly installments an amount equal to one-twelfth of the estimated aggregate
annual insurance premiums on all policies of insurance required by this Article. The City further
agrees, upon the Authority’s request, to cause all bills, statements, or other documents relating to
the foregoing insurance premiums to be sent or mailed directly to the Authority. If at any time and
for any reason the funds deposited with the Authority are or will be insufficient to pay such
amounts as may then or subsequently be due, the Authority shall notify the City and the City shall
immediately deposit an amount equal to such deficiency with the Authority.

Section 9.9  Evidence and Notice Regarding Insurance. FEvidence of the insurance
required by Sections 9.4 and 9.5 hereof shall be provided by the City to the Authority annually on
or before the anniversary date of issuance of the Bonds. Policies providing said insurance shall
require that notice of cancellation of any said insurance must be furnished to the Authority and the
CIB by the insurance carrier thirty (30) days in advance of cancellation.

ARTICLE X

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION, AND CONDEMNATION;
USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Section 10.1 Damage, Destruction, and Condemnation. If, prior to the termination of the
Lease Term and the payment in full of the Bonds (or the making of provisions for the payment
thereof in accordance with the Master Resolution) (i) the Project or any material portion thereof
shall be destroyed (in whole or in part), or damaged by fire or other casualty; or (ii) title to, or the
temporary or permanent use of the Project or any material portion thereof or the estate of the City
or the Authority in the Project or any material portion thereof shall be taken under the exercise of
the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or by any person, firm, or corporation
acting under governmental authority; or (iii) a material defect in construction of the Project shall
become apparent; or (iv) title to or the use of all or any material portion of the Project shall be lost
by reason of a defect in title thereto, the City shall be obligated, subject to the provisions of Section
10.3 of this Master Lease, to continue to pay the amounts specified in Sections 10.2, 6.2, and 6.3
of this Master Lease regardless of whether the Project shall have been accepted.

Section 10.2  Obligation of the City to Repair and Replace the Project. Subject to the
provisions of Section 10.3 of this Master Lease, the City shall cause the Net Proceeds of any
insurance policies, performance bonds, or condemnation awards with respect to the Project to be
deposited in a separate trust fund with the Authority. All Net Proceeds so deposited shall be
applied to the prompt repair, restoration, modification, or improvement of the Project by the City
upon receipt of a requisition acceptable to the Authority signed by the City Representative, stating
with respect to each payment to be made: (i) the requisition number; (ii) the name and address of
the person, firm, or corporation to whom payment is due; (iii) the amount to be paid; (iv) that each
obligation mentioned therein has been properly incurred, is a proper charge against the separate
trust fund, and has not been the basis of any previous withdrawal and specifying in reasonable
detail the nature of the obligation, accompanied by a bill or a statement of account for such
obligation; and (v) such other documents and information as the Authority requires. The balance

21
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



of any such Net Proceeds remaining after such repair, restoration, modification, or improvement
has been completed shall be transferred to the Bond Fund to be applied to the payment of the
principal of, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the Bonds, or if said Bonds shall have been
fully paid (or provision for payment thereof has been made in accordance with the provisions of
the Master Resolution), any balance remaining in such separate trust fund shall be paid to the City.
If the Net Proceeds shall be insufficient to pay in full the cost of any repair, restoration,
modification, or improvement or to redeem all Outstanding Bonds, the City shall, from and to the
extent of available City Funds, complete the work and pay any cost in excess of the amount of the
Net Proceeds. The City agrees that, if by reason of any such insufficiency of the Net Proceeds,
the City shall make any payments pursuant to the provisions of this Section 10.2, the City shall not
be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Authority or the Bondholders nor shall the City
be entitled to any diminution of the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals payable under Sections
6.2 and 6.3 of this Master Lease. The City further agrees that any repair, restoration, modification,
or improvement paid for in whole or in part out of such Net Proceeds shall be subject to the security
afforded by the Master Resolution, this Master Lease, and the Security Documents, and shall be
included under the terms hereof.

Section 10.3  Discharge of the Obligation of the City to Repair and Replace the Project.
In the event that the Net Proceeds of any insurance policy, performance bond, or condemnation
award made available by reason of an occurrence described in Section 10.1 of this Master Lease
shall be insufficient to pay in full the cost of any repair, restoration, or modification of the Project
required under Section 10.2 of this Master Lease, then the obligation to repair and replace the
Project under Section 10.2 of this Master Lease may, at the option of the City, be discharged by
depositing the Net Proceeds of the insurance policies, performance bonds, or condemnation awards
made available by reason of such occurrence into the Bond Fund. Upon the deposit of such Net
Proceeds in the Bond Fund, the City shall have no further obligation for the payment of Base
Rentals and Additional Rentals hereunder, and possession of the Project as well as all rights created
pursuant to this Master Lease and interest of the City and the Authority therein and in any funds
or accounts created under the Master Resolution (except for moneys held for the payment of Bonds
not then deemed Outstanding), shall be surrendered to the Bondholder. Thereafter, the Project
may be liquidated pursuant to the provisions of the Master Resolution and Security Documents
and the proceeds of such liquidation and the Net Proceeds of any insurance policy, performance
bond, or condemnation award so deposited in the Bond Fund, as well as all other moneys on
deposit in any fund created under the Master Resolution (except moneys held for the payment of
Bonds not then deemed Outstanding), shall be applied to the redemption of the Bonds on the next
succeeding redemption date. Such redemption of Bonds shall be made upon full or partial payment
of the principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and accrued interest thereon, if any, all in
accordance with the Master Resolution. In the event that available moneys shall be insufficient to
redeem said Bonds by payment of an amount equal to the Outstanding principal amount thereof
and accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date, no further claim for payment may be had by
the Bondholders against the Authority or the City, as provided in the Master Resolution.

Section 10.4 Cooperation of the Authority. The Authority shall cooperate fully with the
City at the expense of the City in filing any proof of loss with respect to any insurance policy or
performance bond covering the events described in Section 10.1 of this Master Lease and in the
prosecution or defense of any prospective or pending condemnation proceeding with respect to the
Project or any portion thereof or any property of the City in connection with which the Project is

22
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



used and will, to the extent it may lawfully do so, and shall permit the City to litigate in any
proceeding resulting therefrom in the name and behalf of the Authority. In no event will the
Authority voluntarily settle, or consent to the settlement of, any proceeding arising out of any
insurance claim or any prospective or pending condemnation proceeding or any part thereof
without the written consent of the City Representative.

Section 10.5 Condemnation of Property Owned by the City. The City shall be entitled
to the Net Proceeds of any condemnation award or portion thereof made for destruction of, damage
to or taking of its property not included in the Project.

ARTICLE XI

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; COMPLIANCE WITH
LAWS AND RULES; OTHER COVENANTS

Section 11.1  Disclaimer or Warranties. THE AUTHORITY MAKES NO WARRANTY
OR REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE VALUE, DESIGN,
CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR
FITNESS FOR USE OF THE PROJECT OR ANY OF THE EQUIPMENT OR FIXTURES
THEREIN OR ANY OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY. In no event shall the
Authority be liable for any incidental, indirect, special, or consequential damage in connection
with or arising out of this Master Lease or the existence, furnishing, functioning, or the use by the
City of any item, product, or service provided for herein.

Section 11.2  Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. The City and the Authority
agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge, and deliver, or cause to be executed,
acknowledged, and delivered, such supplements hereto and such further instruments as may
reasonably be required for correcting any inadequate or incorrect description of the Project hereby
leased or intended so to be or for carrying out the intention hereof.

Section 11.3  City and Authority Representatives. Whenever under the provisions hereof
the approval of the City or the Authority is required, or the City or the Authority is required to take
some action at the request of the other, such approval or such request shall be given for the City
by the City Representative and for the Authority by the Authority Representative, and any party
hereto and the Authority shall be authorized to act on any such approval or request.

Section 11.4 Requirements of Law. During the Lease Term, the City and the Authority
shall observe and comply promptly with all current and future laws, ordinances, orders, rules, and
regulations as the same become effective, of the federal, state, City, and City governments and of
all courts or other governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project or any portion
thereof and of all their respective departments, bureaus, and officials, and of the insurance
regulatory agencies having jurisdiction over the Project, or any portion thereof, or any other body
exercising similar functions, and of all insurance companies writing policies covering the Project
or any portion thereof, whether the same are in force at the commencement of the Lease Term or
may in the future be passed, enacted or directed.

23
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 11.5 Inspection of the Project. The City and the Authority agree that the
Bondholders or their duly authorized agents shall have the right at all reasonable times to enter
upon the Project and to examine and inspect the Project. The Authority and its duly authorized
agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times, to examine the books, records, reports, and
other papers of the City and the Authority with respect to the Project.

Section 11.6  Granting of Easements. As long as no Event of Non-appropriation or an
Event of Default with respect to the Project shall have happened and be continuing, the City may
at any time or times grant easements, licenses, rights of way (including the dedication of public
highways), and other rights or privileges in the nature of easements with respect to any property
or rights included in this Master Lease and the Master Resolution, free from the security interest
afforded by or under this Master Lease, the Master Resolution, and the Security Documents or the
City may release existing easements, licenses, rights of way, and other rights and privileges with
or without consideration, and the Authority agrees that it shall execute and deliver any instrument
necessary or appropriate to confirm and grant or release any such easement, license, right of way,
or other grant or privilege upon receipt of: (i) a copy of the instrument of grant or release; (ii) a
written application signed by the City Representative requesting such instrument and stating that
such grant or release will not impair the effective use or interfere with the operation of the Project
or any material portion thereof; and (iii) an opinion of Independent Counsel that such grant or
release will not materially weaken, diminish, or impair the security granted to the Bondholders
and contemplated hereby or hereunder or under the Master Resolution or the Security Documents.

Section 11.7 Refunding Bonds. Refunding Bonds may be issued by the Authority in
accordance with the provisions of this Section 11.7 and Section 3.9 of the Master Resolution. Prior
to, or concurrently with, the issuance of and delivery of Refunding Bonds, the Authority shall pay,
or make provision for the payment of, all Bonds then Outstanding (other than such Refunding
Bonds) as set forth in Article IX of the Master Resolution.

Section 11.8 Issuance of Additional Bonds. Additional Bonds may be issued by the
Authority in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.10 of the Master Resolution and with a
corresponding effect on the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals due hereunder.

ARTICLE XII
CONVEYANCE OF THE PROJECT

Section 12.1 Conveyance of the Project. The Authority’s right and interest in and to the
Project shall be transferred, conveyed, and assigned by the Authority to the City:

(a) Upon payment by the City of the then applicable Purchase Option Price and
upon giving not less than thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority; or

(b) Upon payment by the City of all Base Rentals and Additional Rentals
required to be paid under this Master Lease during the Original Term and each of the
Renewal Terms; or

24
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



(c) Upon the discharge of the lien of the Master Resolution under Article IX
thereof.

The Authority agrees to execute such documents and instruments as shall be necessary to
effect a release of the security interest granted by said Master Resolution or the Security
Documents upon the payment in full of the Bonds.

Section 12.2  Conveyance on Purchase of Project. At the closing of any purchase of the
Project pursuant to the option to purchase granted in this Master Lease, the Authority shall, upon
receipt of the Purchase Option Price, or upon the payment by the City of all Base Rentals and
Additional Rentals required, or upon discharge of the lien of the Master Resolution as the case
may be, deliver to the City the following:

(a) If necessary, a release by the Authority of the lien under the Master
Resolution and Security Documents, together with any other instrument necessary or
appropriate to release any security interest granted by this Master Lease with respect to
such Project, the Master Resolution and Security Documents.

(b) All necessary documents conveying to the City good and marketable title to
the Project as it then exists subject to the following: (i) those liens and encumbrances
created by the City or to the creation or suffering of which the City consented; (ii) those
liens and encumbrances resulting from the failure of the City to perform or observe any of
the agreements on its part contained in this Master Lease; and (iii) Permitted
Encumbrances, other than the Master Resolution, this Master Lease, the Security
Documents, and any financing statements filed by the Authority pursuant to this Master
Lease with respect to the Project or the Master Resolution.

Section 12.3  Relative Position of Option and Master Resolution. The purchase option
granted to the City in this Article XII with respect to the Project shall be and remain prior and
superior to the Master Resolution and the Security Documents and may be exercised whether or
not an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing
hereunder or under the Master Resolution and the Security Documents; provided, however, that
such option must be exercised before the later of (i) ninety (90) days after notification in writing
by the Authority to the City of the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Master Resolution,
the Master Lease, or the Security Documents or (ii) the ultimate disposition of the Project upon
exercise of any available foreclosure remedy, and further provided that, as a condition of the
exercise of such option, the City must pay, in addition to the Purchase Option Price, any interest
payment deficiencies accruing from the date of the Event of Default or Event of Non-
appropriation.

23
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



ARTICLE XIII

ASSIGNMENT, SUBLEASING, INDEMNIFICATION
AND SELLING

Section 13.1 The Authority to Grant Security Interest to Bondholder. The parties hereto
agree that pursuant to the Master Resolution and the Security Documents, the Authority shall and
does hereby pledge and assign to the Bondholders all of the Authority’s right, title, and interest in
this Master Lease, except the Authority’s rights to compensation from the City for expenses of the
Authority under Section 6.3(d) of this Master Lease, the Authority’s rights to indemnification from
the City under Section 13.3 of'this Master Lease and the obligation of the City to pay any attorneys’
fees and expenses incurred by the Authority under Section 14.5 of this Master Lease.

Section 13.2  Assignment and Subleasing by the City. This Master Lease may not be
assigned by the City for any reason. The City may, with the written consent of the Authority, enter
into a sublease of all or portions of the Project without the necessity of obtaining the consent of
any Bondholder; subject, however, to each of the following conditions:

(a) the Project may only be subleased or assigned to a municipality, county,
district, nonprofit corporation, if those nonprofit corporations were formerly public bodies,
or an agency or department of the State;

(b) this Master Lease and the obligations of the City to make payment of Base
Rentals and Additional Rentals hereunder shall at all times during the Lease Term remain
obligations of the City notwithstanding any sublease;

(c) the City shall, prior to the execution of a sublease, furnish, or cause to be
furnished to the Authority a true and complete copy of each sublease;

(d) no sublease shall cause the Project, in whole or in part, to be used for a
purpose other than a governmental or proprietary public function authorized under the
provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State; and

(e) any such sublease shall be expressly subordinate to the rights of the
Authority and the Bondholders under the Master Resolution, this Master Lease, and the
Security Documents.

After an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of Default and the foreclosure of the
security afforded under the Master Lease, the Master Resolution, or the Security Documents, the
Authority may collect the amount of the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals allocable to any
sublease from any and all sublessees.

The Authority shall be empowered, after an Event of Non-appropriation or an Event of
Default and the foreclosure of the security afforded under this Master Lease, the applicable Master
Resolution, or the applicable Security Documents with respect to the Project, to collect the amount
of the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals allocable to any sublease from any and all sublessees,

26
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



and apply the net amount collected to the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals required herein
with respect to the Project, but no such collection shall be deemed a waiver of any agreement,
term, covenant, or condition hereof, or the acceptance of any sublessee as lessee hereunder.

Section 13.3 Release and Indemnification Covenants. To the extent of the Net Proceeds
of the insurance coverage of the City and contractor’s performance and payment bonds for the
Project required hereunder, the City shall and hereby agrees to indemnify and save the Authority
harmless against and from all claims, by or on behalf of any person, firm, corporation, or other
legal entity arising from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on, the
Project during the Lease Term from: (i) any condition of the Project; and (ii) any act or negligence
of the City or of any of its agents, contractors, or employees or any violation of law or the breach
of any covenant or warranty hereunder. The City shall indemnify and save the Authority harmless,
from and to the extent of available moneys as set forth above, from any such claim arising as
aforesaid from (i) or (ii) above, or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon
and, upon notice from the Authority, shall defend them or either of them in any action or
proceeding.

In exchange for the City’s agreement to indemnify the Authority as provided in this Section
13.3, the Authority hereby agrees to assert any cause of action that it might have against any third
parties for the benefit of the City. Furthermore, in no event will the Authority voluntarily settle or
consent to the settlement of any proceeding arising out of any claim applicable to the Project
without the written consent of the City Representative.

Section 13.4 References to Bonds Ineffective After Bonds Paid. Upon payment in full
of the Bonds (or provision for payment therecof having been made in accordance with the
provisions of the Master Resolution) and all fees and charges of Authority, all references in this
Master Lease to said Bonds shall be ineffective and the Bondholders shall thereafter have no rights
hereunder, saving and excepting those that shall have theretofore vested.

Section 13.5 Installation of the Furnishings and Machinery of the City. The City may
from time to time in its sole discretion and at its own expense, install machinery, equipment, and
other tangible property in the Project. All such machinery, equipment, and other tangible property,
except any machinery, equipment, and other tangible property substituted for machinery,
equipment, and tangible property purchased with proceeds of the Bonds as provided in Section
13.6, shall remain the sole property of the City, in which the Authority shall have no interest and
may be removed by the City at any time; provided, however, that the City shall be obligated to
repair any damage to the Project, at its own cost and expense, resulting from any such removal.

Section 13.6 Equipment Purchased with Proceeds of the Bonds. Any item of equipment
shall be labeled, to the extent practicable, to indicate that it is owned by the Authority, subject to
the Master Resolution, the Security Documents, and this Master Lease. Equipment of the Project
financed with proceeds of the Bonds may not be relocated by the City from the Project. Any item
of such equipment which shall be determined by the City to be no longer usable in connection with
the Project may be sold by the City after written notice to the Authority and upon (i) substitution
of equipment of comparable or greater value or (ii) deposit of the proceeds thereof in the Bond
Fund. Upon any such sale, the equipment so sold shall be released from the Master Resolution,

27
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



this Master Lease, the Security Documents, and the security interest created thereunder and
hereunder.

ARTICLE XIV
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 14.1  Events of Default Defined. Any one of the following shall be an “Event of
Default” under this Master Lease:

(a) Failure by the City to pay any Base Rentals or Additional Rentals required
to be paid under Sections 6.2 and 6.3 of this Master Lease at the time specified therein, in
the absence of an Event of Non-appropriation, for a period of five (5) days after written
notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, given to the City by the
Authority or, in any event, a failure by the City to make such payments within fifteen (15)
days after the date on which they are due; or

(b) Failure by the City to observe and perform any covenant, condition, or
agreement on its part to be observed or performed, other than as referred to in (a), for a
period of thirty (30) days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it
be remedied, given to the City by the Authority, unless the Authority shall agree in writing
to an extension of such time prior to its expiration; provided, however, that if the failure
stated in the notice cannot be corrected within the applicable period, the Authority shall
not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of such time if corrective action shall
be instituted by the City within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the default
is corrected; or

(c) The City shall abandon any material portion of the Project; or

(d)  The City’s interest in this Master Lease or any part thereof with respect to
the Project shall be assigned or transferred without the written consent of the Authority,
either voluntarily or by operation of law, except as permitted hereunder; or

(e) The City shall file any petition or institute any proceedings wherein or
whereby the City seeks to be adjudicated a bankrupt, or to be discharged from any and all
of its debts or obligations, or offers to the City’s creditors to effect a composition or
extension of time to pay the City’s debts, or seeks a reorganization or a readjustment of the
City’s debts, or for any other similar release, or any such petition or any such proceedings
of the same or similar kind or character shall be filed, or instituted or taken against the City
and the same shall not have been dismissed or otherwise resolved in favor of the City within
sixty (60) days from the filing or institution thereof.

The foregoing provisions of this Section 14.1 are subject to the following limitations:
(1) the obligations of the City to make payments of the Base Rentals and Additional Rentals as
provided in Sections 6.2 and 6.3 of this Master Lease shall be subject to the occurrence of an Event
of Non-appropriation; and (ii) if, by reason of Force Majeure, the City shall be unable in whole or
in part to carry out any agreement on its part herein contained, other than the obligations on the

28
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



part of the City contained in Article VI hereof, the City shall not be deemed in default during the
continuance of such inability. The City agrees, however, to remedy with all reasonable dispatch
the cause or causes preventing the City from carrying out its agreement; provided, however, that
the settlement of strikes, lockouts, and other industrial disturbances shall be entirely within the
discretion of the City, and the City shall not be required to make settlement of strikes, lockouts,
and other industrial disturbances by acceding to the demands of the opposing party or parties when
such course is, in the judgment of the City, unfavorable to the City.

Section 14.2 Remedies on Default. Whenever any Event of Default referred to in Section
14.1 of this Master Lease shall have happened and be continuing, the Authority shall have the
right, at its option or at the direction of the Bondholders as provided in the Master Resolution
without any further demand or notice, to take one or any combination of the following remedial
steps:

(a) Immediately reenter and take possession of the Project; or

(b) Take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable
to enforce their or its rights in and to the Project.

The obligation of the City to vacate the Project as provided in Section 6.6 of this Master
Lease shall also apply to an Event of Default. Any amounts collected pursuant to action taken
under this Section 14.2 shall be paid into the Bond Fund and applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Master Resolution.

Section 14.3  Limitations on Remedies. No judgment requiring a payment of money may
be entered against the City by reason of an Event of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation
under this Master Lease. In the event the security interest created under the Master Resolution,
this Master Lease, or the Security Documents shall be foreclosed subsequent to the occurrence of
an Event of Default or an Event of Non-appropriation, no deficiency judgment may be entered
against the City or the Authority.

Section 14.4 No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the
Authority is intended to be exclusive, and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in
addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.
No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon an Event of Default shall impair
any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power
may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle
the Authority to exercise any remedy reserved in this Article XIV, it shall not be necessary to give
any notice, other than such notice as may be required in this Article XIV.

Section 14.5 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses. In the event that either
party hereto shall default under any of the provisions hereof and the nondefaulting party shall
employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of Base Rentals and Additional Rentals,
or the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of the
defaulting party herein contained, the defaulting party agrees that it shall on demand therefor pay
to the nondefaulting party the fees of such attorneys and such other expenses so incurred by the
nondefaulting party, to the extent that such attorneys’ fees and expenses may be determined to be

29
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



reasonable by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, however, that the obligation of the City
under this Section 14.5 shall be subject to the availability of City Funds.

Section 14.6 No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver. In the event that any
agreement contained herein should be breached by either party and thereafter waived by the other
party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to
waive any other breach hereunder.

ARTICLE XV
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 15.1 Lease Term. This Master Lease shall remain in effect from the date hereof
until the termination of the Lease Term as provided in Section 4.2 of this Master Lease.

Section 15.2 Notices. All notices, certificates, or other communications hereunder shall
be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered or mailed by registered mail,
postage prepaid, addressed as follows: if to the Authority, to the Municipal Building Authority of
Tooele City, Utah, 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah 84074, Attention: Chair; if'to the City, to
90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah 84074, Attention: Mayor; and if to the Bondholders, to their
address as shown on the registration list kept by the Authority. A duplicate copy of each notice,
certificate, or other communication given hereunder by the Authority or the City shall also be
given to the Bondholders. The Authority, the City, and the Bondholders may, by notice given
hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates,
or other communications shall be sent.

Section 15.3 Binding Effect. This Master Lease shall inure to the benefit of and shall be
binding upon the Authority, the City and their respective successors and assigns, subject, however,
to the limitations contained in Sections 2.1(a), 2.2(b), 2.2(f), and 13.2 of this Master Lease.

Section 15.4 Severability. In the event any provision of this Master Lease shall be held
invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate
or render unenforceable any other provision hereof and in the event any provision of this Master
Lease were to invalidate the Bonds, such provision shall be rendered invalid and unenforceable,
but shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof.

Section 15.5 Amounts Remaining in Bond Fund and Reserve Fund; Dissolution. It is
agreed by the parties hereto that any amounts remaining in the Bond Fund or Reserve Fund upon
expiration or sooner termination of the Lease Term, as provided in this Master Lease, after
payment in full of the Bonds (or provision for payment thereof having been made in accordance
with the provisions of the Master Resolution) and the fees and expenses of Authority and any
paying agents in accordance with the Master Resolution, shall belong to and be paid to the City by
the Authority as an overpayment of Base Rentals and Additional Rentals. Upon dissolution of the
Authority, after payment in full of the Bonds (or provision for payment thereof having been made
in accordance with the provisions of the Master Resolution) and payment in full of other
obligations of the Authority, any assets and net earnings of the Authority shall be paid to the City
in accordance with the Authority Act.

30
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



Section 15.6 Amendments, Changes, and Modifications. Subsequent to the issuance of
Bonds and prior to their payment in full (or provision for the payment thereof having been made
in accordance with the provisions of the Master Resolution), and except as otherwise herein
expressly provided, this Master Lease may not be effectively amended, changed, modified, altered,
or terminated except as provided in the Master Resolution.

Section 15.7 Execution in Counterparts. This Master Lease may be simultaneously
executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute
but one and the same instrument.

Section 15.8 Net Lease. This Master Lease shall be deemed and construed to be a “net
lease,” and the City shall pay absolutely net during the Master Lease Term the Base Rentals,
Additional Rentals and all other payments required hereunder, free of any deductions, and without
abatement, deduction, or setoff, other than those herein expressly provided.

Section 15.9  Applicable Law. This Master Lease shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State.

Section 15.10 Captions. The captions or headings in this Master Lease are for
convenience only and in no way define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or
Sections of this Master Lease.

Section 15.11 No Personal Liability. No person executing this Master Lease or any of the
Bonds, the Master Resolution or the Security Documents shall be subject to personal liability or
accountability by reason of such action or the issuance of the Bonds.

31
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Master Lease to be executed in
its corporate name with its corporate seal hereunto affixed and attested by a duly authorized officer.
The City has executed this Master Lease in its name with the seal of its City Recorder hereunto
affixed and attested by a duly authorized officer. All of the above occurred as of the date first
above written.

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

(SEAL)
By:
Chair
ATTEST:
By:
Secretary
TOOELE CITY, UTAH
(SEAL)
By:
Mayor
ATTEST:
By:
City Recorder
S-1

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT



STATE OF UTAH )
s B

COUNTY OF TOOELE )

On this , 2023, before me, the undersigned notary, personally appeared

and , the Chair and the Secretary, respectively, of the

Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, who are personally known to me or who

proved to me their identities through documentary evidence to be the persons who signed the

preceding document in my presence and who swore or affirmed to me that their signatures are
voluntary.

NOTARY PUBLIC
STATE OF UTAH )
: ss.
COUNTY OF TOOELE )
On this , 2023, before me, the undersigned notary, personally appeared
and , the Mayor and City Recorder, respectively, of Tooele City, Utah,

who are personally known to me or who proved to me their identities through documentary
evidence to be the persons who signed the preceding document in my presence and who swore or
affirmed to me that their signatures are voluntary.

NOTARY PUBLIC

S-2
MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT
4877-8179-4696, v. 2



EXHIBIT A
The Project is described as follows:

Description of Project: Construction of a fire station and all related improvements

Description of Project Site: Tooele County, Utah:

4877-8179-4696, v. 2 A-1



EXHIBIT B

LEASE PAYMENT SCHEDULE

SERIES 2023
Date Series 2023 Reserve Fund
(September 15) Principal Interest Payment Payment

2025 $152,000 $340,000 $492,000 $82,160
2026 158,000 333,920 491,920 82,160
2027 164,000 327,600 491,600 82,160
2028 171,000 321,040 492,040 82,160
2029 177,000 314,200 491,200 82,160
2030 184,000 307,120 491,120 82,160
2031 192,000 299,760 491,760

2032 199,000 292,080 491,080

2033 207,000 284,120 491,120

2034 216,000 275,840 491,840

2035 224,000 267,200 491,200

2036 233,000 258,240 491,240

2037 243,000 248,920 491,920

2038 252,000 239,200 491,200

2039 262,000 229,120 491,120

2040 273,000 218,640 491,640

2041 284,000 207,720 491,720

2042 295,000 196,360 491,360

2043 307,000 184,560 491,560

2044 319,000 172,280 491,280

2045 332,000 159,520 491,520

2046 345,000 146,240 491,240

2047 359,000 132,440 491,440

2048 373,000 118,080 491,080

4877-8179-4696, v. 2 B-1



Date Series 2023 Reserve Fund

(September 15) Principal Interest Payment Payment
2049 388,000 103,160 491,160 -
2050 404,000 87,640 491,640
2051 420,000 71,480 491,480
2052 438,000 54,680 492,680
2053 455,000 37,160 492,160
2054 474,000 18,960 492,960

4877-8179-4696, v. 2 B-2



EXHIBIT D

FORM OF SECURITY DOCUMENTS

D-1
4894-9385-2552, v. 3



When Recorded, Return To:
Gilmore & Bell, P.C.

15 West South Temple, Suite 1450
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
Attention: Randall M. Larsen

LEASEHOLD DEED OF TRUST,
ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS
AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS LEASEHOLD DEED OF TRUST, ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT (“Deed of Trust”) is made as of December 1, 2023, by and
among the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, a nonprofit corporation
duly organized under the laws of the State of Utah (“Trustor’”) whose address for purposes
of this agreement 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah 84074; (“Trustee™),
whose place of business is and the State of Utah Permanent Community
Impact Fund Board or any successor thereof, as Bondholder (the ‘“Beneficiary™) under a
Master Resolution (the “Master Resolution’) dated as of December 1, 2023, in connection
with the issuance of the $8,500,000 Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah
Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Bonds”).

WITNESSETH:

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, including the indebtedness
herein recited and the trust herein created, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged,
Trustor hereby irrevocably warrants, grants, transfers, conveys, and assigns to Trustee, IN
TRUST, WITH POWER OF SALE, under and subject to the terms and conditions
hereinafter set forth, that leasehold estate created by and all right, title, and interest of the
Trustor, as lessee, under that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of December 1,
2023 (the “Ground Lease”), by and between Tooele City, Utah (the “City”), as lessor, and
Trustor, as lessee, which Ground Lease demises and leases all that property situated in
Tooele County, Utah, described in Exhibit A attached hereto, together with all of Trustor’s
right, title, and interest in and to all the improvements on said Property and appurtenances.
The interests of Trustor in the Property as described in the attached Exhibit A and all of
the improvements and appurtenances relating thereto are collectively referred to hereinafter
as the “Property;”

TOGETHER WITH all rents, issues, profits, privileges, licenses, royalties, income,
and other benefits derived from the Property (collectively the “rents”), subject to the right,
power, and authority hereinafter given to Trustor to collect and apply such rents;

TOGETHER WITH all right, title, and interest of Trustor in and to all leases or
subleases covering the Property or any portion thereof now or hereafter existing or entered
into, including the Ground Lease herein described, and all right, title, and interest of Trustor



thereunder, including, without limitation, all cash or security deposits, advance rentals, and
deposits and payments of similar nature;

TOGETHER WITH all right, title, and interest of Trustor in and to all options to
purchase or lease the Property or any portion thereof or interest thereon, and any greater
estate in the Property owned or hereafter acquired;

TOGETHER WITH all interests, estate, or other claims, both in law and in equity,
which Trustor now has or may hereafter acquire in the Property;

TOGETHER WITH all right, title, and interest of Trustor in and to all easements,
rights-of-way and rights used in connection with or as a means of access thereto, and all
tenements, hereditaments, and appurtenances thereof and thereto;

TOGETHER WITH all right, title, and interest of Trustor, now owned or hereafter
acquired, in and to any land lying within the right-of-way of any street, open or proposed,
adjoining the Property, and any and all sidewalks, alleys, and strips and gores of land
adjacent to or used in connection with the Property;

TOGETHER WITH all right, title, and interest of Trustor in and to any and all
buildings and improvements now or hereafter erected on the Property, including, but not
limited to, the fixtures, fittings, and other articles attached to said buildings except any
personal property or fixtures of any tenant;

TOGETHER WITH all the estate, interest, right, title, and other claim or demand,
including claims or demands with respect to the proceeds of insurance in effect with respect
thereof, which Trustor now has or may hereafter acquire in the Property, and any and all
awards made for the taking from the Trustor by eminent domain, or by any proceeding or
purchase in lieu thereof, of the whole or any part of the Property, including without
limitation any awards resulting from a change of grade of streets and awards for severance
damages; and

TOGETHER WITH all right, title, and interest of Trustor in and to all tangible
personal property financed or refinanced with proceeds of the Bonds (the “Personal
Property”) owned by Trustor and now or at any time hereafter located on or at the Property
or used in connection therewith.

The entire estate, property, and interest hereby conveyed to Trustee as described
above may hereafter be referred to as the “Trust Estate.” Notwithstanding the breadth of
the foregoing, the property covered by this Deed of Trust shall not include: (i) personal
property which may be owned by lessees or other occupants of the improvements of any
portion of the Property, rather than by Trustor, or which may be leased by such lessees or
other occupants from a party other than Trustor; or (ii) material, equipment, tools,
machinery or other personal property which has been brought upon the Property only for
use in construction, maintenance, or repair and which is not intended to remain after the
completion of such construction, maintenance, or repair, and which is not necessary for
occupancy, maintenance, or use of the Property, provided, however, that this provision
shall not limit Trustor’s right to assert a landlord’s lien against a defaulting tenant.

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



FOR THE PURPOSES OF SECURING:

(a) (1) Payment of the principal, interest, and premium, if any, of the Bonds of
Trustor, issued pursuant to the Master Resolution (all terms herein commencing with initial
capital letters and not otherwise defined herein shall have meanings as defined in the
Master Resolution), and payable at the times, in the manner and with interest and premium,
if any, as therein set forth, and any extensions and/or renewals or modifications thereof
issued pursuant to the Master Resolution, (2) payment of the principal, interest, and
premium, if any, on any Additional Bonds or Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to the
Master Resolution and payable at the times, in the manner and with interest and premium
as therein set forth, and any extensions and/or renewals or modifications thereof (the Bonds
and Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds are collectively referred to herein as the
“Bonds™); (3) the performance of each agreement of Trustor contained in the Bonds, the
Master Resolution, the Ground Lease (as defined in the Master Resolution) with respect to
the Project (as defined in the Master Resolution) and this Deed of Trust and any other
instrument securing payment of the Bonds; and (4) the payment of all sums expended or
advanced by Beneficiary under or pursuant to the terms of this Deed of Trust (including,
but not limited to the payments outlined in Sections 1.11 and 1.18 of this Deed of Trust),
any other instrument securing payment of the Bonds, the Master Resolution, or the Ground
Lease, together with interest thereon as provided in the Master Resolution.

(b) Performance of all obligations of Trustor under the Master Resolution and
each agreement of Trustor incorporated by reference therein or herein, or contained therein
or herein.

(c) Payment of all sums advanced by Beneficiary to protect the Trust Estate,
with interest as provided in the Master Resolution and herein.

(d) Performance of all obligations of Trustor contained in this Deed of Trust,
the Bonds, the Master Resolution, and any other instrument given to evidence or further
secure the payment and performance of any obligation secured hereby.

(e) Payment of all other sums, with interest thereon, which may hereafter be
loaned to Trustor or its successors or assigns, by Beneficiary, when evidenced by a debt
instrument reciting that they are secured by this Deed of Trust.

This Deed of Trust, the Bonds, the Master Resolution, the Ground Lease, and any
other instrument given to evidence or further secure the payment and performance of any
obligation secured hereby may hereafter be referred to as the “Loan Instruments.”

TO PROTECT THE SECURITY OF THE LOAN INSTRUMENTS TRUSTOR
HEREBY COVENANTS AND AGREES AS FOLLOWS:

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



ARTICLE1

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF TRUSTOR

1. Payment of Secured Obligations. Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to
pay when due the principal of, premium, if any, and the interest on, the indebtedness
evidenced by the Bonds (as set forth therein), all charges, fees, and all other sums as
provided in the Loan Instruments, and the principal of, and interest on, any future advances
secured by this Deed of Trust.

1.2 Maintenance, Repair, Alterations. Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to
keep the Trust Estate or cause the Trust Estate to be kept in good condition and repair; not
to remove, demolish, or materially alter (except such alterations as may be required by
laws, ordinances, or regulations) any buildings or fixtures constituting part of the
Improvements in such a manner as to in any way damage the Improvements or in any way
reduce the fair rental value of the Improvements to less than the fair rental value of the
Improvements immediately prior to such alteration; to complete promptly and in good and
workmanlike manner any improvement which may be constructed on the Property and, to
the extent provided in the Master Resolution and in the Ground Lease, promptly restore in
like manner any Improvements which may be damaged or destroyed thereon, and to pay
when due all claims for labor performed and materials furnished therefor, to comply with
all laws, ordinances, regulations, covenants, conditions, and restrictions now or hereafter
affecting the Trust Estate or any part thereof or requiring any alterations or improvements;
not to commit or permit any waste or deterioration of the Trust Estate, to keep and maintain
or cause to be kept and maintained, grounds, sidewalks, roads, parking and landscaped
areas in good and neat order and repair; not to commit, suffer, or permit any act to be done
in or upon the Trust Estate in violation of any law, ordinance, or regulation. Trustee, upon
presentation to it of an affidavit signed by Beneficiary, setting forth facts showing a default
by Trustor under this Section, is authorized to accept as true and conclusive all facts and
statements therein, and to act thereon hereunder.

1.3 Required Insurance. Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to at all times
provide, maintain, and keep in force, or cause to be kept in force such insurance as is set
forth in Article IX of the Master Lease with respect to the Improvements.

1.4 Payment of Premiums. In the event Trustor fails to provide, maintain, keep
in force, or deliver and furnish to Beneficiary policies of insurance required by Article IX
of the Ground Lease, Beneficiary, in addition to all other rights it may have hereunder,
including, without limitation, those set forth in Article III hereof, may, but shall not be
required to, procure such insurance or single interest insurance for such risks covering
Beneficiary’s interest, and Trustor will pay, or cause to be paid, all premiums thereon
promptly upon demand by Beneficiary, and until such payment is made by Trustor therefor
the amount of all such premiums which have been paid by Beneficiary shall bear interest
at a rate per annum provided in Article IX of the Ground Lease. Trustor shall, upon
Beneficiary’s reasonable request, deposit, or cause to be deposited, with Beneficiary in
monthly installments, an amount equal to one-twelfth of the estimated aggregate annual
insurance premiums on all policies of insurance required by this Deed of Trust. Trustor

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



further agrees, upon Beneficiary’s request, to cause all bills, statements or other documents
relating to the foregoing insurance premiums to be sent or mailed directly to Beneficiary.
Upon receipt of such bills, statements, or other documents, and provided Trustor has
deposited sufficient funds with Beneficiary pursuant to this Section 1.4, Beneficiary shall
pay such amounts as may be due thereunder out of the funds so deposited with Beneficiary.
If at any time and for any reason the funds deposited with Beneficiary are or will be
insufficient to pay such amounts as may then or subsequently be due, Beneficiary shall
notify Trustor and Trustor shall immediately deposit, or cause to be deposited, an amount
equal to such deficiency with Beneficiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
contained herein shall cause Beneficiary to be deemed a trustee of said funds or to be
obligated to pay any amounts in excess of the amount of funds deposited with Beneficiary
pursuant to this Section 1.4. Beneficiary may commingle said reserve with its own funds .
and Trustor shall be entitled to no interest thereon.

1.5  Insurance Proceeds. After the happening of any casualty to the Trust Estate
or any part thereof, Trustor shall give prompt written notice thereof to Beneficiary.

(a) In the event of any damage or destruction of the Improvements,
Trustor shall apply the insurance proceeds in the manner set forth in Article X of
the Ground Lease.

(b) In the event of such loss or damage, all proceeds of insurance shall
be payable pursuant to subparagraph (a) above. Except as otherwise provided in
the Ground Lease, Trustor may settle, adjust, or compromise any claims for loss,
damage, or destruction under any policy or policies of insurance only with written
approval of Beneficiary.

(c) Except to the extent that insurance proceeds are received by Trustor
and applied to the indebtedness secured hereby, pursuant to the Master Resolution
and the Ground Lease, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to excuse Trustor
from repairing or maintaining the Trust Estate as provided in Section 1.2 hereof or
restoring all damage or destruction to the Trust Estate, regardless of whether or not
there are insurance proceeds available or whether any such proceeds are sufficient
in amount, and the application or release by Beneficiary of any insurance proceeds
shall not cure or waive any default or notice of default under this Deed of Trust or
invalidate any act done pursuant to such notice.

1.6 Assignment of Policies upon Foreclosure. In the event of foreclosure of this
Deed of Trust or other transfer of title or assignment of the Trust Estate in extinguishment,
in whole or in part, of the debt secured hereby, all right, title, and interest of Trustor in and
to all policies of insurance required by this Deed of Trust shall inure to the benefit of and
pass to the successor in interest to Trustor or the purchaser or grantee of the Trust Estate.

1.7 Indemnification; Subrogation; Waiver of Offset.

(a) If Beneficiary is made a party defendant to any litigation,
commenced by anyone other than Trustor, concerning this Deed of Trust or the

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



Trust Estate or any part thereof or interest therein, or the occupancy thereof by
Trustor, except in case of fraud, gross negligence, or willful misconduct on the part
of Beneficiary, then Trustor shall, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify,
defend, and hold Beneficiary harmless from and against all liability by reason of
said litigation (including any appeals), including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
expenses incurred by Beneficiary in any such litigation, whether or not any such
litigation is prosecuted to judgment. If Beneficiary commences an action against
Trustor to enforce any of the terms hereof or because of the breach by Trustor of
any of the terms hereof, or for the recovery of any sum secured hereby, Trustor
shall pay to Beneficiary reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses actually incurred
(including Beneficiary’s attorney’s fees and costs associated with all appeals), and
the right to such attorney’s fees and expenses shall be deemed to have accrued on
the commencement of such action, and shall be enforceable whether or not such
action is prosecuted to judgment. If Trustor breaches any term of this Deed of
Trust, Beneficiary may employ an attorney or attorneys to protect its rights
hereunder, and in the event of such employment following any breach by Trustor,
Trustor shall pay Beneficiary reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses incurred by
Beneficiary (including those associated with any appeal), whether or not an action
is actually commenced against Trustor by reason of breach.

(b) Trustor waives any and all right to claim or recover against
Beneficiary, its officers, employees, agents, and representatives, for loss or damage
to Trustor, the Trust Estate, Trustor’s property or the property of others under
Trustor’s control from any cause insured against or required to be insured against
by the provisions of this Deed of Trust, unless covered by the fraud, gross
negligence, or willful misconduct of the Beneficiary.

(c) All sums payable by Trustor hereunder shall be paid without notice,
demand, counterclaim, setoff, recoupment, deduction, or defense (except payment)
and without abatement, suspension, deferment, diminution, or reduction, and the
obligations and liabilities of Trustor hereunder shall in no way be released,
discharged, or otherwise affected (except as expressly provided herein) by reason
of: (i) any damage to or destruction of or any condemnation or similar taking of
the Trust Estate or any part thereof; (ii) any restriction or prevention of or
interference with any use of the Trust Estate or any part thereof; (iii) any title defect
or encumbrance or any eviction from the Property or any part thereof by title
paramount or otherwise; or (iv) any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
composition, adjustment, dissolution, liquidation, or other like proceeding relating
to Beneficiary, or any action taken with respect to this Deed of Trust by any trustee
or receiver of Beneficiary, or by any court, in any such proceeding; whether or not
Trustor shall have notice or knowledge of any of the foregoing.

1.8 Taxes and Impositions.

(a) Trustor agrees to pay, prior to delinquency, all real property taxes
and assessments, general and special, and all other taxes and assessments of any
kind or nature whatsoever, including without limitation non-governmental levies or

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



assessments such as maintenance charges, association dues, or charges or fees, and
levies or charges resulting from covenants, conditions, and restrictions affecting the
Trust Estate, which are assessed or imposed upon the Trust Estate or become due
and payable, and which create or may create a lien upon the Trust Estate, or any
part thereof, or upon any equipment or other facility used by Trustor in the
operation or maintenance thereof (all of which taxes, assessments and other
governmental charges of like nature are hereinafter referred to as “Impositions”);
provided, however, that if, by law, any such Imposition is payable, or may at the
option of the taxpayer be paid, in installments, Trustor may pay the same together
with any accrued interest on the unpaid balance of such Imposition in installments
as the same become due and before any fine, penalty, interest, or cost may be added
thereto for the nonpayment of any such installment and interest.

(b)  If any time after the date hereof there shall be assessed or imposed
(1) a tax or assessment on the Trust Estate in lieu of or in addition to the Impositions
payable by Trustor pursuant to subparagraph (a) hereof, or (ii) a license fee, tax, or
assessment imposed on Beneficiary and measured by or based in whole or in part
upon the amount of the outstanding obligations secured hereby, then all such taxes,
assessments, or fees shall be deemed to be included within the term “Impositions”
as defined in subparagraph (a) hereof, and Trustor shall pay and discharge the same
as herein provided with respect to the payment of Impositions. Anything to the
contrary notwithstanding, Trustor shall have no obligation to pay any franchise,
estate, inheritance, income, excess profits, or similar tax levied on Beneficiary or
on the obligations secured hereby.

(c) Trustor covenants to furnish Beneficiary within thirty (30) days after
the date upon which any such Imposition is due and payable by Trustor, official
receipts of the appropriate taxing authority or other proof satisfactory to
Beneficiary, evidencing the payment thereof.

(d) Trustor covenants and agrees not to suffer, permit, or initiate the
joint assessment of the real and personal property, or any other procedure whereby
the lien of the real property taxes and the lien of the personal property taxes shall
be assessed, levied, or charged to the Trust Estate as a single lien.

(e) If requested by Beneficiary, Trustor shall cause to be furnished to
Beneficiary a tax reporting service covering the Trust Estate of the type, duration,
and with a company satisfactory to Beneficiary.

83} Trustor has the right to contest Impositions to the extent permitted
by Section 9.2 of the Ground Lease.

1.9 Utilities. Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to pay when due all utility
charges which are incurred by Trustor for the benefit of the Trust Estate or which may
become a charge or lien against the Trust Estate for gas, electricity, water, or sewer services
furnished to the Trust Estate and all other assessments or charges of a similar nature,

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



whether public or private, affecting the Trust Estate or any portion thereof, whether or not
such taxes, assessments, or charges are liens thereon.

1.10  Actions Affecting Trust Estate. Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to
appear in and contest any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security hereof or
the rights or powers of Beneficiary or Trustee; and to pay all costs and expenses, including
cost of evidence of title and attorney’s fees, in any such action or proceeding in which
Beneficiary or Trustee may appear.

1.11  Actions by Trustee and/or Beneficiary to Preserve Trust Estate. Should
Trustor fail to make any payment or to do any act as and in the manner provided in any of
the Loan Instruments, Beneficiary and/or Trustee, each in its own discretion, without
obligation so to do but without releasing Trustor from any obligations, may make or do the
same in such manner and to such extent as either may deem necessary to protect the security
hereof. In connection therewith (without limiting their general powers), Beneficiary and/or
Trustee shall have and are hereby given the right, but not the obligation (i) to enter upon
and take possession of the Trust Estate; (ii) to make additions, alterations, repairs, and
improvements to the Trust Estate which they or either of them may consider necessary or
proper to keep the Trust Estate in good condition and repair; (iii) to appear and participate
in any action or proceeding affecting or which may affect or appears to affect the security
of this Deed of Trust (including condemnation or eminent domain proceedings) or which
may result in the creation of any lien (except the lien created by the Master Resolution)
against the Trust Estate; and (iv) in exercising such powers, to pay necessary expenses,
including employment of counsel or other necessary or desirable consultants. Trustor shall,
immediately upon demand therefor by Beneficiary, pay all costs and expenses incurred by
Beneficiary in connection with the exercise by Beneficiary of the foregoing rights,
including without limitation, costs of evidence of title, court costs, appraisals, surveys, and
attorney’s fees, together with interest thereon accruing at the rate set forth in the Master
Resolution.

1.12 Survival of Warranties. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5.9
herein, Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to fully and faithfully satisfy and perform the
obligations of Trustor contained in the Loan Instruments and each agreement of Trustor
incorporated by reference therein or herein, and any modification or amendment thereof.
All representations, warranties, and covenants of Trustor contained therein or incorporated
by reference shall survive funding of the loan evidenced by the Bonds and shall remain
continuing obligations, warranties, and representations of Trustor during any time when
any portion of the obligations secured by this Deed of Trust remain outstanding.

1.13  Eminent Domain. Should the Trust Estate, or any material part thereof or
interest therein, be taken from Trustor or damaged by reason of any public improvement
or condemnation proceeding, or in any other manner (“Condemnation”), or should Trustor
receive any notice or other information regarding such proceeding, Trustor shall give
prompt written notice thereof to Beneficiary and all proceeds payable therefrom shall be
utilized in the manner set forth in Article X of the Ground Lease.

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



1.14  Additional Security. In the event Beneficiary at any time holds additional
security for any of the obligations secured hereby, it may enforce the sale thereof or
otherwise realize upon the same, at its option, either before or concurrently herewith or
after a sale is made hereunder.

1.15  Appointment of Successor Trustee. Beneficiary may, from time to time, by
complying with the provisions of the applicable law of the State of Utah substitute a
successor or successors to the Trustee named herein or acting hereunder.

1.16  Successors and Assigns. This Deed of Trust applies to, inures to the benefit
of, and binds all parties hereto, their heirs, legatees, devisees, administrators, executors,
successors, and assigns. The term “Beneficiary” shall be deemed to include the Registered
Owners of the Bonds and any trustee therefor, whether or not named as Beneficiary herein.

1.17  Inspections. Beneficiary, or its agents, representatives, or workmen, are
authorized to enter at any reasonable time upon or in any part of the Trust Estate for the
purpose of inspecting the Trust Estate and performing any of the acts it is authorized to
perform under the terms of any of the Loan Instruments.

1.18  Liens. Trustor hereby covenants and agrees to pay and promptly discharge
in accordance with the terms thereof or of the indebtedness secured thereby, at Trustor’s
cost and expense, all liens, encumbrances, and charges upon the Trust Estate, or any part
thereof or interest therein; provided that the existence of any mechanic’s, laborer’s,
materialman’s, supplier’s, or vendor’s lien or right thereto shall not constitute a violation
of this Section if payment is not yet due under the contract which is the foundation thereof
and if such contract does not postpone payment for more than 60 days after the performance
thereof. Trustor shall have the right to contest in good faith the validity of any such lien,
encumbrance, or charge. In the event of any such contest, the Trustor may permit the lien,
encumbrance, or charge so contested to remain unpaid during the period of such contest
and any appeal therefrom unless the Trustee or Beneficiary shall notify the Trustor that, in
the opinion of Independent Counsel, by nonpayment of any such items the security
afforded pursuant to the Master Resolution, the Ground Lease, or this Deed of Trust will
be materially endangered or the Trust Estate or any portion thereof will be subject to loss
or forfeiture, in which event such lien, encumbrance, or charge shall be paid forthwith.
Prior to commencing such contest, Trustor shall first deposit, or cause to be deposited, with
Beneficiary, or in court, a bond or other security satisfactory to Beneficiary, at
Beneficiary’s election, in such amounts as Beneficiary shall reasonably require, but not
more than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the amount of the claim, and provided further
that Trustor shall thereafter diligently proceed to cause such lien, encumbrance, or charge
to be removed and discharged. [f Trustor shall fail to discharge any such lien,
encumbrance, or charge, then, in addition to any other right or remedy of Beneficiary,
Beneficiary may, but shall not be obligated to, discharge or purchase the same, either by
paying the amount claimed to be due, or by procuring the discharge of such lien by
depositing in court a bond or the amount claimed or otherwise giving security for such
claim, or in such manner as is or may be prescribed by law.

4879-0113-6520, v. 2



1.19  Trustee’s Powers. At any time, or from time to time, without liability
therefor, and without notice, upon written request of Beneficiary and presentation of this
Deed of Trust, and without affecting the personal liability of any person for payment of the
indebtedness secured hereby or the effect of this Deed of Trust upon the remainder of said
Trust Estate, Trustee may, (i) reconvey any part of said Trust Estate; (ii) consent in writing
to the making of any map or plat thereof; or (iii) join in granting any easement or creating
any restriction affecting this Deed of Trust or any agreement subordinating the lien or
charge hereof.

1.20  Beneficiary’s Powers. Without affecting the liability of any other person
liable for the payment of any obligation herein mentioned, and without affecting the lien
or charge of this Deed of Trust upon any portion of the Trust Estate not then or theretofore
released as security for the full amount of all unpaid obligations, Beneficiary may, from
time to time and without notice (i) release any person so liable, (ii) extend the maturity or
alter any of the terms of any such obligation, (iii) grant other indulgences, (iv) release or
reconvey, or cause to be released or reconveyed at any time at Beneficiary’s option any
parcel, portion, or all of the Trust Estate, (v) take or release any other or additional security
for any obligation herein mentioned, or (vi) make compositions or other arrangements with
debtors in relation thereto. Trustor hereby consents to the foregoing powers and rights of
Beneficiary, and, to the extent permitted by law, waives any right to assert that such actions
by the Beneficiary shall constitute a breach by the Beneficiary under this Deed of Trust,
under any of the Loan Instruments or under applicable law.

ARTICLEII
ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS, ISSUES, AND PROFITS

2.1 Assignment of Rents. Trustor hereby assigns and transfers to Beneficiary
all the rents, issues, and profits of the Trust Estate, and hereby gives to and confers upon
Beneficiary the right, power, and authority to collect such rents, issues, and profits. Trustor
irrevocably appoints Beneficiary its true and lawful attorney-in-fact, at the option of
Beneficiary at any time and from time to time, to demand, receive, and enforce payment,
to endorse instruments payable to Trustor, and to give receipts, releases, and satisfactions
for all such rents, issues, and profits and apply the same to the indebtedness secured hereby.
The assignment of the rents, issues, and profits of the Trust Estate in this Article II is
intended to be an absolute assignment from Trustor to Beneficiary and not merely the
passing of a security interest.

2.2 Collection upon Default. Upon any event of default under any of the Loan
Instruments, and after the passage of any applicable grace period, Beneficiary may, at any
time without notice, either in person, by agent, or by a receiver appointed by a court, and
without regard to the adequacy of any security for the indebtedness hereby secured, enter
upon and take possession of the Trust Estate, or any part thereof, and in its own name sue
for or otherwise collect such rents, issues, and profits of the Trust Estate, including those
past due and unpaid, and apply the same, less costs and expenses of operation and
collection, including attorneys’ fees, upon any indebtedness secured hereby, and in such
order as Beneficiary may determine. The collection of rents, issues, and profits, or the

10
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



entering upon and taking possession of the Trust Estate, or the application thercof as
aforesaid, shall not cure or waive any default, notice of default, or notice of sale hereunder
or invalidate any act done in response to such default or pursuant to such notice of default.
Failure or discontinuance by Beneficiary at any time or from time to time to collect any
such rents, issues, or profits shall not in any manner affect the subsequent enforcement by
Beneficiary of the right, power, and authority to collect the same.

ARTICLE III
SECURITY AGREEMENT

3.1 Creation of Security Interest. Trustor hereby grants to Beneficiary a
security interest in the Personal Property for the purpose of securing all obligations of
Trustor contained in any of the Loan Instruments or herein. This Deed of Trust shall be
deemed the Security Agreement as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code of Utah and
the remedies for any violation of the covenants, terms, and conditions of the agreements
herein contained shall be (i) as prescribed herein, or (ii) as provided by general law, or
(111) as to such part of the security which is also reflected in any financing statement or
statements (the “Financing Statement”) as provided by the specific statutory consequences
now or hereafter enacted and specified in the Uniform Commercial Code of Utah, all at
Beneficiary’s sole election. The mention in any such Financing Statement of (1) the rights
in or the proceeds of any fire and/or hazard insurance, (2) any award in eminent domain
proceedings for a taking or for loss of value, or (3) the Trustor’s interest as lessor in any
present or future lease or rights to income growing out of the use and/or occupancy of the
premises shall never be construed as in any wise altering any of the rights of Beneficiary
as determined by this Deed of Trust or impugning the priority of the Beneficiary’s lien
granted hereby or by any other recorded document, but such mention in the Financing
Statement is declared to be for the protection of Beneficiary in the event any court or judge
shall at any time with respect to (1), (2) or (3) rule that notice of Beneficiary’s priority of
interest to be effective against a particular class of persons, divisions or entity of the Federal
Government, must be filed in the Uniform Commercial Code records.

3.2  Warranties, Representations, and Covenants of Trustor. Trustor hercby
warrants, represents, and covenants as follows:

Trustor is, and as to portions of the Personal Property to be acquired after the date
hereof will be, the sole owner of the Personal Property, free from any adverse lien, security
interest, encumbrance, or adverse claims thereon of any kind whatsoever except for the
Permitted Encumbrances defined in the Ground Lease and except for the security interest
granted hereby. Trustor will notify Beneficiary of, and will defend the Personal Property
against, all claims and demands of all persons at any time claiming the same or any interest
therein.

Trustor will not sell the Personal Property without the prior written consent of
Beneficiary unless said personal property is promptly replaced by personal property of like
quality and value.

11
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



The Personal Property is not used or bought for personal, family, or household
purposes.

The Personal Property (with the exception of funds held by Beneficiary) will be
kept on or at the Property and, except as otherwise provided in the Ground Lease, Trustor
will not remove the Personal Property from the Property without the prior written consent
of Beneficiary, except such portions or items of Personal Property which are consumed or
worn out in ordinary usage, all of which shall be promptly replaced by Trustor.

Trustor maintains a place of business in the State of Utah and Trustor will
immediately notify Beneficiary in writing of any change in its place of business as set forth
in the beginning of this Deed of Trust.

At the request of Beneficiary, Trustor will join Beneficiary in executing one or
more financing statements, continuation statements and renewals, and amendments thereof
pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code of Utah in form satisfactory to Beneficiary, and
will pay the cost of filing the same in all public offices wherever filing is deemed by
Beneficiary to be necessary or desirable.

All covenants and obligations of Trustor contained herein relating to the Trust
Estate shall be deemed to apply to the Personal Property whether or not expressly referred
to herein.

ARTICLE IV
REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT

4.1 Events of Default. Any of the following events shall be deemed an event
of default hereunder.

(a) Default shall be made in the payment of any installment of principal
or interest or any other sum secured hereby; or

(b) There shall occur an Event of Default set forth in Section 10.1 of the
Master Resolution, or 12.1 of the Ground Lease or any other default under any of
the Loan Instruments, including but not limited to any breach in the due observance
or performance of any covenant, condition, or agreement contained therein.

4.2 Acceleration upon Default, Additional Remedies. Time is of the essence
hereof. In the event of any event of default hereunder, Beneficiary may declare all
indebtedness secured hereby to be due and payable by written notice to the Trustor as
outlined in Section 10.2 of the Master Resolution and the same shall thereupon become
due and payable without presentment, demand, protest, or notice of any kind. Thereafter
Beneficiary may exercise any or all of the following remedies, or any other remedies which
Beneficiary is entitled to under any of the Loan Instruments or applicable law:

(a) Either in person or by agent, with or without bringing any action or
proceeding, or by a receiver appointed by a court and without regard to the

12
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



adequacy of its security, enter upon and take possession of the Trust Estate, or any
part thereof, in its own name or in the name of Trustee, and do any acts which it
deems necessary or desirable to preserve the value, marketability, or rentability of
the Trust Estate, or a part thereof or interest therein, increase the income therefrom
or protect the security hereof and, with or without taking possession of the Trust
Estate, sue for or otherwise collect the rents, issues, and profits thereof, including
those past due and unpaid, and apply the same, less costs and expenses of operation
and collection including attorney’s fees, upon any indebtedness secured hereby, all
in such order as Beneficiary may determine. The entering upon and taking
possession of the Trust Estate, the collection of such rents, issues, and profits and
the application thereof as aforesaid, shall not cure or waive any default or notice of
default hereunder or invalidate any act done in response to such default or pursuant
to such notice of default and, notwithstanding the continuance in possession of the
Trust Estate or the collection, receipt, and application of rents, issues, or profits,
Trustee and/or Beneficiary shall be entitled to exercise every right provided for in
any of the Loan Instruments or by law upon occurrence of any event of default,
including the right to exercise the power of sale;

(b) Commence an action to foreclose this Deed of Trust as a mortgage,
appoint a receiver, or specifically enforce any of the covenants hereof; and/or

(c) Cause Trustor’s interest in the Trust Estate to be sold by the Trustee
under the power of sale set forth herein.

4.3  Foreclosure by Power of Sale. Should Beneficiary elect to foreclose by
exercise of the power of sale herein contained, Beneficiary shall notify Trustee and shall
deposit with Trustee this Deed of Trust and such receipts and evidence of expenditures
made and secured hereby as Trustee may require; provided, however, that the Trustee shall
also notify the City, of the Event of Default and of the right of the City to a ninety (90) day
notice of the respective options to purchase the Property as more fully outlined in Section
10.2 of the Master Resolution.

(a) Upon receipt of such notice from Beneficiary, Trustee shall exercise
on behalf of Beneficiary the power of sale granted herein by complying with all
requirements of applicable law. Trustee shall execute and deliver to the purchaser
or purchasers of the Trust Estate its good and sufficient deed or deeds conveying
the property so sold, but without any covenant or warranty, express or implied. The
recitals in such deed of any matters or facts shall be conclusive proof of the
truthfulness thereof. Any person, including without limitation, Trustor, Trustee, or
Beneficiary, may purchase at such sale and Trustor hereby covenants to warrant
and defend the title of such purchaser or purchasers from claims arising by, through,
or under Trustor.

(b) After deducting all costs, fees, and expenses of Trustee and of this
trust, including, but not limited to, attorney fees and costs, and costs of evidence of
title in connection with the sale, Trustee shall apply the proceeds of sale to payment
of: (i) all sums expended under the terms hereof, not then repaid, with accrued

13
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



interest per annum as set forth in the Master Resolution; (ii) all other sums then
secured hereby; and (iii) the remainder, if any, to the person or persons legally
entitled thereto, or the Trustee, in its discretion, may deposit the balance of such
proceeds with the County Clerk of the County in which the sale took place.

(c) The person conducting the sale may, for any cause such person
deems expedient, postpone the sale in accordance with Utah law and, in every case,
notice of such postponement shall be given by public declaration by such person at
the time and place last appointed for the sale.

4.4  Foreclosure as Mortgage. Should Beneficiary elect to foreclose this Deed
of Trust in the manner provided by law for the foreclosure of mortgages on real property,
Beneficiary shall be entitled to recover in such proceeding all costs and expenses incident
thereto, including a reasonable attorney’s fee in such amount as shall be fixed by the court,
including all appeals. To the extent permitted by law, Beneficiary shall be entitled to
possession of the Property during any redemption period allowed under the laws of the
State of Utah.

4.5 Appointment of Receiver. If any Event of Default described in Section 4.1
of this Deed of Trust shall have occurred and be continuing, Beneficiary, as a matter of
right and without notice to Trustor or anyone claiming under Trustor, and without regard
to the then value of the Trust Estate or the interest of Trustor therein, shall have the right
to apply to any court having jurisdiction to appoint a receiver or receivers of the Trust
Estate, and Trustor hereby irrevocably consents to such appointment and waives notice of
any application therefor. Any such receiver or receivers shall have all the usual powers
and duties of receivers in like or similar cases and all powers and duties of Beneficiary in
case of entry as provided in Section 4.2(a) and shall continue as such and exercise all such
powers until the date of confirmation of sale of the Trust Estate unless such receivership is
sooner terminated. Beneficiary’s rights under this Section shall be in addition to, and not
a limitation of, Beneficiary’s rights under Section 2.2 and 4.2(a) of this Deed of Trust.

4.6 Remedies Not Exclusive. Trustee and Beneficiary, and each of them, shall
be entitled to enforce payment and performance of any indebtedness or obligations secured
hereby and to exercise all rights and powers under this Deed of Trust, under any Loan
Instrument or other agreement, and under any laws now or hereafter in force,
notwithstanding that some or all of the said indebtedness and obligations secured hereby
may now or hereafter be otherwise secured, whether by mortgage, deed of trust, pledge,
lien, assignment, or otherwise. Neither the acceptance of this Deed of Trust nor its
enforcement whether by court action or pursuant to the power of sale or other powers herein
contained, shall prejudice or in any manner affect Trustee’s or Beneficiary’s right to realize
upon or enforce any other security now or hereafter held by Trustee or Beneficiary, it being
agreed that Trustee and Beneficiary, and each of them, shall be entitled to enforce this Deed
of Trust and any other security now or hereafter held by Beneficiary or Trustee in such
order and manner as they or either of them in their absolute discretion determine. No
remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Trustee or Beneficiary is intended to be
exclusive of any other remedy herein or by law provided or permitted, but each shall be
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or

14
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. Every power or remedy given by any
of the Loan Instruments to Trustee or Beneficiary or to which either of them may be
otherwise entitled, may be exercised, concurrently or independently, from time to time and
as often as may be deemed expedient by Trustee or Beneficiary and either of them may
pursue inconsistent remedies.

4.7  Request for Notice. Trustor hereby requests a copy of any Notice of Default
or Notice of Sale hereunder be mailed to it at the address set forth in the first paragraph of
this Deed of Trust.

4.8  Permitted Encumbrances. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Deed of Trust, all owners, purchasers, receivers, Beneficiaries and any
and all other possessors of any interest in the Property, now or in the future, shall possess
such interest in the Property subject to the Permitted Encumbrances (as defined in the
Master Lease with respect to the Improvements).

ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS

5.1  Governing Law; Severability of Provisions of Loan Instruments; Waivers,
etc. This Deed of Trust shall be governed by the laws of the State of Utah. In the event
that any provision of any of the Loan Instruments conflicts with applicable laws, such
conflicts shall not affect other provisions of such Loan Instruments which can be given
effect without the conflicting provision, and to this end the provisions of the Loan
Instruments are declared to be severable. This instrument cannot be waived, changed,
discharged, or terminated orally, but only by an instrument in writing signed by the parties
against whom enforcement of any waiver, change, discharge, or termination is sought.

5.2 Limitation of Interest. It is the intent of Trustor and Beneficiary in the
execution of this Deed of Trust and the Bonds and all other instruments securing the Bonds
to contract in strict compliance with the laws of the State of Utah governing the loan
evidenced by the Bonds. In furtherance thereof, Trustor stipulates and agrees that none of
the terms and provisions contained in the Loan Instruments shall ever be construed to create
a contract for the use, forbearance, or detention of money requiring payment of interest at
a rate in excess of the maximum interest rate permitted to be charged by the laws of the
State of Utah governing the loan evidenced by the Bonds. Trustor or any guarantor,
endorser, or other party now or hereafter becoming liable for the payment of the Bonds
shall never be liable for unearned interest on the Bonds and shall never be required to pay
interest on the Bonds at a rate in excess of the maximum interest that may be lawfully
charged under the laws of the State of Utah and the provisions of this Section shall control
over all other provisions of the Bonds and any other instrument executed in connection
herewith which may be in apparent conflict herewith. In the event any holder of the Bonds
shall collect monies which are deemed to constitute interest which would otherwise
increase the effective interest rate on the Bonds to a rate in excess of that permitted to be
charged by the laws of the State of Utah, all such sums deemed to constitute interest in

Ia
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



excess of the legal rate shall be immediately returned to the Trustor upon such
determination.

5.3  Statements by Trustor. Trustor, within ten (10) days after receiving a
request from the Beneficiary, will furnish to Beneficiary a written statement stating the
unpaid principal and any interest on the Bonds and any other amounts secured by this Deed
of Trust and stating whether any offset or defense exists against such principal and interest.

5.4  Reconveyance by Trustee. Upon written request of Beneficiary stating that
all sums secured hereby have been paid, and upon surrender of this Deed of Trust to Trustee
for cancellation and retention and upon payment by Trustor of Trustee’s fees, Trustee shall
reconvey to the person or persons legally entitled thereto, without warranty, any portion of
the Trust Estate then held hereunder. The recitals in such reconveyance of any matters or
facts shall be conclusive proof of the truthfulness thereof. The grantee in any reconveyance
may be described as “the person or persons legally entitled thereto.”

5.5  Notices. Whenever Beneficiary, Trustor, or Trustee shall desire to give or
serve any notice, demand, request, or other communication with respect to this Deed of
Trust, each such notice, demand, request, or other communication shall be in writing and
shall be effective only if the same is delivered by personal service or four (4) days after
being mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested,
addressed to the address set forth at the beginning of this Deed of Trust. Any party may at
any time change its address for such notices by delivering or mailing to the other parties
hereto, as aforesaid, a notice of such change.

5.6 Acceptance by Trustee. Trustee shall be deemed to have accepted this Trust
when this Deed of Trust, duly executed and acknowledged, is made a public record as
provided by law.

5.7  Captions. The captions or headings at the beginning of each Section hereof
are for convenience of the parties and are not a part of this Deed of Trust.

5.8 No Merger. If both the Trustor’s and Beneficiary’s estates in any portion
of the Trust Estate shall at any time become vested in one owner, this Deed of Trust and
the lien created hereby shall not be destroyed or terminated by application of the doctrine
of merger, and in such event, Beneficiary shall continue to have and enjoy all of the rights
and privileges of Beneficiary as to the separate estates. In addition, upon the foreclosure
of the lien created by this Deed of Trust on the Trust Estate pursuant to the provisions
hereof, any leases or subleases then existing and created by Trustor shall not be destroyed
or terminated by application of the law of merger or as a matter of law or as a result of such
foreclosure unless Beneficiary or any purchaser at any such foreclosure sale shall so elect.
No act by or on behalf of Beneficiary or any such purchaser shall constitute a termination
of any lease or sublease unless Beneficiary or such purchaser shall give written notice
thereof to such tenant or subtenant.

5.9  Limited Right of Bondholders against the Trustor. Notwithstanding
anything else contained herein to the contrary, the rights of the Trustee, Beneficiary, and

16
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



the Bondholders are subject to the terms and provisions of the Master Resolution and the
Ground Lease, but not limited to Article XII of the Ground Lease, and Article X of the
Master Resolution. Additionally, no deficiency judgment upon foreclosure may be entered
against Trustor, the City, the State of Utah, or any of its political subdivisions.

5.10 No Waiver. Failure on the part of beneficiary to promptly enforce any right
hereunder shall not operate as a waiver of such right and the waiver by Beneficiary of any
default or acceptance of payment of any sum secured hereby after its due date shall not
constitute a waiver of any other subsequent default.

5.11 Severability. The terms and provisions of this Deed of Trust are intended
to be performed in accordance with, and only to the extent permitted by, applicable law. If
any provision hereof, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, for
any reason and to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, neither the remainder of this
instrument nor the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall be
affected thereby, but rather, the same shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by
law.

17
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Trustor has executed this Deed of Trust as of the day
and year first above written.

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY
OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH

(SEAL)
By:
Chair
ATTEST AND COUNTERSIGN:
By:
Secretary
S-1

Leasehold Deed of Trust — MBA of Tooele City, Utah
Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023



STATE OF UTAH )

; S

COUNTY OF TOOELE )
On this , 2023, before me, the undersigned notary, personally appeared
and , the Chair and the Secretary, respectively, of the

Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, who are personally known to me or
who proved to me their identities through documentary evidence to be the persons who
signed the preceding document in my presence and who swore or affirmed to me that their
signatures are voluntary.

NOTARY PUBLIC

S-2
Leasehold Deed of Trust — LBA of Tooele City, Utah

Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



EXHIBIT A

PROPERTY

A-1
4879-0113-6520, v. 2



TOOELE CITY FINAL PLAT %ﬂﬂv . SURVETONS CHIIFICATE .
TLL MINOR SUBBIVISION @M.,N \ T T

a4 ot o b b O . P
LOCAYED [X THE SOUTHRAST QUARTER G x,\ - e e i
Fr30

OF SECTION 16, Ta0” T
TOWNSELP 3. SOUTH, RANGE 4 WEST. Tr—— U F AT
SALT LAXE BASE 23D MERIDIAN, N TPTLIMATH
TDOFLE OTY, TOOELE COTUNTT, CTALL w4 M.n-__aa
i [ EOERARLPRETTION
- H,vo\, ! Pt S s AT S W
e ZONE RRS ey ) ol ——
S Y {
e & i -,
\_/Mf._de\._.M\n l/li»:-nauﬁa—xﬁl.rl]. - m - o O e ) i Gt . s P, e proporry
(o AN T e,
Ny 4 - !«ﬁ“jir“&.._. e
\ o i 3 ™
siiren e
3 Sva Sonta BT e
R 2 R i e i ar e ey

ot i WL i e T

s
/ s e
LGSl S J,
o
4 4
1 T p—— - -
2 y P : :
Eroe—— - L - - - l“ puagaeguer, g =

OWNEIS DEMCATION
T.L1. MINOR SUBDIVISION
i O & ; Nia
......... I8 o
erN.!eii. st o, 20 M. SUpHRLY oot
N
oL R, N
A T 2
o e
Jooran .
oty ol Topee o
e .
o AR f e e R
"-IE' ke et o e rhllﬁnﬁ
e
B i 1111 I -
ST MORNAD . e TR R
b ] ol
CORPORATE ACUIWLERCMENT +#
e R _q.
C P Sl jas hkes w.....
S ¥ it e s e
P R
¥ el
TEGET T TR v ]'%«U
oo Ry G
[ i e = L
e i v 3

T I

TOOELE CITY FINAL PLAT
o1 DAY T.L1 MINOR SUBDIVISION~—

31 WEST CRECSON AVE. (3060
E:E%ﬂ;a..nd..a&!wb g?éﬂiﬂn

QEIESTAR GAS COMPANY

CELITAR APHOVID T Furl LY A TR Pdril 28 CCATIO0M TEATTHE MAT SURTNE ML EAIY TALOHIDN. (DASTAK WAY oo
PR EASEITS Tk LPDEN TSV T TNIISAEINT T APFROVAL CT T CEAGTTTIT ABDCATICHN 5 WAIYAL GY A1 SYRAR RCSTING T,
SICHATENL, 08 LLALITIES PRI 545 0 L4 08 ST T APVIIVAL X VT CTM¥ T2 AT A, RS AL 3 AT LDCMEETT 8 LY
TERY, RN GG [ T AT, T3S THERTN AT T I TS CASACATMNL Y% T8 7% AN ROAG VT CORCTTTITS  SAMTEY 3

e e W B | MremuTnn e ZH it St si.meu\ain,auNﬁa;ss@aF@P

MeRetRARL oI~ O0 TG /

o mu,@\_\. - ¢ , 0
Vi
7



EXHIBIT E

FORM OF GROUND LEASE

E-1
4894-9385-2552, v. 3



WHEN RECORDED, RETURN TO:
GILMORE & BELL, P.C.

15 West South Temple, Suite 1450
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
Attention: Randall M. Larsen

ASSIGNMENT OF GROUND LEASE

THIS ASSIGNMENT OF GROUND LEASE (the “Assignment”), made and
entered into as of this December 1, 2023, by the MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY
OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH, a Utah nonprofit corporation, whose address is 90 North
Main, Tooele, Utah(the “Assignor”), to and in favor of the State of Utah Permanent
Community Impact Fund Board having its principal office in Salt Lake City, Utah, or any
successor thereof (the “Assignee”), as bondholder under a certain Master Resolution dated
as of December 1, 2023 (the “Master Resolution”);

WITNESSETH:

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Assignor hereby grants, transfers and assigns to
Assignee all the right, title and interest of Assignor in and to that certain Ground Lease
Agreement (the “Ground Lease Agreement™) dated as of December 1, 2023, between
Assignor, as lessee, and Tooele City, Utah, as lessor, which Ground Lease Agreement
demises for an annually renewable term the real property, together with existing
improvements thereon, located in Tooele City, State of Utah, more particularly described
in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof.

FOR THE PURPOSE OF SECURING:

The payment and performance of each and every obligation of Assignor contained
in the Master Resolution and in Assignor’s Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 and any
Additional Bonds or Refunding Bonds (as defined in the Master Resolution) (collectively,
the “Bonds”); and

The payment of all sums expended or advanced by Assignee pursuant to the terms
of this Assignment and the Master Resolution, or any instrument further evidencing or
securing any obligation secured hereby, together with interest thereon as therein provided.

TO PROTECT THE SECURITY OF THIS ASSIGNMENT, ASSIGNOR
AGREES:

(1) To faithfully abide by, perform, and discharge every obligation, covenant,
and agreement of the Ground Lease Agreement to be performed by lessee; at the sole cost
and expense of Assignor, to enforce or secure the performance of every obligation,
covenant, condition, and agreement of the Ground Lease Agreement to be performed by
the lessor; not to modify, extend, or in any way alter the terms of the Ground Lease
Agreement without the prior written consent of Assignee. Assignor also agrees not to



waive or in any manner release or discharge the lessor thereunder of or from the
obligations, covenants, conditions and agreements to be performed by lessor.

Not to declare the Ground Lease Agreement terminated nor to exercise any other
right available to it upon breach by the lessor, without the prior written consent of Assignee.

At Assignor’s sole cost and expense, to appear in and defend any action or
proceedings arising under, growing out of or in any manner connected with the Ground
Lease Agreement or the obligations, duties or liabilities of lessor and lessee thereunder.

That should the Assignor fail to make any payment or to do any act as herein
provided, then Assignee, but without obligation so to do and without notice to or demand
on Assignor, and without releasing Assignor from any obligation hereof, may make or do
the same in such manner and to such extent as Assignee may deem necessary to protect the
security hereof, including specifically, without limiting its general powers, the right to
appear in and defend any action or proceeding purporting to affect the security hereof or
the rights or powers of Assignee, and also the right to perform and discharge each and
every obligation, covenant and agreement of Assignor contained in the Ground Lease
Agreement.

IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED THAT:

(1D Upon or any time after default by Assignor in the payment of any
indebtedness secured hereby or in the performance of any obligation, covenant or
agreement herein or in said Master Resolution, Assignee may declare all sums secured
hereby immediately due and payable, and may, at its option, without notice, either in person
or by agent with or without bringing any action or proceedings, or by a receiver to be
appointed by a court, enter upon, take possession of, manage and operate said demised
premises or any part thereof make, cancel, enforce, or modify leases; do any acts which
Assignee deems proper to protect the security hereof, and either with or without taking
possession of said property, in its own name sue for or otherwise collect and receive such
rents, issues and profits, including those past due and unpaid, and apply the same, less costs
and expenses of operation and collection including reasonable attorneys’ fees, upon any
indebtedness secured hereby, and in the order set forth in the Master Resolution. The
entering upon and taking possession of said property, the collection of such rents, issues,
and profits, and the application thereof as aforesaid shall not cure or waive any default or
waive, modify, or effect notice of default under any instrument secured hereby or invalidate
any act done pursuant to such notice. The remedies of the Assignee herein shall be subject
to the limitations set forth in Article X of the Master Resolution.

Any default by Assignor in the performance of any obligation, covenant, or
agreement herein contained and the acceleration of the indebtedness secured hereby shall
constitute and be deemed to be a default under the terms of the Master Resolution.

(2) Assignee shall not be obligated to perform or discharge, nor does it hereby
undertake to perform or discharge, any obligation, duty or liability under the Ground Lease
Agreement, or under or by reason of this Assignment.

4860-3421-2232, v. 2



(3) Until the indebtedness secured hereby shall have been paid in full, Assignor
covenants and agrees to transfer and assign to Assignee any and all subleases upon all or
any part of said demised premises upon the same or substantially the same terms and
conditions as are herein contained, and to make, execute and deliver to Assignee, upon
demand, any and all instruments that may be necessary therefor.

4) Upon the payment in full of all indebtedness secured hereby, this
Assignment shall become and be void and of no effect.

(5) This Assignment applies to, inures to the benefit of, and binds the parties
hereto, their successors, and assigns.

(6) All notices, demands, or documents of any kind which Assignee may be
required or may desire to serve upon Assignor hereunder, may be served by delivering the
same to Assignor personally or by leaving a copy of such notice, demand or document
addressed to Assignor at the address set forth in the beginning of this Assignment, or by
depositing a copy of such notice, demand or document in the United States mail, postage
prepaid, and addressed to Assignor at Assignor’s address.

(7) This Assignment of Ground Lease may be simultaneously executed in
several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute
but one and the same instrument.

(8)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no deficiency
judgment upon any foreclosure may be entered against the Assignor, of Tooele City, Utah,
the State of Utah, or any of its political subdivisions.

4860-3421-2232, v. 2



EXECUTED as of the day and year first above written.

MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY
OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH

(SEAL)

Chair

ATTEST:

Secretary

S-1
4860-3421-2232, v. 2



STATE OF UTAH PERMANENT
COMMUNITY IMPACT FUND BOARD

By:

Its: Fund Manager

S-2
4860-3421-2232, v. 2



CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT

Tooele City, Utah, lessor under the Ground Lease Agreement hereby consents to
the assignment by the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, of its interest in
the Ground Lease Agreement to the within mentioned Assignee to secure the within
described Master Resolution and Bonds.

Executed as of the day and year first above written.

TOOELE CITY, UTAH

(SEAL)
By:
Mayor
ATTEST:
By:
City Recorder
S-3

4860-3421-2232, v. 2



STATE OF UTAH )
L 88,
COUNTY OF TOOELE )

On this , 2023, before me, the undersigned notary, personally appeared
Debbie Winn and Michelle Pitt, the Chair and the Secretary, respectively, of the Municipal
Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah, who are personally known to me or who proved
to me their identities through documentary evidence to be the persons who signed the
preceding document in my presence and who swore or affirmed to me that their signatures
are voluntary.

NOTARY PUBLIC

S-4
4860-3421-2232, v. 2



STATE OF UTAH )
: ss.

COUNTY OF SALT LAKE )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this , 2023, by
Candace Powers, the Fund Manager of the State of Utah Permanent Community Impact

Fund Board.

Notary Public

(SEAL)

S-5
4860-3421-2232, v. 2



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF DEMISED PREMISES

A-1



TOOELE CITY CORPORATION
RESOLUTION 2023-94

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL APPROVING AN AGREEMENT
WITH BROKEN ARROW CONSTRUCTION FOR FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM
WORK AT THE PARKS AND CEMETERY BUILDING.

WHEREAS, Tooele City acquired a former medical office building and has
converted the building to be the Tooele City Parks & Recreation Department and
Cemetery offices, and the building needs a new fire suppression system on the first floor
and basement levels; and,

WHEREAS, the City bid the fire suppression system project pursuant to City
procurements policies (the project cost did not trigger state bidding requirements); and,

WHEREAS, Broken Arrow was the lowest responsive responsible bidder, with a
bid of $32,014.40 (see the bid results attached as Exhibit A); and,

WHEREAS, the City Administration recommends approving an agreement with
Broken Arrow for the fire suppression system project, at the price of $32,014.40 (see the
agreement attached as Exhibit B):

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL that
the Agreement (Exhibit B) with Broken Arrow Construction, for the Parks and Cemetery

building fire suppression system project, is hereby approved, in the amount of
$32,014.40.

This Resolution is in the best interest of the health, safety, and general welfare of
Tooele City and its residents and visitors, and shall become effective immediately upon
passage, without further publication, by authority of the Tooele City Charter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution is passed by the Tooele City Council this
day of , 2023.




TOOELE CITY COUNCIL

(For) (Against)
ABSTAINING:

MAYOR OF TOOELE CITY
(Approved) (Disapproved)
ATTEST:

Michelle Y. Pitt, City Recorder

SEAL

Approved as to Form:

Roger Evans Baker, City Attorney



Exhibit A

Bid Results



Parks & Recreation Office Fire Suppression Project, Bid Results

CONTRACTOR BID AMOUNT
State Fire $41,087.75
Broken Arrow $32,014.40

Blaze Master Fire Protection INC.

$32,550.80




Exhibit B

Agreement with
Broken Arrow Construction



%eﬂéh(iity |

Est, 1853

AGREEMENT

TOOELE CITY CORPORATION, a municipal corporation of the State of Utah, (hereinafter “City”),
and Broken Arrow Inc, of 8960 Clinton Landing Road Lakepoint, Utah 84074 , a(n) Corporation, {

(hereinafter “Contractor”) enter into this Agreement on the 1st day of November, 2023 (the “Effective

Date™).

Now, therefore, in consideration of the promises contained in this Agreement, the City and the
Contractor agree to the following:

1. Services (Scope of Work). The Contractor shall provide the following services to the City:

Installation of fire suppression for Parks and Cemetery offices (first floor and basement) located at

255 8. 1% East Tooele, UT 84074

Wet-pipe fire sprinkler system and a common manifold to provide coverage through out
all areas of the building shell.

Design drawings, and hydraulic calculations from NICET Level IV Designer.

Back Flow Prevention Assembly with conirol isolation valves

Fire department connection with check valve and automatic ball drip.

Water flow switch and electric bell

Sprinklers, escutchcons. Signs

Upright sprinkler protection above ceiling combustible space

Pendant Sprinklers protecting below ceiling on flexible drops (concealed sprinklers)
Fabrication, installation and testing

Permits, fees, documentation from Fire Marshall

- Contractor responsible for all disposal of all waste, and for maintaining a safe work site.

Exclusions:

Fire Alarm

Electrical connection (provided by owner)
Painting/bagging

Bonds

Special Inspections

Kitchen Hoods

Underground Fire line (already installed)
Fire Pump

Fire Extingnishers

2 Disclaimer of Right of Confrol. Contractor shall perform its duties competently. The City
disclaims any right to control the Contractor’s performance of the Services.

3. Compensation.
a. Rate. The City shall pay the Contractor the sum of $32,014.40 for fully performing the

Services, pursuant to invoice.



Total Cost Contract,  This Agreement is a “Total Cost Contract.” The contract Rate
includes all costs and expenses associated with the provision of the Services.

No Benefits. The parties specifically agree that as an independent contractor, Contractor
neither claims nor is entitled to benefits accorded City employees.

Term of Agreement, Contractor shall fully perform the Services by January 31, 2024,

Termination, The City may terminate this Agreement at any time. Should the City terminate this
Agreement prior to the Services being fully performed, the City shall pay for those Services
performed.

Indemnification and Insurance,

a.

Contractor Liability Insurance. Contractor shall obtain and maintain liability insurance in
the amount of at least $1,000,000. Contractor shall list the City as an additional insured on
endorsements issued under its liability insurance policy. Contractor shall require that all
of its subcontractors list the City as an additional insured on endorsements issued under
their respective liability insurance policies, with respect to the Services rendered under this
Agreement,

Contractor Indemnification. Contractor shall indemnify and hold the City and its agents
harmless from all claims of liability for injury or damage caused by any intentional or
negligent act or omission of Contracior and/or its agents and subcontractors arising out of
or related to this Agreement.

Contractor Workers’ Compensation Insurance. Contractor shall purchase and maintain
workers compensation insurance for all of its employees. In the alternative, assuming
eligibility, Contractor may obtain a Workers’ Compensation Coverage Waiver from the
Utah Labor Commission. Contractor shall verify that all its subcontractors have purchased
and do maintain workers compensation insurance for their employees or have obtained an
exclusion, and shall indemnify the City against claims resulting from a failure to obtain
and maintain the insurance.

Evidence of Contractor Insurance. Contractor shall provide written evidence of liability
insurance, including all Contractor and subcontractor endorsements, and workers
compensation insurance or exclusion to the City within ten (10) days of the Effective Date.
The City will not make any payments under this Agreement until it receives from
Contractor the evidence of insurance.

Status Verification Indemnification. Contractor shall indemnify and hold the City and its
agents harmiess from all claims resulting from any violation of immigration status
verification obligations contained in U.C.A. §63G-11-103 et seq.

Post-Retirement Release. Coniractor shall release the City from all claims related to any
alleged violation of State of Utah post-retirement employment rules, and shall complete
and return fo the City the attached certification and release.

Business License. If required by Tooele City Code §5-1-1 ef seq., Coniractor shall obtain a Tooele

City business license.

Complete Agreement, This Agreement is the only agreement or understanding between the parties,

and may be modified or amended only by a written document signed by both parties.

Waiver of Jury Trial, The Parties irrevocably waive any and all right to frial by jury in any legal
proceeding arising out of or relating to this contract and the transactions contemplated.



IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

TOOELE CITY CORPORATION CONTRACTOR
Debra E. Winn, Tooele City Mayor Signature

Print Name/Title:
Attest:

Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder

SEAL

Approved as to form:

Roger Evans Baker, Tooele City Attorney
(Revised 04/27/2023)



UTAH RETIREMENT SYSTEMS
City POST-EMPLOYMENT/POST-RETIREMENT

Tooele

Est, 1853

RESTRICTIONS ACT CERTIFICATION & RELEASE

Tooele City is a Utah Retirement System {URS) participating agency. As a participating agency, post-
retirement employment/vendor/contractor rules apply. Post-retirement employment means returning
to work either on our payroll or as a vendor/contractor for a URS participating employer following your
retirement date with the Utah Retirement Systems. Different standards apply depending on whether you
return 1o work within one year or after one year from your retirement date with URS.

You must separate from employment (including part-time and vendor/contractor arrangements) with any
participating employer for one year following your retirement date with URS, unless eligible exclusions

apply.

You are responsible for understanding post-retirement employment rules and ensuring there is no
violation of such rules by providing services to Tooele City Corporation. 1f you have any questions, call
the URS office at 801-366-7770 or 800-695-4877 before you begin any work for or provide any services
to Tooele City.

CHECK APPLICABLE BOX:

] Contractor (a sole proprietor) certifies that he or she is NOT a Utah State Retirement Systems
(URS) retiree and acknowledges that should he/she retire from the URS system in the future, he/she
assumes all responsibility for compliance with post-retirement reemployment restrictions, notifications,
and/or penalties that may occur at any time in the future.

O Contractor (on behalf of a partnership, LLC, company, or corporation} certifies that NO officer or
principal is a Utah State Retirement Systems (URS) retiree and acknowledges that should he/she retire
from the URS system in the future, he/she assumes all responsibility for compliance with post-retirement
reemployment restrictions, notifications, and/or penalties that may occur at any time in the future,

] Contractor certifies that following contractor(s), officer{s) or principal(s) of the business ARE Utah
State Retirement Systems (URS) retiree(s). Contractor further certifies that the URS office has been
properly notified of post-retirement reemployment of such individuals. Contractor assumes all
responsibility for compliance with post-retirement reemployment restrictions, notifications, and
or/penalties that may occur at any time in the future if found to be in violation. URS Retirees:

Name: Sacial Security Number:

Name: Sacial Security Number:
[State law requires that the City, through Human Resources, provide such information to URS.]

As a condition of doing business with Tooele City, you hereby accept responsibility and waive all claims of
joint liability against Tooele City for any violations of the URS post-retirement re-employment/
vendor/contractor rules.

Contractor Signature Date



TOOELE CITY CORPORATION
RESOLUTION 2023-95

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL APPROVING AN AGREEMENT
WITH SKM FOR SCADA SYSTEM INSTALLATION AT THE WATER RECLAMATION
FACILITY HEADWORKS BUILDING.

WHEREAS, the City owns and operates a water reclamation facility which includes
a headworks building; and,

WHEREAS, automated wireless wastewater flow monitoring is a critical aspect of
reclamation facility planning and operation; and,

WHEREAS, the Public Works Director recommends that a Supervisory Control and
Data Acquisition (SCADA) system be installed at the headworks building; and,

WHEREAS, SKM currently serves as the City’s consultant for the management and
operation of its SCADA systems; and,

WHEREAS, SKM has submitted a cost proposal of $59,889 for the headworks
building SCADA system installation (see scope of work, cost proposal, and agreement
attached as Exhibit A).

NOW, THEREFORE, BE ITRESOLVED BY THE TOOELE CITY COUNCIL thatthe
City Council hereby approves an agreement with SKM in the amount of $59,889 for
installation of a SCADA system at the water reclamation facility headworks building.

This Resolution shall become effective upon passage, without further publication,
by authority of the Tooele City Charter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution is passed by the Tooele City Council
this day of , 2023.




TOOELE CITY COUNCIL

(For) (Against)
ABSTAINING:

MAYOR OF TOOELE CITY
(Approved) (Disapproved)
ATTEST:

Michelle Y. Pitt, City Recorder

SEAL

Approved as to Form:

Roger Evans Baker, Tooele City Attorney



EXHIBIT A

Agreement



SAVE TIME - SAVE ENERGY - SAVE MONEY

533 W 2600 S, Suite 25, Bountiful, UT 84010
(801)677-0011 www.skmeng.com

Tooele WRF Headworks
September 27, 2023

System Integration Supplier Scope of Work

Revision 0

1. Scope Summary
This Scope of Work has been developed utilizing the contract documents:

SKM will supply labor, materials, and items described under the scope of services below meeting the
requirements in the above bid documents.

1.1.Assumptions, Exclusions and Exceptions
¢ Allinstallation Materials and Labor on the project site are to be performed and
provided by others. This includes instrument stands and mounting hardware.
e All Terminations are to be provided by others
e Loop testing will require the assistance of the electrician to verify the signals were
wired correctly and to perform any wiring modifications required due to the testing.
* Network Cabling (copper and fiber) are to be provided, installed, and tested by others
e We have not included any transportation costs for FAT testing. Panel FAT testing will
take place in North Salt Lake Utah, and our assumption is attendees will be from the
Salt Lake City area. We are assuming there will be one FAT test. We assume that the
FAT will take one half day.
® This bid does not include instruments, control panels, and LCP’s that are shown as
being supplied by vendors. The vendors will be responsible for the setup and
commissioning of these instruments. This bid does include SCADA integration of vendor
systems. We show the following to be provided by vendors:
* Influent Screens
=  Grit Chambers
* No spare parts have been provided.



2. Scope of Services
The Scope of Services has been divided into the following tasks (each task is further described below):

1. Task 1 —Control Panel Fabrication
2. Task 2 -System Integration
3. Task 3 —Testing, Commissioning, and Startup

2.1.Task 1 - Control Panel Fabrication
Fabricate below control panel based off the contract documents in accordance with UL
508. Provide panel submittals, FAT testing at the panel shop in North Salt Lake, provide
shop drawings upon delivery to site, and provide record drawings following receipt of
markups from the Contractor.

e PLC-HW2
o Allen Bradley CompactLogix 5069-L306ER
o 8 ptanaloginputs, 16 pt discrete inputs, 16 discrete outputs containing 25%
spare points for future expansion.
DC UPS system with redundant 24VDC power supplies.
o Ubiquiti Edge Router 12 network switch.

2.2.Task 2 - System Integration
In association with the design and installation of the new Headworks facility, provide System
Integration Services for the programming and commissioning of the Control System. Program
the process PLC. Program the SCADA software. Coordinate Factory Acceptance Testing.
Oversee the configuration and testing of the facility’s networks. Provide necessary
programming and coordination to fully integrate vendor supplied systems.

2.2.1. Subtask 2.1 - Task Management
This subtask includes the following:
¢ Manage the work to be performed for this task by the SKM project team. Verify
that system integration is being performed correctly and in a timely manner.
Oversee the QAQC process for the system integration.
e Manage communications with the Contractor
e Participate in client meetings as well as contractor construction meetings, as
required.

2.2.2. Subtask 2.2 - PLC Programming
This subtask includes the following:
e Based upon the City’'s programming standards and P&ID’s, program the PLC for
the project.
e Program communications required between the process PLC and vendor PLC's
for the project. Coordinate the communication setup and mapping with each
vendor.



2.2.3. Subtask 2.3 - SCADA Programming
This subtask includes the following:

Utilizing the City’s programming standards, P&ID’s, and PLC program, upgrade
the existing SCADA database and screens with these process modifications.
Obtain programming files from each vendor and develop the HMI database and
screens for these systems.

Test each database point and each screen for accuracy before implementation.
SCADA tags shall be set up to be historically archived in the historian also
following existing structure.

2.2.4. Subtask 2.4 - SCADA Network Setup
This subtask includes the following:

Work with the City’s IT department to make sure that all network components
are being set up according to the City’s requirements.

Give the Contractor IP addressing and network configuration information for
each network device being installed by the Contractor.

2.2.5. Subtask 2.5 - Factory Acceptance Testing
This subtask includes the following:

Prepare for the Factory Acceptance Testing (hereafter FAT) of the PLC panel as
well as the control system programming. Develop Software FAT documents to
be used during the testing.

Programming shall be completed prior to panel completion. Once the PLC
panels have been completed, schedule the FAT and invite the Engineer and
plant staff to attend.

Fill out the FAT forms. Simple problems that are found during the FAT will be
corrected immediately (wiring issues shall be resolved by the panel builder,
programming issues by SKM). If there are more complex problems that require
more time to correct, put these items on a deficiency list, make these
corrections and then provide notice to the City that the items have been
corrected and validated.

2.3.Task 3 - Commissioning and Startup of the Control System
Following a successful FAT, the PLC panel will be delivered to the Contractor for installation.
Once installed, it will be necessary to perform I/0 tests, loop tests and to startup and
commission the Control System.

2.3.1. Subtask 4.1 - Task Management
This subtask includes the following:

Manage the work to be performed for this task by the SKM project team. Verify
that the Commissioning and Startup is being performed correctly and in a timely
manner. Oversee the quality of the work and verify that all efforts are properly
documented, and scope is completed as required.



2.3,

2.3.3.

2.3.4.

e Participate in client meetings with the City as well as contractor construction
meetings, as required.

Subtask 4.2 - Network Commissioning
New networks will be brought online and connected to the existing SCADA and
buildings. This subtask includes the following:
¢ Coordinate and verify IP addressing for all networks, switches, and devices.
e Coordinate the connection of the existing SCADA network to the new network
equipment and cabling.

Subtask 4.4 - 1/0 and Loop Testing, HMI Validation
Based upon the as-built PLC panel drawings, loop drawings and FAT, the Contractor will
be responsible to install and terminate all field wiring and will be in charge of point-to-
point testing, I/O testing and ultimately loop testing with the System Integrator’s
support. This subtask includes the following:
e Following point-to-point tests and instrumentation commissioning/calibration
which is to be performed by the Contractor, participate in I/0 and Loop Testing.
Verify the proper display and control of each loop from the HMI.
e Validate with the Owner the programming of each HMI screen for approval.
Alarm functionality will be demonstrated as part of the loop tests. In addition,
verify that historical tags are properly being recorded and displayed.

Subtask 4.5 - Commissioning
Following successful 10 and Loop Testing, components of the Control System may be
started up and commissioned as required by the Contract Documents. This subtask
includes the following:
* The System Integrator shall be on site for commissioning activities as dictated by
the Contractor's schedule.
e Perform with the assistance of the Contractor point-to-point checks, loop
checks and HMI validation.
e Participate in wet testing of all process equipment and demonstrate overall PCS
functionality. Then perform testing with process fluids.

* Following commissioning, the System Integrator shall be available to provide
support if issues arise.



System Integration Supplier Pricing

This project will be performed on a Lump Sum Basis. Please issue a PO for this project in Acceptance of
this proposal and attached terms and conditions. Below is our price for the system as proposed above.

=
=}
=

@ 2 "

2 @ i g

c = - 3

5] 5 & o

= OB & 2 g

B s O £ k= £

i} 8 c &n = a.

ol &2 8 £ =

o i o < %3]

Hourly Rates: | 175.00 | 155.00 | 125.00 93.00
Tooele WRF HW
Task ID | Task Description | Hours | Total | | Price
Task #1 - Control Panel Fabrication
1.1 | Control Panel Fabrication 4 10 40 2 56 $19,639 $27,079
Task #1 - Totals 4 10 40 2] 56 $19.639 $27,079
Task #2 - System Integration
3.1 Task Management 8 2 10 $1,590.00
3.2 PLC Programming 30 30 $4,650.00
3.3 SCADA Programming 100 100 $15,500.00
3.4 SCADA Network Setup 4 4 $620.00
Factory Acceptance
3.5 Testing 8 2 10 $1,430.00
Task #2 - Totals 8 142 4 154 $23,790.00
Task #3 - Commissioning and Startup of the Control System
4.1 Task Management 8 2 10 $1,590.00
4.2 Network Commissioning 3 8 $1,240.00
4.4 I/0 and Loop Testing 20 20 $3,100.00
4.5 Commissioning 20 20 $3,100.00
Task #3 - Totals 8 48 2 58 $9,030.00
[ Total | 20 | 200 | 40 [ 8 [ 2e8] | $59,899.00 |

Please see attached articles of terms and conditions.



SKM Engineering, LLC
Articles of Terms and Conditions

L SCOPE

SKM Engineering, LLC (SKM) agrees to perform the services described in the
proposal attached hereto which incorporates these terms and conditions. Unless
modified in writing by the parties hereto, the duties of SKM shall not be construed
to exceed those services specifically set forth in the proposal. These terms and
conditions and the proposal, when executed by Client, shall constitute a binding
agreement on both parties (hereinafter the “Agreement’).

1L COMPENSATION

Client agrees to pay for the services in Article T in accordance with the
compensation provisions in the proposal. Payment to SKM will be made within 30
days after the date of billing. Interest on the unpaid balance will accrue beginning
on the 31st day at the maximum interest rate permitted by law.

Time-related charges will be made in accordance with the billing rate referenced in
the proposal or Agreement. Direct expenses and Subcontractor services shall be
billed in accordance with the proposal or compensation exhibit attached to this
Agreement. Otherwise, SKM’s standard billing rates shall apply.

1L RESPONSIBILITY

SKM is employed to render a professional service only, and any payments made by
Client are compensation solely for such services rendered and recommendations
made in carrying out the Work. SKM shall perform the services in accordance with
generally accepted engineering practices and standards in effect when the services
are rendered. SKM does not expressly or impliedly warrant or guarantee its
services.

In performing construction management services, SKM shall act as agent of Client.
SKM’s review or supervision of work prepared or performed by other individuals or
firms employed by Client shall not relieve those individuals or firms of complete
responsibility for the adequacy of their work.

The presence of SKM’s personnel at a construction site, whether as on-site
representative, resident engineer or construction manager, shall be for the sole
purpose of determining that the work is generally proceeding in conformance with
the intent of the project specifications and contract documents and does not
constitute any form of guarantee or assurance with respect to contractor’s
performance. SKM shall have no responsibility for the contractor’s means, methods,
techniques, sequences, for safety precautions and programs incident to the
contractor’s work, or for any failure of contractor to comply with laws and
regulations applicable to performing its work.

1V. INDEMNIFICATION

SKM agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Client harmless from and against any
liability to the extent arising out of the negligent acts, errors or omissions of SKM,
its agents, employees, or representatives, in the performance of duties under the
Agreement. Regardless of any other term of this Agreement, in no event shall SKM
be responsible or liable to the other for any incidental, consequential, or other
indirect damages.

V. ATTORNEYS’ FEES

In the event of any litigation arising from or related to this Agreement or the
services provided under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to
recover from the nonprevailing party all reasonable costs incurred, including staff
time, court costs, attorneys’ fees and all other related expenses in such litigation.

VI INSURANCE
SKM shall maintain during the life of the Agreement the following minimum
insurance:

1. Comprehensive general liability insurance, including personal injury
liability, blanket contractual liability, and broad form property damage
liability. The combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage
shall be not less than $1,000,000.

2. Automobile bodily injury and property damage liability insurance
covering owned, non-owned, rented, and hired cars. The combined single limit
for bodily injury and property damage shall be not less than $1,000,000

3. Statutory Worker’s compensation and employers® liability insurance as
required by state law.

4. Professional liability insurance with limits of not less than
$1,000,000.

VIIL SUBCONTRACTS
SKM shall be entitled, to the extent determined to be appropriate by SKM, to
subcontract any portion of the Work to be performed under this Agreement.

VIIL ASSIGNMENT

This Agreement is binding on the heirs, successors, and assigns of the parties
hereto. The Agreement is not to be assigned by either Client or SKM without the
prior written consent of the other.

IX. INTEGRATION

These terms and conditions and the proposal to which they are attached represent
the entire understanding of Client and SKM as to those matters contained herein. No
prior oral or written understanding shall be of any force or effect with respect to
those matters covered herein. The Agreement may not be modified or altered except
In writing signed by both parties, provided further that any terms and conditions in
any Task Order or purchase order issued in connection or under the Agreement
which are inconsistent with the Agreement are deemed null and void.

X. CHOICE OF LAW/JURISDICTION

This Agreement shall be administered and interpreted under the laws of
the state in which the SKM office responsible for the project is located.
Jurisdiction of litigation arising from the Agreement shall be in that state.

XL SEVERABILITY

Ifany part of the Agreement is found unenforceable under applicable laws, such part
shall be inoperative, null and void insofar as it is in conflict with said laws, but the
remainder of the Agreement shall be in full force and effect.

XIL NO BENEFIT FOR THIRD PARTIES

The services to be performed by SKM hereunder are intended solely for the benefit
of Client, and no right or benefit is conferred on, nor any contractual relationship
intended or established with any person or entity not a party to this Agreement No
such person or entity shall be entitled to rely on SKM’s performance of its services
hereunder.

XIIL WORK PRODUCT

SKM and Client recognize that SKM’s work product submitted in performance of
this Agreement is intended only for the Client’s benefit and use. Change, alteration,
or reuse on another project by Client shall be at Clients sole risk, and Client shall
hold harmless and indemnify SKM against all losses, damages, costs and expense,
including attorneys” fees, arising out of or related to any such unauthorized change,
alteration or reuse.

Any signed, stamped and dated Construction Documents prepared by the Consultant
are the Work Product. CADD files are furnished for convemence only. The transfer
of the CADD files for use by the Client shall not be deemed a sale and the
Consultant makes no warranty, either express or implied, of merchantability or
fitness for any particular purpose.

XIV. SUSPENSION OF WORK

Work under this Agreement may be suspended as follows:

1. BY Client. By written notice to SKM, Client may suspend all or a portion of
the Worl under this Agreement if unforeseen circumstances beyond Client’s
control make normal progress of the Work impracticable. SKM shall be
compensated for its reasonable expenses resulting from such suspension
including mobilization and de-mobilization. If suspension is greater than 30
days, then SKM shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in accordance
with Article XIV, Termination of Work.

2. By SKM. By written notice to Client, SKM may suspend the Work if SKM
reasonably determines that working conditions ‘at the Site (outside SKM’s
control) are unsafe, or in violation of applicable laws, or for other
circumstances not caused by SKM that are interfering with the normal progress
of the Work. SKM’s suspension of Work hereunder shall be without prejudice
to any other remedy of SKM at law or equity.

XV, TERMINATION OF WORK

This Agreement may be terminated as follows

1. Client (a) for its convenience on 30 days’ notice to SKM, or (b) for materially
breaches this Agreement through no fault of Client and SKM neither cures
such material breach nor makes reasonable progress toward cure within 15
days after Client has given written notice of the alleged breach to SKM.

2. BvSKM (a) for cause, if Client materially breaches this Agreement through no
fault of SKM and Client neither cures such material breach nor makes
reasonable progress toward cure within 15 days after SKM has given written
notice of the alleged breach to Client, or (b) upon five days’ notice if Work
under this Agreement has been suspended by either Client or SKM in the
aggregate for more than 30 days.

3. Pavment upon Termination, In the event of termination, SKM shall perform
such additional work as is reasonably necessary for the
orderly closing of the Work. SKM shall be compensated for all work
performed prior to the effective date of termination, plus work required for the
orderly closing of the Work. Except for termination of SKM by Client for
cause, SKM shall also receive a termination fee equal to 15 percent of the total
compensation yet to be earned under existing authorizations at the time of
termination.

XVL NOTICES

All notices required under this Agreement shall be by personal delivery, facsimile or
mail to the SKM Project Manager and to the person signing the proposal on behalf
of the Client, and shall be effective upon delivery to the addressed stated in the
proposal.



TOOELE CITY CORPORATION 10/26/23
FISCAL NOTE TO PROPOSED EXPENDITURE
DESCRIPTION OF EXPENDITURE: VENDOR: BROKEN ARROW Vi 00093
2023 ROAD SALT
ACCOUNT CURRENT RECEIPTS | ADDITIONAL TOTAL
REVENUE LINE ITEM: NUMBER BUDGET TO DATE FUNDING FUNDING
0.00
ACCOUNT ADJUSTED Y. T.D. PROPOSED | BUDGET
EXPENDITURE LINE ITEM NUMBER BUDGET EXPENSES EXPENSE BALANCE
MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT FIRE 110 4411 482002 55,000.00 0.00 55,000.00 0.00
TOTAL: 65,000.00.

oo XA S0l O ang 0L

DEPARTMENT HEAD

REVlelﬁ%(\OLW\@ﬂ\ \ \\\’X O

" FINANCE DIRECTOR

APPROVED

APPROVED

MAYOR

COUNCIL CHAIRMAN




REQUEST FOR PURCHASE ORDER
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT

TOOE[B CZ pivision: P

Est 1853

Vendor: ?]yw 0 Kyvien) Vendor #: 00025
Account # \0- YL 49 L0072 Date: \D\‘?/LQ\ 1%
Amount: $ LQ6} b Signature: %ﬁm‘ xm{’”?%

Item(s) Description: 2,0'2’73 KDM S‘;&\\ir’

Reason for Purchase; (%\ ﬂlY\\LP--E" D Ao WL S WAN %{’QE‘},G\(\ l hm\dm\{
Ve e (e ) $22.00
v UROA D Ao %750

Approval:

Signature PO#:

WHEN APPROYED PLEASE FORWARD THE APPROVAL TO:

Lb( wltzs e e =bo YAV hg\
NOTES: MtV \-\ b (ounci ] ﬂ“\/ L e

90 North Main Street | Teoele, Utah 84074
Ph: 435-843-2130 | www.tooelecity.org



August 31, 2023

Public Works Department
TOOQELE CITY

90 NORTH MAIN STREET
TOOELE UT 84074

RE: R{:_ad Sal

Attt Purchasing Manager

Dear Sir or Madarm:

Broken Arrow Inc. is s major supplier of road salt (deicing} in the Salt Lake and Utah area.

it s our understanding that you have requirements for this material during the winter months.
Our road salt meets all of the specifications required by the state of Utah and PNS. Therefore
we wish 10 submit a price for Type € Salt per ton delivered.

Price per ton delivared for Type Cwill be: $22.00
Price per ton dellvered for Rapid Thaw will be: $32.00

Wae appreciate you reviewing our bid and should you have any questions please contact Tracy
Petarson (435) 882-3542,

Thank vou
Jared Bunn
Broken Arrow



Tooe[e C lty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Tooele City Council and the Tooele City Redevelopment Agency
Work Meeting Minutes

Date: Wednesday, October 18, 2023

Time: 5:30 p.m.

Place: Tooele City Hall, Council Chambers
90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah

City Council Members Present:
Maresa Manzione

David McCall

Ed Hansen

Tony Graf

Justin Brady

City Employees Present:

Mayor Debbie Winn

Adrian Day, Police Department Chief

Michelle Pitt, City Recorder

Roger Baker, City Attorney

Jared Stewart, Economic Development Director
Andrew Aagard, Community Development Director
Darwin Cook, Parks and Recreation Director
Paul Hansen, City Engineer

Shannon Wimmer, Finance Director

Jamie Grandpre, Public Works Director

Minutes prepared by Katherin Yei

1. Open City Council Meeting
Chairman Brady called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.

2. Roll Call

Maresa Manzione, Present
David McCall, Present
Tony Graf, Present

Ed Hansen, Present

Justin Brady, Present

3. Mayor’s Report

Mayor Winn reported on the following:

The Mayor attended an essay contest for youth who had written about the first amendment. The
Mayor has invited those youth to present those at a later time for the City Council. Last Saturday,
the fire department staff held a ground breaking for fire station #3.

Page | 1



Tooe[e C lty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

4. Council Member’s Report
The Council Members reported on the events they attended during the week.

5. Discussion ltems

A. J. Fisher Companies Presentation on Missing-Middle Housing Opportunities
Presented by Roger Baker, City Attorney, and J. Fisher Companies

Mr. Baker introduced the concept of missing-middle housing. There are 20-acres of undeveloped
land on Rogers Street that the Council may consider for a residential development project. Mr.
Baker introduced J. Fisher Companies.

Mr. Jake Wood is a partner with J. Fisher Companies. The company creates housing that varies
from single-family to multi-housing homes. They have public-private partnerships creating
affordable housing.

The City Council asked the following questions:

How are they able to up keep the properties?

How does the company mange and navigate a high interest?

How does the company manage the design standards within the Cities?

How long are you keeping tenants?

How does the company handle the selection process?

When the projects are built, do you see a decrease the value in surrounding properties?
What would the City’s investment be into this project?

Is 20-acre average size for these projects?

Mr. Wood addressed the Council’s questions. The company would like to keep their investment
beautiful. They have a mission driven component, but they are a for-profit company. They will
be able to attract high quality clients in an affordable unit. As a company they put capital away
for improvements. When they look at the high interest today, there is a high impact. It affects the
cash-flow and narrowing power. The company has propriety relationships with companies and
companies to help close the gap on the interest. The company receives a weekly on-site report
with a 100% fill rate and a waiting list. J. Fisher tends to put amenities to create an ecosystem
that is beneficial to the company and the community. They want to build to a high quality and
standard. They work with architects that are mindful of the big picture. The company does
follow fair housing guidelines, income threshold for maximum and minimum, and criminal
background. For the company personally, they see an increase in value. They hope this helps the
housing market. Collaboration is great to create these projects. They want the benefit out way the
contribution. 20-acres allows the opportunity for different housing types and be a multi-phase
project.

Mr. Baker addressed the Council. That investment would be a mix of contributions from all

parties involved. It would be what the Council felt was appropriate. The Residential Special
District has been enacted by the City that allows for a unique project. Traditional zoning is

Page | 2



Tooe[e C lty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

designed to isolate and separate uses. When being able to include a mix of income and housing
types, you create great projects and communities.

B. West Utah Avenue Easement Vacation
Presented by Paul Hansen, City Engineer

Mr. Hansen presented the request from the applicant of a vacation of right-of-way

located between 1100 West and U.P.R.R. This is not just a vacation of the easement. Staff is
recommending to vacate the right-of-way from approximately 120-feet to 84-feet while retaining
any property vacated for utilities and the easement for flooding and drainage. This will allow
two-lanes of travel and a center lane median.

The City Council would like to see this move forward.

C. Landmark Site Designation Process for the Preservation of Significant Historic
Properties
Presented by Jared Stewart, Economic Development Director

Mr. Stewart presented a landmark site designation for the preservation of significant historic
properties. There are properties within the City that are unique and have historical significance.
Staff did look at other Cities as they put together the proposal. There is a table of qualifications
that properties have to meet in order to be considered. The Planning Commission will have
authority to approve these preservations. Once a site is a land mark, it cannot be demolished
unless for a safety risk or hazard.

The City Council asked the following questions:
Are a majority of the properties on Main Street?
Can the inside use of the buildings still change?

Mr. Stewart addressed the Council. A majority of the properties would be on Main Street. This
primarily relates to the exterior of the building.

The City Council does like the idea of Planning Commission handling these items.

D. Ordinance 2023-41 An Ordinance of Tooele City Amending Tooele City Code Section
10-3-30 Regarding the Removal of Illegally Parked Cars

Presented by Police Chief Adrian Day

Chief Day presented an amendment to the removal of illegally parked cars. This does make
registered owners responsible. This defines what danger and obstruction is, giving police
authority to remove those vehicles. This item was discussed during the work meeting.

The City Council asked the following questions:
In the winter time, can the officers have vehicles towed?

Page | 3



Tooe[e C lty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Chief Day addressed the Council. Officers can site vehicles that are on the streets. It is a safety
issue for having any illegally parked vehicles on the road. It is under interpretation of the
officers.

E. Resolution 2023-91 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Amending the Tooele City
Fee Schedule to Add a Bulk Culinary Water Fee for Limited Commercial Construction
Presented by Jamie Grandpre, Public Works Director

Mr. Grandpre presented a resolution to amend the fee schedule to add a bulk culinary water fee.
This is in regards to commercial construction. The policy does address the high quantity versus
low. It is metered water with a deposit of $1500 and a daily rental amount of $75 per day. The
water usage cost is $6 per 1000 gallons of bulk water. This is a limited basis for commercial
construction companies.

The City Council asked the following questions:
How much does it cost to truck the water in for projects?

Mr. Grandpre addressed the Council. There is a max of gallons per day and max meter rental.
Contractors say it can cost $50,000-$60,000 per day.

Mr. Baker addressed the Council. Staff has worked hard to draft a policy that will limit the
culinary water use but steer the use towards businesses that are providing assets to the
community.

6. Closed Meeting - Litigation, Property Acquisition, and/or Personnel
There is no closed meeting.

7. Adjourn
Chairman Brady adjourned the meeting at 6:56 p.m.

The content of the minutes is not intended, nor are they submitted, as a verbatim transcription of
the meeting. These minutes are a brief overview of what occurred at the meeting.

Approved this day of November, 2023

Justin Brady, City Council Chair

Page | 4



Tooe[e C lty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Tooele City Council Business Meeting Minutes

Date: Wednesday, October 18, 2023

Time: 7:00 p.m.

Place: Tooele City Hall, Council Chambers
90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah

City Council Members Present:
Ed Hansen

Maresa Manzione

Tony Graf

Dave MccCall

Justin Brady

City Employees Present:

Mayor Debbie Winn

Adrian Day, Police Department Chief

Michelle Pitt, City Recorder

Roger Baker, City Attorney

Jared Stewart, Economic Development Director
Andrew Aagard, Community Development Director
Darwin Cook, Parks and Recreation Director
Paul Hansen, City Engineer

Shannon Wimmer, Finance Director

Jamie Grandpre, Public Works Director

Chase Randall, Library Director

Minutes prepared by Katherin Yei
Chairman Brady called the meeting to order at 7:08 p.m.

1. Pledge of Allegiance
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Council Member Brady.

2. Roll Call

Tony Graf, Present

Ed Hansen, Present
Maresa Manzione, Present
Dave McCall, Present
Justin Brady, Present

3. Mayor’s Golf Tournament Youth Recreation Grant Awards
Mayor Winn presented the Mayor’s Golf tournament youth recreation grant awards to the
following:

Page | 1



Tooe[e C lty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Tooele County Crushers, TC United Soccer, Tooele County Education Foundation, Tooele
Valley Academy of Dance, Tooele Bit and Spur Riding Association, Boys and Girls Club of
Tooele, Tooele Valley Theater, Tooele Junior High PTSA, Tooele Youth Baseball, Tooele Scout
Unit 314, and Tooele Valley Composite Mountain Bike Team.

The tournament funds also support three leadership scholarships through the Tooele Education
Foundation and also supports the Junior Golf Program at Oquirrh Hills Golf Course.

Mayor Winn thanked the many business that give back to the community.
4. Public Comment Period

Zell McAllister, Amy Motta, and Kory Sagnorth spoke on the needs of the Tooele City Animal
Shelter.

5. Public Hearing and Motion on Ordinance 2023-37 An Ordinance of Tooele City
Adopting the Downtown Element to the Tooele City General Plan
Presented by Jared Stewart, Economic Development Director

Mr. Stewart presented the Tooele City Downtown Element. Staff has had a lot of public input in
putting together the plan, including workshops and over 600 survey responses

Jake Young, a consultant on the plan with CitiDesign, presented the Downtown Plan’s vision and
goals including the action items.

The Council asked how many activities were held in the last year.

Mr. Stewart addressed the Council. He is unsure of the total amount of events so far. The
downtown alliance has a goal to have an event on the second Saturday of every month.

The public hearing was opened.

Tyson Hamilton, Chair to the Downtown Alliance, spoke on the events coming to the downtown
area. The downtown alliance has become a community as they work to make beneficial plans for
the City.

Stephanie Bathell spoke on her excitement of the plan and Main Street.

The public hearing was closed.

Council Member McCall motioned to approve Ordinance 2023-37; An Ordinance of Tooele
City Adopting the Downtown Element to the Tooele City General Plan. Council Member
Graf seconded the motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council

Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and
Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

Page | 2



Tooe[e C 1ty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

6. Public Hearing and Motion on Ordinance 2023-42; An Ordinance of Tooele City to
Amend Tooele City Code 7-14, Table 5, Regarding Lot Sizes within the In-Fill Area Overly
Zone, Amendments Proposed by Robert Jalbert

Presented by Andrew Aagard, Community Development Director

Mr. Aagard presented an amendment to Tooele City Code in regards to the in-fill overlay zones
regarding minimum lot sizes. In-fill overlay encompasses two areas in the downtown area,
typically in the older section of town. Reductions include building setbacks, total lot coverage,
water rights, and lots sizes. It is there to encourage development on older lots that have
infrastructure. The applicant would like to subdivide the lot he owns in section B. He would not
be creating a unique situation for this area, but would match many of the surrounding properties.
He is proposing language be added to City Code 7-14, Table 5. The Planning Commission did
have a public hearing and forwarded a positive recommendation with a condition limiting it to
minor subdivisions.

Mr. Baker addressed the Council. The current code does state the minor subdivision is 10 or
fewer lots, but administrative staff are preparing a proposed amendment to reduce this to 6 lots.
The Council should be clear in the conditions about recommendation of how many lots they
would like included, up to 6 or up to 10.

The public hearing was opened. No one came forward. The public hearing was closed.

Council Member Graf motioned to approve Ordinance 2023-42; An Ordinance of Tooele
City to Amend Tooele City Code 7-14, Table 5, Regarding Lot Sizes within the In-Fill Area
Overly Zone, including it applied to minor subdivision of six units or less. Council Member
McCall seconded the motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council
Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and
Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

7. Preliminary Subdivision Plan Request for One O-Clock Hill by SJ Company to
Subdivide 178 Acres Located at Approximately SR-36 (Main Street) and Settlement
Canyon Road in the R1-7 Residential Zoning District

Presented by Andrew Aagard, Community Development Director

Mr. Aagard presented the preliminary subdivision plan for the property located near SR-36 and
Settlement Canyon Road. It is zoned R1-7. The application proposes to subdivide it into 134
single family lots. There are four accesses proposed. This subdivision provided numerous studies
for the property. The property can be developed if the follow the recommendations of the
studies. Rocky Mountain Power distribution lines run across the property. Rocky Mountain
Power will relocate those power lines. There will be a trail system including conditions during
each step of the process.

The City Council asked the following:

Are the power lines going to be moved on the trail?
Is there a fence along SR-36?

Page | 3



Tooe[e C 1ty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Mr. Aagard addressed the Council. From his understanding, the trail is gravel. Power lines will
just be moved to existing power poles. There will be a six-foot wall separating the subdivision
and SR-36.

The applicant addressed the Council. All the studies suggested to not hinder the hill side so they
decided to do gravel trail.

Council Member Manzione motioned to approve Preliminary Subdivision Plan Request for
One O-Clock Hill by SJ Company to Subdivide 178 Acres Located at Approximately SR-36
(Main Street) and Settlement Canyon Road in the R1-7 Residential Zoning District
including the conditions listed. Council Member Hansen seconded the motion. The vote was as
follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member
Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The
motion passed.

8. Resolution 2023-90; A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Consenting to Mayor
Winn’s Appointments of Eric Niven, Crystal Larmore, and Julie Brough to the Library
Board of Directors

Presented by Chase Randall, Library Director

Mr. Randall presented stats for the library. As well as the appointment of Eric Niven. Crystal
Larmore, and Julie Brough to the Library Board of Directors. There are still two vacant spots on
the board.

Council Member Graf motioned to approve Resolution 2023-90; A Resolution of the Tooele
City Council Consenting to Mayor Winn’s Appointments of Eric Niven, Crystal Larmore,
and Julie Brough to the Library Board of Directors. Council Member Manzione seconded
the motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf,
“Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council
Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

9. Resolution 2023-91 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Amending the Tooele City
Fee Schedule to Add a Bulk Culinary Water Fee for Limited Commercial Construction
Presented by Jamie Grandpre, Public Works Director

Mr. Grandpre presented an amendment to the Tooele City fee Schedule to add a bulk culinary
water fee for limited commercial construction. The requested fee is $1500 for fire hydrant
deposit, and $6 per 1000 gallons. This was discussed during the City Council Work meeting.

Council Member Hansen motioned to approve Resolution 2023-91 A Resolution of the
Tooele City Council Amending the Tooele City Fee Schedule to Add a Bulk Culinary
Water Fee for Limited Commercial Construction. Council Member McCall seconded the
motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf,

Page | 4



Tooe[e C 1ty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

“Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council
Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

10. Resolution 2023-89 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Approving a Contract with
Black & McDonald for Work on City-Owned Street Lights
Presented by Jamie Grandpre, Public Works Director

Mr. Grandpre presented a contract with Black & McDonald for work on City owned Street
lights. This original contract was written in 2016 and renewed in 2020 for three years. The
contract is written to have repair basic maintenance within two days and other issues within 10
days. Staff would like residents to self-report if street lights go out. They can do this by calling
the public works department or going to the City website. The cost is $5000 a month for basic
maintenance.

Council Member McCall motioned to approve Resolution 2023-89; A Resolution of the
Tooele City Council Approving a Contract with Black & McDonald for Work on City-
Owned Street Lights. Council Member Hansen seconded the motion. The vote was as follows:
Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member Manzione,
“Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion
passed.

11. Ordinance 2023-41 An Ordinance of Tooele City Amending Tooele City Code Section
10-3-30 Regarding the Removal of lllegally Parked Cars
Presented by Adrian Day, Police Chief

Chief Day presented an amendment to the removal of illegally parked cars. This does make
registered owners responsible. This defines what danger and obstruction is, giving police
authority to remove those vehicles. This item was discussed during the work meeting.

Council Member Manzione motioned to approve Ordinance 2023-41; An Ordinance of
Tooele City Amending Tooele City Code Section 10-3-30 Regarding the Removal of
Illegally Parked Cars. Council Member McCall seconded the motion. The vote was as follows:
Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member Manzione,
“Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion
passed.

12. Resolution 2023-87 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Authorizing Payment of a
Fee-in-Lieu of Water Rights Conveyance for the Peterson Industrial Depot’s Development
of Central States Manufacturing

Presented by Jared Stewart, Economic Development Director

Mr. Stewart presented a payment fee-in-lieu of water right conveyance for the development for
Central States Manufacturing. They are requesting 2.65 acre/feet of water for construction on 10-
acre property. The estimated new taxable property value will be $5.6 million. The company will
employ over 100 people.

Page | 5



Tooe[e C 1ty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Council Member McCall motioned to approve Resolution 2023-87; A Resolution of the
Tooele City Council Authorizing Payment of a Fee-in-Lieu of Water Rights Conveyance for
the Peterson Industrial Depot’s Development of Central States Manufacturing. Council
Member Hansen seconded the motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen,
“Aye,” Council Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member
McCall, “Aye,” and Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

13. Resolution 2023-88 A Resolution of the Tooele City Council Authorizing Payment of a
Fee-in-Lieu of Water Rights Conveyance for the Peterson Industrial Depot’s Development
of an Indoor Pickleball Facility (“The Kitchen”)

Presented by Jared Stewart, Economic Development Director

Mr. Stewart presented a payment of a fee-in-lieu of water rights conveyance for the Peterson
Industrial Depot’s development of an indoor pickleball facility. They are requesting 1.17-acre
feet of water including the construction of 6 pickle ball courts. The new facility will result in new
taxable property value of $3.9 million.

Council Member Manzione motioned to approve Resolution 2023-88 A Resolution of the
Tooele City Council Authorizing Payment of a Fee-in-Lieu of Water Rights Conveyance for
the Peterson Industrial Depot’s Development of an Indoor Pickleball Facility (“The
Kitchen”). Council Member Hansen seconded the motion. The vote was as follows: Council
Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf, “Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,”
Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

14. Invoices & Purchase Orders
Ms. Pitt presented the following invoices:

Motorola Solutions for hand held, vehicle, and station radios for the Fire Department in the
amount of $31,157.29

Council Member Graf motioned to approve the invoices. Council Member Hansen seconded
the motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf,
“Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council
Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

15. Minutes
There are no changes to the minutes

Council Member Hansen motioned to approve Minutes. Council Member McCall seconded
the motion. The vote was as follows: Council Member Hansen, “Aye,” Council Member Graf,

“Aye,” Council Member Manzione, “Aye,” Council Member McCall, “Aye,” and Council
Member Brady, “Aye.” The motion passed.

16. Adjourn

Page | 6



q/_;)\o 0 [e Clty Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

Chairman Brady adjourned the meeting at 8:40pm.

The content of the minutes is not intended, nor are they submitted, as a verbatim transcription of
the meeting. These minutes are a brief overview of what occurred at the meeting.

Approved this __ day of November, 2023

Justin Brady, City Council Chair

Page | 7



	CC Agenda
	2023-92 Water Rights Fee-in-lieu Policy Amendment
	2023-92 Water Rights Fee-in-lieu Policy Amendment
	2023-92 Exhibit A - Water Rights Policy

	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire
	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire 1
	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire 2
	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire 3
	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire 4
	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire 5
	2023-93 Resolution Bond for Fire 6

	2023-94 Parks Building Fire Suppression - Broken Arrow
	2023-94 Parks Building Fire Suppression - Broken Arrow
	2023-94 Exhibit A - Bid Results
	2023-94 Exhibit B Agreement

	2023-95 SKM SCADA Headworks Building
	2023-95 SKM SCADA Headworks Building
	2023-95 Exhibit A - SKM Agreement

	Invoice Broken Arrow
	WorkMeeting 10-18-23
	Business Meeting 10-18-23

